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Financial Highlights MBRE

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-AF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Revenue = - 3,854,058 4,241,040
Gross profit E A 2,442,407 2,745,410
Gross profit margin EFI = 63.4% 64.7%
Operating profit =BT 902,792 1,728,811
EBITDA margin EBITDAX 43.4% 47.0%
EBIT margin EBIT 23.4% 40.8%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HE R MIGHEER (G E %58
b= 8.2% 8.4%
Administrative expenses to sales THERGEEGEL X 21.3% 20.5%
Profit for the year KEEZHF 668,439 1,373,741
Adjusted profit for the year* HBRZRNFERAMN* 1,163,937 1,373,741
Profit attributable to the equity holders of RAGIERTB ARGET
the Company 418,399 1,112,004
Ajusted profit attributable to the equity ARG ZADNRERSERA
holders of the Company* TE(§ B F~ 913,897 1,112,004
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) GMRERREFHAT (AREH) 13.46 35.78
Adjusted basic and diluted earnings AERZGRERLREERT
per share (RMB cents)” (ANREED) 29.41 35.78
Final dividend per share (HK cents) FREEARME OB) 9.0 10.0
Total dividend per share for the year (HK cents)  EE GRS GBIl 15.0 18.8
Dividend payout ratio for the year FEIREE 43.8% 47.3%
Net cash generated from operating activities EEESELE RS TR 1,455,231 1,559,583
Net cash* FIE e 3,627,366 2,723,298
Total equity B 13,694,249 13,599,473
Debt ratio* B &t & 22.8% 25.4%
Current ratio (times) BN & (1) 4.6 4.9
Liquidity ratio (times) R K (FF) 4.2 4.4
Inventory turnover (days) FERAEX(AH) 228 220
Trade receivables turnover (days) FERER A (H) 91 88
Trade payables turnover (days) FERERFESE X () 73 77

* Excluding impairment of goodwill of RMB495,498,000 for the year — ~ Wb #E F2020F 1231 H 1F FEZ B EBEA

ended 31 December 2020. R #495,498,0007T °

* “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash ~ * DFRE SR HEHFZLIME 2 REZ
equivalents” minus “Borrowings”. EEYIREH] -

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-current  * [BEHF]|ERTEEN (B CZTELEIFTE
borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling BH)IGU#B#m (TSI Es M #w)] -
interests)”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), consisting of flavours and fragrances segment, aroma raw
materials segment, tobacco raw materials segment, and condiments
segment, is mainly engaged in the R&D, production, distribution and
sales of flavours and fragrances, aroma raw materials, tobacco raw
materials, as well as condiments. The Group also makes diversified
investments around its core businesses. It is an industrial holdings
group based on China’s taste-based consumer goods market.

SEfEMTREEL

SE™EN

EERRERERARRMEBLRR ([AEE])
TRABRRE FRARE - ER R R
ERAKmRE TEREFR BEH EZ
ARAMBARBOTE - EEMFEE  LE
BRZUEXBETZTIERE  B—RER
TERERHEEMTSNERERER -
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including “Huabao
Flavours” on the A-Shares platform, “Hedon”, “Huabao”, "H&K",
“Tianhong”, “"Huafang”, "Owada”, “Amber” and so on. The Group
has internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as Shanghai,
Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong and
Botswana, etc., has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany, a
state-level enterprise technology centre in Shanghai, and R&D
departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. Member(s) of the
Group takes on leadership roles in a number of industry associations
which are relevant to flavours and fragrances business, including the
Vice Chairman of China Food Additives & Ingredients Association,
Deputy Director of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and
Cosmetic Industries, Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, and Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive
& Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s tobacco raw
materials field, where its production capacity and sales revenue
account for a significant market share and its production technology
and product quality have taken the leading position at domestic
level and reached advanced international level. Guangdong Jinye,
a subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D bases authorised
by the STMA. In November 2012, Guangdong Jinye completed its
second phase of RTL production line and, as being accepted by
STMA, put into production. The production line became the first
landmark of paper-making RTL production line certified by the
STMA. Its production technology has been recognised by the STMA
to have reached the highest technology level in terms of domestic
paper-making RTL production, while its major technical parameters
have also reached advanced international level. In 2016, the “Key
Laboratory for RTL Technology Research in Tobacco Industry”, which
was jointly founded by Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco,
was recognised as the sole key laboratory in the RTL field in China. In
terms of new materials, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co.,
Ltd. has developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which
is represented by flavour capsule and core line. The bases of Jiangxi
Huabao Xinhui Technology Co., Ltd., which were newly established
in 2017, as well as Yunnan Dianhua Benxiang Technology Co.,
Ltd. which was established by joint venture with Yunnan Tobacco
New Materials in 2018, became two cigarette capsule business
bases. Both of the bases expanded the Group’s cigarette capsule
production capacity.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s aroma
raw materials field. The principal products include many natural
aroma and synthetic aroma products. Its production capacity and
sales revenue account for a significant market share in the industry,
and its production technology and product quality have reached
the leading domestic and international level. In 2017, the Group
successfully acquired Jiangxi Xianghai. The acquisition played a
positive role in the establishment and layout of the Group’s aroma
raw materials segment. The Group, by virtue of its own industry
advantages of the leading position and strong scientific research
strength, plans to build a leading aroma raw materials production
base in Asia and even the world.

In 2018, the Group made strategic adjustments to its business.
Through the acquisition of Jiahao, the Group entered into the
compound condiment market that is of great growth room, and
also further completed the Group’s business structure and sources
of income. At present, the Group has successfully established an
industry chain with full coverage from raw materials, processing,
to consumption, which brings the Group’s competitive strength
in taste-based fast-moving products industry to a new level. The
Group will also combine its industry expertise and integration
capability with the social capital, through the multi-capital platforms,
multi-collaboration channels, as well as multi-investment collaboration
models, to create more value for the shareholders.

SEBEMTREEL

AEEERTEERABHNELEEZ —
IZEMBREZBRABTHAMAAERN - &
EERIMEERETENEEEEM SN
HOAETENEMEENEIBEAIINEL
KF o —B—+F FERNKBIAESE
BAEBEBRRBMRBOEZIMNMGRHES TIE
BEOER - AEEKEEBFETRALDN
WHUEBMERNOMAESD  FTEMNDE
ERELENERBEERM

“E-NF AREYEHETERRERE -
FEWERS AEEEARBERERZT
BNEAEAKRMmME - P ZEREXK
R RBRRAIEEZWARIR - BRI A
SERIERT IR T BE] — 81t
MEEXHEBEE ERBRHERT SR
FENE- SRR AKEREERELE

e ZAERE MZERESEELA
REMMEFNE EEE N EL@ERG
& RIRRAIEEAEE-
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture SEENMREZEL

SPIRIT
15

Innovative, pragmatic,

Leader to a better life g o v loyal and cooperative
RUFETESIRE s v . . BIFT - BB - B WE
3 . }
._. t
i F

a e . >4 .. CORE VALUES
e OF G OB ER

— e 2y Client first, value creation and
< R shared achievements

B\ ; BFEL - WA £THR

Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and develop into the world’s leading
taste-based consumer product industrial holdings group

Consolidate the existing market of flavours and fragrances and explore new markets with
product and technology innovation

Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw materials industry and strives to achieve the
goal of “Being the global leader in the aroma raw materials industry”

Closely monitor international markets and expand the market of tobacco raw materials

Consolidate the Group's leading role in the niche segment in the condiment industry, leverage
enriched product mix and actively establish financing platform to build condiment business as
the Group’s growth point

BREIALEZTBE]  ERURERBENKERHEREEXZEREHE
REBEREBNGFEDS  SBREMERWEIH  RAEETS
METRBTEEAORE  MIKAERBELNERAERLCEIE—BRELE
ZURIBEEMS  MRERRMTHSEE

EEAEARGAT S RENBLENL  WREREENERGES  BREZREF
B HERRMEGRSEEREERE
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Chairlady’s Statement

CHU Lam Yiu

KA
Chairlady & CEO

TEREFEHTE

Dear Shareholders,

2020 was a very difficult year. The outbreak and spread of the
Pandemic caused economies of many countries and regions across
the world to fall into stagnation and recession. As production,
transportation, sales and other activities cannot be carried out
normally, many enterprises experienced massive difficulties in
business development and opted for headcount and cost reductions
to maintain operation. According to the International Monetary
Fund'’s forecast, the global economy in 2020 fell 3.5% year-on-year.
Despite of this, China’s economy began to recover in the second half
of 2020 due to China’s success in the fight against the Pandemic
and achieved a year-on-year increase of 2.3%, becoming one of
the few major economies around the world to achieve economic
growth. Additionally, due to the effective prevention and control
of the Pandemic, China’s enterprises were able to resume normal
operation and that China’s economy could get back on track.

During the Reporting Period, affected by the Pandemic, market
demand had experienced a relatively significant decline. Meanwhile,
the market competition was intense and there was pressure
on product pricing ability. Despite of this, the Group was not
discouraged and instead analysed the challenges faced when
developing each business segment and devised strategies to tackle
these challenges. In the flavours and fragrances business, we focused
on the R&D and testing of HNB tobacco flavours products. In tobacco
raw materials business, we further upgraded our R&D capability in
HNB tobacco-related raw materials. In aroma raw materials business,
we consolidated the relationship with our customers and stabilized
the market share. In condiments business, we developed products
that can be applied to different consumption scenarios according to
the needs of our customers.

ETFEHRES

BARIIR

20205F REFHRYN —F > FTEMRAREN
1B 2 0 & T AR 1 SR % (I B SR b 1 /Y 402 B
AEFMER - GELEE E& HEFEH
BEALEETHRERLT RELERNEHH
REINBANE  WEEHENBERFAXSF
TRHEREZ REEREEEABNTE
Bl - 20205 2K HER L T 7E3.5% ° # R
Wt ARPEKMERE - RREKER
2020F T+ FRMER  YER2FLER
LB R23% R RBEAZINENER
HEERERNETEZEERZ - B IERARY
RIGHAERD 2 BHECEENETEE -
KEGLAEBIEY -

BEHAR ZEHEHRRIEOETE  H5
MBERBERABENTE - AR mHEHF
AR EMAEBRNZRES - BRI
SEARRE MBS EBRRERS
FeBkE - A HIERKESE - FRITHE K
FIZEEMATRGEERERBE R H A%
MOAH ERRATE BRMAE—FERAT
MATREERERM AN ERES  BR
BomE HMREREFHOBEE  RE ™S
D ARmAE - HARBEEFHR
HEEARANIREESRNEMR °
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Chairlady’s Statement

The Pandemic has brought changes to consumer preference as well
as our operation management. From the consumer perspective, they
prefer products with labels such as “less harmful”, “low fat” and
"less sugar”. We invested more resources in the R&D of natural and
healthy products to help improve the health of consumers. From
the corporate operation perspective, it is still unknown when the
Pandemic will be under control. Our information and technology
department utilises internet and multimedia to minimise the
communication barriers between internal employees and external
suppliers and customers. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
improved its capability of digital management and has had a smooth
business operation.

2021 is the first year of China’s “14th Five Year” plan. In the “14th
Five Year” plan, the Chinese government proposes to “promote
domestic and international dual circulation to comprehensively
facilitate consumption”. We believe that following the development
of China’s economy and the continuous upgrade of consumption
structure, the potential of domestic demand will be continuously
unleashed and competition will become more intense. At this new
starting point, the Group will actively communicate with the capital
market and investigate the feasibility of establishing a financing
platform for the fast-growing and competitive condiment business
in order to strengthen the competitiveness of condiment business
and improve its contribution to the Group's results. In 2021, by
leveraging quality products and services, the Group will continue
to establish close partnership with customers to facilitate business
development and to reward our shareholders and investors.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my gratitude
to our shareholders, customers, suppliers, and business partners for
their support. | would also like to earnestly thank all the directors,
management, and employees. In this challenging economic
environment, we are willing to join hands with you to weather the
tough times ahead, and strive to deliver results in Chinese market
that is full of potentials and opportunities.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady & CEO
Hong Kong, 19 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the tobacco industry

According to the data from National Bureau of Statistics, the
cigarette production volume in China reached 47.7274 million cases
in 2020, representing an increase of 0.9% year-on-year while sales
volume reached approximately 47.3528 million cases, flat from
last year. The tobacco industry realised industrial and business tax
and profit of RMB1,280.3 billion, representing an increase of 6.2%
year-on-year; the tobacco industry has paid RMB1,203.7 billion
to the treasury department, representing an increase of 2.3%
year-on-year. Although the Pandemic had caused a big negative
impact on China’s macroeconomy and the development and
operation of every industry, the anti-cyclical nature of the tobacco
industry has played an active and positive role in boosting tax
revenue and stabilising employment.

During the Reporting Period, the regulation imposed by the
regulatory authorities on innovative tobacco products further
standardised, gradually increasing the concentration ratio in the
industry. Under the requirement that products can only be sold to
qualified consumers through offline channels, e-cigarettes enterprises
have a more intense competition in terms of brand promotion and
channel construction, and only enterprises that possess capital
power, talents and technology can face the challenges head-on
and rise above the others. In addition, some individual regional
Chinese tobacco companies established offline experience stores to
let consumers have a chance to come into contact and experience
the HNB tobacco products, so that consumers can gradually form a
more comprehensive and objective understanding of HNB tobacco
products. At the same time, consumers’ feedback can be collected
to further optimise the products.

As for tobacco leaves, although China was first hit by the Pandemic
and later by the flooding in 2020, under the leadership of the
STMA, the government in tobacco-producing regions successfully
overcame the difficulties by fighting the Pandemic, mitigating the
disaster, keeping up with the farming schedule and focusing on the
farming business. The total annual income of nationwide tobacco
farmers from planting tobacco leaves amounted to RMB64.4 billion
and the average income from planting tobacco leaves per tobacco
farmer was RMB77,000. Overall, the supply of tobacco leaves was
stable and the tobacco leaves industry achieved remarkable results in
poverty alleviation and improving tobacco farmers’ living standards.
(Source: Eastobacco.com)

EERENWE DT
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EmWERT BEFECEEMEHERME
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Overview of the food and beverage industry and
fragrances industry

In respect of the food and beverage industry, the Pandemic
has resulted in consumers paying more attention to the safety,
functionality, convenience and environmental friendliness of food
and beverage products. Among numerous products, plant-based
products attract both investors and consumers for their sustainability
and healthy nutrition. Many well-known food manufacturers
and franchised catering enterprises have launched plant-based
products, which come in different types and flavours based on the
consumers’ preferences in different regions. As consumers are more
concerned about balanced diet, products with “less sugar”, “improve
immunity” and “natural” labels receive more recognition from
consumers. At the same time, consumers also require merchants
to accurately promote the health and functionalities of products
without misleading publicity. According to data from National
Bureau of Statistics, in 2020, the gross output of the agricultural
product processing industry with enterprises of designated size
or above dropped by 1.5% year-on-year, while that of the food
processing industry rose by 1.5%. The output value of the alcohol,
beverage and refined tea processing industry dropped by 2.7%
year-on-year. The food and beverage industry has overall maintained
stable development.

In respect of the daily-use chemical industry, Chinese well-known
detergent brand has successfully gone public in the capital market,
providing consumers with more choices. The continuous growth
of the well-known daily-use chemical brand in China has provided
business development opportunities for flavours and fragrances
manufacturers that understand the local market. In addition,
affected by the Pandemic, many daily-use chemical enterprises have
strengthened their efforts in online sales, and online sales channel
has become an important means for daily-use chemical enterprises
to increase sales and improve their brand influence.

Overview of the condiment industry

According to the data of National Bureau of Statistics, the revenue of
the catering industry in the first half of 2020 was RMB1,460.9 billion,
representing a significant decrease of 32.8% as compared with
the corresponding period last year, while the total revenue in the
second half of the year was RMB2,491.8 billion, representing a slight
decrease of 1.9% as compared with the corresponding period last
year. Due to the successful prevention and control of the Pandemic
in China, the decline in the revenue of the catering industry in the
second half of the year significantly narrowed as compared to the
first half of the year, and the catering industry illustrated modest
recovery. The total revenue of the catering industry for the year was
RMB3,952.7 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 16.6%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Pandemic has caused the catering enterprises to realise the
importance of diversified development and risk diversification. Apart
from the "dine-in+takeaway” sales model, catering enterprises
also need to develop pre-made products that are ready for retail
sales to diversify sales channel. In addition, the Pandemic has
made consumers to place food safety as the top priority, which has
increased the demand of catering enterprises for central kitchen and
standardised supply chain.

Facing changes in the catering industry, the condiment enterprises
have realised the need to provide condiment solutions for pre-made
products which can maintain the uniform texture and taste of
pre-made products based on the needs of customers. At the same
time, due to the increase in household consumption scenarios, the
condiment enterprises also need to launch products suitable for sales
through retail channels and broaden sales channels based on the
characteristics of their product lines.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a sales revenue
of approximately RMB3,854 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 9.1%; the gross profit margin was approximately
63.4%, representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.3 percentage
points; operating profit reached approximately RMB903 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 47.8%; operating profit
margin was approximately 23.4%, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 17.4 percentage points. The profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately RMB418
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 62.4%, while
the basic earnings per share was RMB13.46 cents, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 62.4%.

During the Reporting Period, based on the applicable accounting
principles on a prudent basis, the management recognised an
impairment of goodwill of RMB495,498,000 for Jiahao CGU
as of 30 June 2020. For details of the goodwill impairment of
Jiahao CGU, please refer to the section “Analysis of Jiahao CGU'’s
goodwill impairment in the Interim Period”. At the end of the
Reporting Period, the management engaged an independent valuer
(the “Valuer”) to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of the
Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2020. Based on the results of the
impairment test, except for the impairment of RMB495,498,000
recognised in the Interim Period, there was no sign of further
impairment of the goodwill of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December
2020. The Board considers that the valuation methodology and key
assumptions used in the impairment tests on goodwill of Jiahao
CGU have been consistently adopted by the Company, and are fair
and reasonable. Meanwhile, the basis of the calculation and the
key assumptions used have been projected and determined by the
management based on the past performance of Jiahao CGU, the
management’s knowledge and experience of the market and the
actual situation, which are fair and reasonable.

Excluding the goodwill impairment of approximately RMB495
million of Jiahao CGU recognised in the Interim Period, the Group’s
operating profit would be approximately RMB1,398 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 19.1%; operating profit
margin would be approximately 36.3%, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 4.5 percentage points. The profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company would be approximately RMB914
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.8%, while the
basic earnings per share would be approximately RMB29.41 cents,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of flavours and fragrances business

During the Reporting Period, sales revenue of the flavours and
fragrances business of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2,085 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 3.6%, and accounting for approximately 54.1% of
the Group’s total revenue. Operating profit of the business segment
amounted to approximately RMB1,259 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 2.2%; and EBIT margin
recorded approximately 60.4%, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 0.9 percentage point. The decrease in the revenue
from the flavours and fragrances segment was mainly due to the
changes in the demand of downstream market. The increase in EBIT
margin was mainly attributable to the decrease in travelling and
other expenses.

(1) Flavours

In terms of tobacco flavours, the Group followed closely the
cigarette flavouring demands of the customers in order to
provide them with high quality products. For sweet flavours,
the Group has set up a flavour microcapsule team and
developed microcapsule products, such as low temperature
spray drying and artificial granules. The Group has also
developed bead-shaped capsule products with fresh breath
and various flavours, which are used in different food products
to enhance their functionalities and interestingness, and are
well received by consumers. In terms of savoury flavours, in
order to satisfy customer needs, the Group has collaborated
with external organizations and developed ingredients that can
infiltrate into soybean protein, and wet and spicy snack foods
and enhance their flavours without the need of marination
and deep-frying, making the food delicious and healthy. In
addition, the Group has set up a food innovation department
responsible for researching popular food ingredients in the
market and developing ingredients such as mango seasoning
powder and matcha seasoning powder. These ingredient
products are well recognised by customers and have secured
orders from customers.

(2) Fragrances

During the Reporting Period, fragrances performance
experienced an improved growth, mainly attributable to the
successful development of new customers and the launch
of new products. The flavourist focused on the R&D as well
as application of perfumes and fragrances to promote the
continuous growth of perfume and fragrance customers.
The R&D team was also committed to the development of
fragrance microcapsules which were used in products such as
laundry detergents and laundry beads, making the aroma last
longer and adding more pleasure to the lives of consumers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment progress of the proceeds raised by the flavours
and fragrances segment

As of 31 December 2020, the cumulative amount of the funds
raised from the initial public offering of Huabao Flavours in 2018
and dedicated for the “Huabao Yingtan Flavours and Ingredients
Production Base Project” (“Huabao Yingtan Project”) was
approximately RMB100.8995 million, representing an investment
progress of approximately 9.75%; the cumulative amount of IPO
Proceeds that was dedicated for the “Lhasa Pure Land Healthy Food
Project” (“Huabao Lhasa Project”) was approximately RMB19.1736
million, representing an investment progress of approximately
4.08%; and the cumulative amount of IPO Proceeds that was
dedicated for the “Huabao H&K Food Flavours and Food Technology
Development Project” (“Huabao H&K Project”) was approximately
RMB170,500, representing an investment progress of approximately
0.11%. As of 31 December 2020, the balance of unused IPO
Proceeds (including accumulated interest income received) amounted
to approximately RMB1,682 million.

The construction work for Huabao Yingtan Project Phase | has
been completed, and the tender for the design of the construction
work of Phase Il has been completed. Affected by the Pandemic
during the Reporting Period, the overall progress of the project
construction work was delayed due to the limitations on personnel
and organisation. After a comprehensive consideration of the
actual situation of the investment projects funded by the IPO
proceeds (hereinafter referred to as the “Investment Projects”)
of the Company, the Company proposed to change the use of
proceeds and modify the implementation plan of the Investment
Projects, which includes the proposed termination of the Huabao
Lhasa Project, the proposed adjustment of the Huabao H&K Project
to “Huabao Flavours Technology Innovation Centre and Support
Facilities Project”, the proposed construction of “Huabao Flavours
Digital Transformation Project” and the proposed adjustment of the
investment plan of the Huabao Yingtan Project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the tobacco raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, sales revenue of the Group’s tobacco
raw materials business was approximately RMB622 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.6%, and accounting for
approximately 16.1% of the Group’s total revenue. The operating
profit of the segment amounted to approximately RMB250 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 19.8%, and
EBIT margin was approximately 40.2%, a year-on-year decrease of
1.0 percentage point. The decrease in sales revenue of the segment
was mainly attributable to the decrease in market demand for
RTL and the sales drop caused by the intensive competition in the
cigarette capsule industry.

(1)

(2)

RTL

During the Reporting Period, the tobacco industry achieved
significant success in destocking the inventory of tobacco
leaves. The increase in the usage of tobacco leaves resulted
in the weak demand for RTL. Under the circumstances of
oversupply in the RTL industry, the Group’s production and
sales volumes of RTL decreased accordingly. Meanwhile, being
affected by the Pandemic, overseas customers delayed their
orders, thus resulting in a drop of the Group's sales volume
of RTL overseas. Under the unfavourable market environment
both domestically and abroad, the RTL business performance
of the Group has dropped.

In order to cope with the adverse effects brought about by
the changes in the business environment of traditional RTL,
the Group set up a professional team to conduct an in-depth
analysis on the market lay-out, development prospect and
application of the raw materials related to HNB tobacco.
During the Reporting Period, the Group made progress in the
product development and process research of HNB related raw
materials and obtained the corresponding patents. Meanwhile,
the Group is preparing to build a plant in South East Asia
dedicated to the production of RTL for HNB tobacco products
to meet the market demand for RTL for HNB.

Tobacco new materials

Owing to the sufficient supply and intensive competition in
the industry, the selling prices of cigarette capsules failed
to reverse the downward trend. The Pandemic has led to a
decline in the consumption scenarios and the consumers’
demand for cigarette capsules in overseas markets, resulting in
a corresponding decline in sales volume of cigarette capsules in
the overseas markets. During the Reporting Period, the Group
strengthened the market analysis, technological R&D and
talent training on specialized cigarette filter and HNB cigarette
filter to enhance the competitiveness and service quality of
these two product categories and prepare itself for the possible
development opportunities and markets in the future.
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Review of the aroma raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s aroma raw materials
business recorded a sales revenue of approximately RMB639 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 2.9%, and
accounting for approximately 16.6% of the Group’s total revenue.
Operating profit of the business segment reached approximately
RMB47.90 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 41.7%; and EBIT margin was approximately
7.5%, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 5.7
percentage points. The overall revenue of the aroma raw materials
segment remained stable. The decrease in operating profit and
operating profit margin was mainly due to the Group’s adjustment
on its product mix.

In the first half of 2020, the Pandemic had a significant negative
impact on the demands for aroma raw materials in the domestic
and overseas markets and the year-on-year revenue of aroma raw
materials dropped significantly in the first half of the year. As China
successfully prevented and controlled the Pandemic in the second
half of the year, as well as foreign governments began to stress on
fighting the Pandemic, demands in domestic and overseas markets
began to recover gradually, and the year-on-year revenue of the
aroma raw materials segment increased in the second half of the
year. In spite of this, the overall economic slowdown had increased
pressure on customers to cut spending, which weakened our pricing
power in aroma raw material products.

In terms of Guangdong Zhaoging, affected by the weak performance
of the catering industry, the market demand for maltol products
decreased, resulting in a declined turnover in maltol products. For
Yongzhou Shanxiang, since European countries and regions need
epidemic prevention materials made from litsea cubeba oil extracts
to fight against the epidemic, the sales of Yongzhou Shanxiang are
stable and have slightly increased. As for Jiangxi Xianghai, furanone
and ester products produced by Jiangxi Xianghai are well recognised
by customers for their high quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the condiment business

During the Reporting Period, the sales revenue of the Group’s
condiment business was approximately RMB503 million, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 28.2%, and accounting for approximately
13.0% of the Group’s total revenue. The operating loss was
approximately RMB432 million. During the outbreak of the Pandemic
in the beginning of 2020, the Chinese government adopted
various emergency measures, such as the extension of the Chinese
New Year holidays, travelling and work restrictions, temporary
suspension of daily consumption activities. The catering industry
was severely affected and the downstream catering customers’
demand for condiment dropped significantly during the first half
of 2020, resulting in a substantial decline of sales revenue of this
segment. Operating loss was mainly attributable to the impairment
of goodwill of approximately RMB495 million for the Jiahao CGU
recognised in the Interim Period. Excluding the impact on the
impairment of goodwill, the operating profit of the segment would
be approximately RMB63.01 million. For details of the goodwill
impairment of Jiahao CGU, please refer to the section “Analysis of
Jiabao CGU’s goodwill impairment in the Interim Period”.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the management engaged
Valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of the Jiahao CGU
as at 31 December 2020. Based on the results of the impairment
test, except for the impairment of RMB495,498,000 recognised in
the Interim Period, there was no sign of further impairment of the
goodwill of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2020. Please refer to
the section “Analysis of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill at the year end” for
details.

In the first half of 2020, revenue of Jiahao was approximately
RMB177 million, representing a significant decrease of approximately
52.9% as compared with the corresponding period last year. After
the Pandemic began to come under control in the second half of the
year, the catering industry began to recover and Jiahao's business
rebounded accordingly. Jiahao's revenue in the second half of the
year reached approximately RMB325 million, which was basically at
the same level as compared with the corresponding period last year.
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In terms of product, Jiahao launched new products such as “Jingba
Rattan Pepper Sauce”, “Jingba Tasty Gravy” and “Jingba Sour
and Chilli Sauce”. Prior to launching a new product, the R&D
and marketing team investigated and analysed the preferences
of consumers so that the flavours of the products would be well
received and favoured by the public. After launching a product,
the Group would introduce application scenarios, suitability and
differentiated advantages of the products to help improve the
flavours of customers’ dishes and promote their frequency of using
and consuming the products.
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In terms of distribution channels, Jiahao sells its products primarily
through the distributor network. The distributors of Jiahao are
located in nine sales regions across China, mainly in first-tier,
second-tier and third-tier cities. With the improvement of brand
recognition and product reputation, Jiahao's products begin to
penetrate gradually into the fourth-tier and fifth-tier cities. In terms
of online channels, Jiahao strengthens its online recognition by
setting up flagship stores on Tmall.

In terms of marketing strategy, during the Reporting Period, the
Group chose to conduct online promotional activities so as to avoid
the risk of excessive gathering of crowds. The Group successively
organised online theme events such as “Spicy Carnival” (BRE£ITEL
M) and “New Year Food Festival” (FF3£%f). The Group also shared
cooking techniques of professional chefs and culinary solutions with
customers on its WeChat official account, reinforcing Jiahao's brand

positioning as the “Chinese tastes expert”.

The Group’s management considers that condiment industry has
a broad market prospect. Leading condiment companies enrich
product categories and brand promotion through strong capital
strength, while emerging brands are continuously growing strong
through financing, and competition within the industry is becoming
more intense. In order to enhance Jiahao's competitiveness, the
Group’s management and business team actively explore the
feasibility of establishing a financing platform for Jiahao so that
Jiahao can obtain capital for development and could enhance its
competitive advantage and seize growth opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ANALYSIS of JJAHAO CGU’S GOODWILL

Background of the acquisition of Jiahao

Driven by the development of the domestic economy, increasing
urbanization, consumption upgrade, and change of consumption
environment and patterns, China’s catering market enjoys a rapid
growth. As the catering industry further develops towards to chain
store and customized direction, restaurants’ demand for condiments
of high quality, high stability and high-customization grows
significantly. The acquisition of Jiahao was an implementation of the
Group's strategy “Concentric Diversification based on Consumers’
Demand in the Taste-based Fast-moving Products Industry”, at the
same time, it offered a good opportunity for the Group to break into
the condiment market. On 4 September 2018, the Group completed
the acquisition of Jiahao. The Group focused on the complementary
products in the taste-based fast-moving consumer products,
including products in the niche markets such as flavours and
fragrances, additives, ingredients and packing materials, condiments,
etc. It was expected to play a synergistic effect, expand the Group’s
scope of operations and revenue streams as well as optimising its
business structure. The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
approximately RMB3,635,550,000 was derived from the expected
synergy and benefits in economies of scale after the integration of
the operation of the Group and Jiahao.

Analysis of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill impairment in the
Interim Period

The background of Jiahao’s goodwill impairment

Due to the spread of the Pandemic in 2020, various contingency
measures were adopted by the government of the PRC such as
an extension of the Chinese new year holidays, as well as travel
and work restrictions, temporary suspension of various daily
consumption activities including those of retail and catering,
resulting in a significant decrease in the sales revenue of Jiahao,
which is principally engaged in the production, sales, marketing and
distribution of condiment products in the PRC for the six months
ended 30 June 2020, representing a decrease of approximately
52.9% as compared with the corresponding period last year.

KEBEENES

TEELERRE WBLLRIES EHEARK
RANKBEESSSAEMNEES - HEZ AR
BMZE2ERBIREBER -BEEERITESE
—FSmEHEN EEEFTRER  BEHR
BEfEeEsE EBTMEREEELNAKRRE
KE— R - UWBEZHFEAAEEEKE
RPEMmBE  UWHEHBEFKAIIZENR L
Zi b JEEE - ARt EREEEAFRKDT
SREERE AEBN2018F9A48 /K
WEEZ AKEEERERRERZEE
Em EREBERD ANE - Bk
ME - ARREEI B ZE R FBH A%
EHEREER YREBAAEENELEH
EMBARR - BILEBEE - WBEED
&4 AR¥3,635,550,000T IR ERNEA
FAEBEERZ2EEEBHELENTGRE

FE 035 -

ESXCGUEER T HMBEED T

EEEEHENER

M AE B R2020F E AL - P BB T
TEEEZEN  fINERESHEBE  wiTE
RETERS  BESE(REZSERER)
HEHBEY I (EAXTEAEPEY
EARMEE - HE BHMDHEER) RE
£2020F6A30H L NE AW EBKRIET
P - BA KR BRFELL TBE 7 #952.9% o

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2k AR A7 2020 Annual Report %3k

21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

Given that the sales of Jiahao dropped significantly for the six
months ended 30 June 2020, an impairment indicator for the
goodwill of Jiahao CGU would be existed. To this, the management
of the Group, with the assistance of the Valuer, has reassessed the
key assumptions for impairment test of goodwill in June 2020, in
order to determine the recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU. Based on
the results of the impairment test, the recoverable amount of Jiahao
CGU as at 30 June 2020 was RMB495,498,000 lower than the
carrying amount. Therefore, the Group recognised the impairment
of goodwill of RMB495,498,000 for the six months ended 30 June
2020.

The reasons for the recognition of the impairment of
goodwill

To control the Pandemic, which broke out during the Chinese
New Year in 2020, the Chinese government adopted measures
to restrict the gathering and movement of people, resulting in an
inevitable temporary suspension of various business activities. The
catering business is an industry that depends on people’s gathering
and offline service experience. The need to prevent and control
the Pandemic had inevitably forced the catering businesses to
temporarily suspend their operations or significantly reduce their
operating hours, resulting in a significant decline of the revenue
of the catering enterprises. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics, revenue from China’s catering industry in the first half of
2020 fell sharply with a year-on-year decrease of 32.8%, making it
one of the most severely hit industries in the Pandemic. Even so, the
catering enterprises still needed to spend substantial amounts on
rent, labour and raw materials. With the significant drop in revenue,
rigid fixed costs have made the catering enterprise unable to make
the ends meet and the cash flow is tight. Against such difficult
business environment where catering enterprises were faced with
double pressure from operation and cash flow, the demand for
purchase of condiment products by catering enterprises declined
significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

According to a report issued by the International Monetary Fund
in June 2020, China’s economy would likely to achieve a modest
growth of 1% in 2020. Nonetheless, this increase represents a
significant difference as compared with the increase of 6.1% during
the same period in 2019. The slowdown in economic growth
will certainly have an impact on consumers’ consumption power
as people will be more cautious when they go out to spend. In
addition, although the Pandemic has been effectively prevented
and controlled in mainland China and the revenue of the catering
industry has also started to pick up, the revenue of the catering
industry in July, according to the National Bureau of Statistics, still
recorded a year-on-year decrease of 11.0%. The management
expects the revenue of the catering industry this year to fall
significantly as compared with the same period last year. Jiahao is a
B2B (business-to-business) condiment company focusing on the sales
of various condiments to catering enterprises. Jiahao does not sell
condiment products through retail channels such as supermarkets
and convenience stores, and etc. The sales revenue of Jiahao is
expected to drop, in response to the significant decline of demand
from the catering enterprises. We have already begun to adjust our
product mix and strengthen our sales effort. However, based on
the judgement that both the macro economy and the sales of the
catering industry for this year would drop in comparison to the same
period last year, the Group considers the performance of condiment
segment for the year will not be able to measure up to that in 2019.

In the long run, the Pandemic has brought about certain changes
to and impacts on the business environment and business model
of the catering enterprises, as well as the lifestyle and consumption
patterns of the consumers. Considering the recurrence nature of
the Pandemic, the catering enterprises may consider changing
their business model and expanding more online sales channels.
By switching from offline channel to online sales channel in
fulfilling customers’ demand for products and services, the catering
enterprises will need more time to explore and meet customers’
needs, and they will face the challenge in retaining and securing
their customer bases. On the other hand, consumers will reduce
unnecessary business trips and gatherings with online alternatives,
thereby reducing the frequency of dining out in restaurants. As a
result, the business model and prospect of the catering industry
in the post-Pandemic era will be exposed to a greater uncertainty.
Whether or not the catering industry will be able to completely
resume or even surpass its level before the Pandemic depends on the
recovery of China’s overall economy as well as the situation of the
prevention and control of the Pandemic.

In summary, based on the applicable accounting principles on a
prudent basis, the management conducted an impairment test in the
second quarter of 2020 on the CGU to which Jiahao belongs and
eventually recognised the impairment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The process and considerations in handling the goodwill
impairment

According to HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36"), the
goodwill impairment is conducted annually, or more frequently if
changes in events or circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
As we understand, the Pandemic that broke out in China in the
beginning of 2020 and subsequently spread to the whole country,
was caused by a new type of coronavirus. At the early stage of the
Pandemic, no one was able to perceive the spread, the prevention
and control of the Pandemic as well as its impact on the society and
the people’s livelihood. As such, the Company was unable to assess
the extent of the impact on the business of Jiahao and quantify the
impact. Nevertheless, the Company has been closely monitoring
the development of the Pandemic as well as prevention and control
measures and their effectiveness since the outbreak of the Pandemic.
When the Pandemic gradually stabilised, an evaluation was
conducted by the management of the Company during the second
quarter of 2020. It indicated that although the sales of condiments
rebounded somewhat in June 2020 as compared with those from
the months of January to May, considering the recurrence nature
of the Pandemic which is still raging outside of Mainland China and
has a relatively far-reaching impact on the catering industry, as well
as the evolving changes in the operating model and structure of
the catering industry, the future business growth of Jiahao, as an
upstream enterprise in the catering industry, is still uncertain and
subject to the prevention and control situation of the Pandemic as
well as the extent of economic recovery. To this end, in June 2020,
the management, with the assistant of the Valuer, reviewed and
reassessed the key assumptions used in the calculation of value
in use ("VIU") and conducted an impairment test of goodwill to
determine the recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU.

The impairment on goodwill of Jiahao CGU was caused by the
outbreak and spread of the Pandemic and the continuing impact it
has on the catering industry, which could not be anticipated by the
Company when Jiahao was acquired in September 2018, nor at the
end of the last financial year on 31 December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Company performed a goodwill
impairment test on Jiahao CGU on 30 June 2020, the valuation
benchmark date, and conducted a value analysis to determine the
recoverable amount of Jiahao CGU. According to the standard, the
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the higher of the
fair value less the costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") and VIU. Taking
into account the synergy between Jiahao CGU and the Group, the
Group considered that FVLCOD would not be higher than VIU and
therefore VIU was taken as the value basis of the impairment test.
In this impairment test, the Company applied the income approach
to calculate the VIU of Jiahao CGU, which was based on a five-year
net cash-flow projection of Jiahao CGU. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period were calculated using the terminal growth rate, and
the present value of such net cash-flows were calculated using an
appropriate discount rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU
are as follows:

1.  Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, the latest external economy and
business environment, combined with their projections of
market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth rate of
Jiahao CGU as estimated by the management;

3. Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance and the expected
development of the market;

4. Pre-tax discount rate — the discount rate for impairment test,
with reference to the actual situation of Jiahao CGU, the
market condition of the same industry and its specific risk
premium, calculated with the applicable cost of equity capital
and cost of debt capital to come up with weighted average
cost of capital (“"WACC") based on the company’s capital
structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in major value of the inputs and key assumptions

The Company has engaged the Valuer to conduct an impairment
test on goodwill of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2020 (the “Interim
Impairment Test"”).

The Valuer used the income approach in the Interim Impairment
Test, which is consistent with the valuation methodology used in the
previous impairment test of Jiahao CGU. Comparing certain major
value of the inputs and key assumptions used in determining the VIU
of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2020 against those used in assessing
the VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2019, major changes are
as follows:

VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
202066 300 = ff AEERRE

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions

TEBARE BEER
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VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2019
2019128310 2 EAEETE

Forecast five-year sales -17.8% t0 47.0%

growth rate

AFTETHEERE -17.8%Z47.0%

3.0% t0 29.3%

3.0% £29.3%

Reasons for change

Affected by the Pandemic in the first half of 2020, the business of
the catering industry was suspended for a period of time, resulting in
unsatisfactory results of Jiahao CGU during the period. Considering
the recurrence nature of the Pandemic which is still raging outside
of Mainland China and has a relatively far-reaching impact on the
catering industry, as well as the evolving changes to the operating
model and structure of the catering industry, the future business
growth of Jiahao, as an upstream enterprise in the catering industry,
is still uncertain and subject to the prevention and control situation
of the Pandemic as well as the extent of economic recovery. As
such, the management has made a downward adjustment to the
sales revenue for the forecast period. The updated sales growth
for the forecast period was derived primarily from the combined
data analysis of sales contracts signed, progress of new customer
development and historical turnover rate, as well as the results in the
first half of 2020 and the actual condition of recovery in June. As at
30 June 2020, the management downward adjusted the forecast
sales growth for 2020 to -17.8%, and the forecast sales revenue
for the period between 2021 to 2024 was downward adjusted by
25.9% to 36.2% from the forecast for the same period made at
the end of 2019. Due to a reduced base amount, the corresponding
forecast sales growth was adjusted to 13.6% to 47.0%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
20206 A30R = £ AEEF L

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions

TEBAYE BERR

EERENWE DT

VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2019
2019 12831H 2 EAEEM

58.7% 10 60.7%
58.7%%60.7%

Budgeted gross profit margin
B EFIE

55.8% t0 62.7%
55.8%%62.7%

Reasons for change

Due to the Pandemic which resulted in sales promotions in form of
reduced prices, the management reduced the budgeted gross profit
margin of 2020 to 58.7% from the forecast of 62.7% made at the
end of 2019. However, as some of the products with lower gross
profit margin are expected to gradually shift from external processing
to self-production, and the product portfolio and marketing strategy
will be adjusted by the management by increasing the revenue
share of products with higher gross profit margin in the future, the
budgeted gross profit margins for years 2021 to 2024 have been
adjusted to 59.9% to 60.7%.

VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
202056 A30R 2 £ AEE

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions
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VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2019
2019 12831H 2 EABENHE

Pre-tax discount rate Pre-tax discount rate of 13.4%

(approximately equivalent to post-tax

discount rate of 12.0%)

Pre-tax discount rate of 13.5%
(approximately equivalent to post-tax
discount rate of 12.0%)

BiRTALER K BAIBEIR R 13.4% (WERBEAIAE  BATAIRE13.5% (HWERBIEMIRE
12.0%) 12.0%)
Reasons for change SEREHE

The Valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
Considering the increased risk resulted from the operational
uncertainty due to the Pandemic, Jiahao's risk premium was
increased by 2%. The equity risk premium also increased during the
period. Considering the low-interest policy which resulted in the
decline of risk-free interest rate and the combined effect of other
factors, the post-tax discount rate was calculated as 12.0%, which is
the same as the post-tax discount rate adopted at the end of 2019.
With reference to the post-tax discount rate, the Valuer calculated
the corresponding pre-tax discount rate according to pre-tax cash
flows through an iterative process.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Analysis of Jiahao CGU’s goodwill at the year end

In the first half of 2020, the Pandemic has dealt a heavy blow to
the catering industry. According to the data of National Bureau
of Statistics, the total revenue of the catering industry recorded a
significant decrease of 32.8% in the first half of 2020 as compared
with the corresponding period last year. However, due to the
successful prevention and control of the Pandemic in China, the
decline in the revenue of the catering industry in the second half of
the year significantly narrowed as compared to the first half of the
year, the catering industry began to recover. The total revenue of
the catering industry in the second half of 2020 was RMB2,491.8
billion, representing a slight decrease of 1.9% as compared with
the corresponding period last year. The total revenue of the catering
industry for the year was RMB3,952.7 billion, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 16.6%.

As a result, Jiahao's business rebounded accordingly. Jiahao's
revenue in the second half of 2020 reached approximately RMB325
million, which was slightly higher than the revenue of approximately
RMB324 million for the corresponding period last year.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the management engaged the
Valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of the Jiahao
CGU as at 31 December 2020 (the “Year-end Impairment Test”).
Based on the results of the Year-end Impairment Test, except for the
impairment of RMB495,498,000 recognised in the Interim Period,
there was no sign of further impairment of the goodwill of Jiahao
CGU as at 31 December 2020.

The Year-end Impairment Test

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in the Year-end
Impairment Test were consistent with that used in the Interim
Impairment Test. Please refer to the section “The methodology, key
assumptions and basis used in calculating Jiahao CGU’s VIU" above
for details.

Changes in major value of the inputs and key assumptions

The Valuer used the income approach in the Year-end Impairment
Test, which is consistent with the valuation methodology used in the
previous impairment tests of Jiahao CGU. Comparing certain major
value of the inputs and key assumptions used in determining the
VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 31 December 2020 against those used in
assessing the VIU of Jiahao CGU as at 30 June 2020, major changes
are as follows:
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Management Discussion and Analysis

VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2020
2020128318 2 EAEETE

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions

TEBAYE BERR

EERENWE DT

VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
20206 A30R =z £ AEET

Forecast five-year sales 49% to 75.7%

growth rate

AFFEFHHEERR 4.9%ET75.7%

-17.8% to0 47.0%

-17.8%%47.0%

Reasons for change

Due to the successful prevention and control of the Pandemic in
China, the decline in the revenue of the catering industry in the
second half of the year significantly narrowed as compared to the
first half of the year, the catering industry began to recover and
Jiahao's business rebounded accordingly. As such, the management
has made an upward adjustment to the sales revenue for the forecast
period. The updated sales growth for the forecast period was derived
primarily from the combined data analysis of sales contracts signed,
progress of new customer development and historical turnover rate,
as well as actual recovery and the results in the second half of 2020.
As at 31 December 2020, the management upward adjusted the
forecast sales growth for 2021 to 75.7%, mainly due to a reduced
base amount in 2020. For the period between 2022 to 2024, the
forecast sales revenue was adjusted by -0.5% to 2.6% from the
forecast for the same period made at 30 June 2020, and the forecast
growth rate was adjusted to 12.6% to 14.3%.

VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2020
2020128318 2 EAEETE

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions

TEBAYE BERR
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VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
20206 A30R 2z AEET

60.0% to 61.3%
60.0%%61.3%

Budgeted gross profit margin
B E %

58.7% t0 60.7%
58.7%%60.7%

Reasons for change

Due to the successful prevention and control of the Pandemic by
the Chinese government, the catering industry began to recover and
Jiahao's business rebounded accordingly. As the actual gross profit
margin for 2020 was better than the forecast of 58.7% made at
30 June 2020 and the product portfolio and marketing strategy will
be adjusted by the management by increasing the revenue share of
products with higher gross profit margin in the future, the budgeted
gross profit margin has been adjusted slightly to 60.0% — 61.1% for
the years 2022 to 2024.
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VIU assessment
as at 31 December 2020
2020128318 2 EAEETE

Major value of inputs/
key assumptions

TEBAYE BERR

EEENWE D

VIU assessment
as at 30 June 2020
20206 A30R =z £ AEET

Pre-tax discount rate Pre-tax discount rate of 13.5%

(approximately equivalent to post-tax

discount rate of 12.0%)
MATAE IR E13.5%
(KIERBLZAEIRE12.0%)

PiATRAIR &

Pre-tax discount rate of 13.4%
(approximately equivalent to post-tax
discount rate of 12.0%)

AR IR & 13.4%
(HERHIRAEIE E12.0%)

Reasons for change

The Valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
Considering there were no significant changes in various factors
used in calculating WACC between the two periods, the post-tax
discount rate was calculated as 12.0%, which is the same as the
post-tax discount rate adopted at 30 June 2020. With reference to
the post-tax discount rate, the Valuer calculated the corresponding
pre-tax discount rate according to pre-tax cash flows through an
iterative process.

The Board’s conclusion

The Board considers that the valuation methodology and key
assumptions used in the calculation of the VIU of Jiahao CGU in
the Interim Impairment Test and the Year-end Impairment Test
have been consistently adopted by the Company, and are fair and
reasonable. Meanwhile, the basis of the calculation and the key
assumptions used have been projected and determined by the
management based on the past performance of Jiahao CGU, the
management’s knowledge and experience of the market and the
actual situation, which are fair and reasonable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s investment in R&D was
approximately RMB265 million. R&D expenses accounted for
approximately 6.9% of sales revenue, which remained the same as
that for the corresponding period last year.

In terms of flavours and fragrances, the Group was granted 37
patents on natural flavours and plant extraction technology,
including 9 invention patents and 28 utility patents, among which,
Huabao Kongque was granted the invention patents of “A plant
extract flavour and its preparation method” and “A permeable
powder flavour for betel nut and its preparation method”. Jiangxi
Kongqgue was granted the utility patents of "An extraction device
for the production of pure natural fruit and tea flavour" and "A tea
flavour refining spare leaching device". Better World was granted
the utility patents of “A recovering device for ginseng dry steam”
and "A rosemary extract refining device”. Xiamen Amber was
granted the invention patent of “Long-lasting mosquito repellent
and antibacterial spray with natural plant oil and its preparation
method”.

In terms of RTL, Guangdong Jinye was granted a total of 6 invention
patents, 12 utility patents and 4 appearance design patents
domestically and abroad. In the area of HNB cigarettes concerned
by the market, Guangdong Jinye was granted the utility patents of
“A coating device and production system for HNB RTL", "HNB RTL
extraction equipment”, and "A cigarette set component and HNB
tobacco set" in China. Guangdong Jinye was awarded the invention
patent of "Dry RTL production technology, products and equipment”
in overseas.
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In terms of tobacco new materials, the Group was granted 3 patents,
including “A condenser and filter for HNB cigarettes”, “Smoke
regulating device, filter and HNB cigarettes” and “An electronic
cigarette that can be set to replace plant firmware". In addition,
Yunnan Xinyun also obtained the "2020 Yunnan provincial growth
small and medium-sized enterprise certification" and "Kunming
intellectual property pilot enterprise certification".

In terms of condiments, Jiahao released papers on “Scientific
Citation Index (SCI)”, including "Effects of microwave vacuum
drying of different materials on hygroscopicity and liquidity of
chicken powder" and "The latest development of key processing
technologies of oriental spices/herbs and condiments”. Jiahao also
applied for 4 invention patents on chicken powder, wasabi and gravy
products to strengthen its competitiveness in the core product areas.

Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 3,458 employees
in mainland China, Hong Kong, Germany, Botswana, the U.S. and
Korea. During the Reporting Period, the labour costs (including
pension and mandatory provident fund, pension insurance, etc.)
amounted to approximately RMB590 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

After the outbreak of the Pandemic in early 2020, the Group
promptly established a Pandemic prevention and control group,
and formulated detailed guidelines and measures for Pandemic
prevention and control. It also distributed Pandemic prevention
materials to all employees at all levels and promoted Pandemic
prevention knowledge to ensure the safety and health of employees.
After the Pandemic had eased, the Group has strengthened the
cleaning and disinfection of offices and dormitories to ensure a
healthy and comfortable working environment for all employees. As
the Pandemic reoccurs and lasts long, employees may suffer fatigue
from fighting the Pandemic. The human resources department of the
Group strived to relieve employees’ anxiety through various activities
such as online meetings, training and reading sharing sessions to
develop a positive attitude in employees towards work.

In addition, in order to support employees in better fulfilling their
civic responsibilities, the Group provided employees with special
training on “environmental, social and corporate governance”
to help employees understand the importance of environmental
protection and social responsibilities. The Group also formulated an
anti-fraud and whistleblowing system to prevent the risk of fraud,
regulate employee behavior and improve the Group's internal
governance. During the Reporting Period, the Group held an online
course called “Huabao Lecture”, inviting technical and management
personnel from various business sectors to share employees with
the latest R&D, production and market trends in the industry. This
helped employees understand the development, goals and strategies
of different businesses of the Group and enhance their sense of
belonging to the Company and confidence in the Company’'s
business.

In terms of social work, the Group coordinated money and goods
donations from employees to express appreciation to the medical
workers and volunteers on the front line to fight against the
Pandemic and to support their hard work in the fight. The Group
also actively responded to the government’s policies and guidelines
for poverty alleviation and took practical actions to fulfill its social
responsibilities.
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Outlook

Entering 2021, some national and regional governments have
begun to arrange vaccination for the public. However, the rollout
of the vaccine varies in different countries and regions and its
efficacy remains to be seen. Therefore, it remains uncertain when
market demand and economic activities will return to normal, and
the prospects for world economic recovery are subject to many
uncertainties. Nevertheless, due to the successful prevention and
control of the Pandemic by the Chinese government, Chinese
enterprises have resumed work and production and economic
activities have gradually returned to normal, creating a strong
momentum for China’s economic development.

In 2021, the Group will focus on four aspects — strategy, culture,
digital management, and globalisation layout — to comprehensively
improve the management level, operational efficiency, business
performance and sustainable development capability of the Group.

In terms of strategy, the Group will adhere to its development
strategy of “concentric diversification” to consolidate its position
and competitive advantages in the core field of flavours and
fragrances, while actively expanding our competitiveness in the
condiment market to achieve diversified development and drive the
organic growth of all the Group’s businesses. The Group will actively
search for projects which can generate synergy with the Company’s
existing business, providing sufficient project reserves to achieve
external expansion. The Group will seize the market demand for
“green, healthy and nutritious” products and develop and produce
related products based on such demand and seize the opportunity of
relevant market development to improve the market share of related
products. The Group will improve and optimise business model
and gradually transform from a traditional product supplier to a
“products+services” comprehensive solutions supplier, consolidating
its position as a “leading taste-based consumer product industrial
holdings group”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of culture, the Group passes on the vision of “leader to a
better life” to its employees so to let them recognise that Huabao
is committed to providing tasty, aromatic and healthy products for
consumers and making their lives more pleasant. The Group requires
employees to understand the “innovative, pragmatic, loyal and
cooperative” spirit and encourages them to actively provide ideas
and advice for the development of the Group. At the same time,
employees are also required to do their jobs well and work closely
with the team, establish harmonious working relationship and
accomplish work objectives. The Group will continuously carry on
the vision of “client first, value creation and shared achievements”
and require employees to understand that customers are our source
of value creation. Only by offering quality products, services and
comprehensive solutions, as well as solving problems for customers
and adding value to their products will we be able to establish
long-term and stable partnership with our customers and allow the
sustainable development of the Group's business.

In terms of digital management, the Group will further optimise and
upgrade the digital system to manage its raw material purchase,
production, sales and finance in a more standardised and systematic
manner. The group will integrate production, operation, human
resources and other related data and establish an analysis model
to generate quantitative data and indicators for the Company to
perform operation analysis, and provide a more scientific, efficient
and sophisticated approach for the Company’s operational and
investment decision-making in the future. In addition, the Group
will further optimise and upgrade the internal communication
platform to allow employees to conduct remote communication
and execute projects through various electronic platforms, so as to
ensure that the Group can adapt to the working environment in the
post-Pandemic era.
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With respect to globalisation layout, the Group will fully leverage the
“Belt and Road” Initiative, establishing R&D centres and production
bases in relevant countries and regions and creating sales teams to
gradually build the Group’s brand in overseas markets. By actively
recruiting overseas and local talents and Chinese international
students, the Group will strive to increase the sales of products and
gradually increase the proportion of overseas sales in its revenue
with its diversified and international team, thereby extending the
reach of Huabao's products and services to more customers and
consumers.

The Group will actively implement its plans in terms of overall
development strategy, culture construction, digital management
that improves operating efficiency, and globalisation development to
promote its development in all business segments.

In terms of flavours and fragrances, the Group will actively expedite
the global layout on the foundation of the continuous development
of various domestic businesses. The Group will launch projects
such as international technology and innovation centre and Asia
and Pacific R&D centre to establish an internationalised intelligent
technology and innovation platform and fully exert the technological
synergy with each business segment, further enhancing the
capability of technological innovation and realising innovation-driven
development. In terms of flavours used for tobacco, the Group will
continuously solidify its partnership with existing customers and
enhance its R&D and technological capabilities in innovative tobacco
related products at the same time. In terms of food flavours, the
Group will continuously monitor the market trend of natural and
plant-based foods and conduct specific R&D on relevant products. In
terms of fragrances, the Group will specifically focus on the R&D of
perfume, personal care products and detergents in order to provide
a more extensive product categories for its customers.
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In terms of tobacco raw materials, the Group will invest more
resources in developing the innovative tobacco-related raw materials
business. By constructing R&D centre, production base and sales
network overseas, a developed R&D, production and sales system
will gradually be established, and the coverage as well as revenue
of RTL business will be enhanced. The Group will strengthen the
training of its cigarette capsules technical team to enrich product
flavours, improve product quality and secure market share. In
addition, the Group will market the taste modulation technology
and production capability of capsule products to its food customers,
expanding the application of capsule products and uncovering
more customer groups. The Group will also enhance its production
capability in cigarette filter, optimise the quality management system
of cigarette filter and develop more new products, so as to develop
more customers using quality products and services.

In terms of aroma raw materials, the Group will flexibly adjust
its product mix based on the changes in the market business
environment and secure customer groups through competitive
products and pricing. As regulatory authorities have higher
environmental protection requirements on aroma raw materials
enterprises, the Group will optimise the facility construction and
regulations on environmental protection of its aroma raw materials
segment to ensure the safe and sustainable operation of the
segment.

In terms of condiments, the Group will track the trends and changes
in the catering market and improve and enhance its products
according to the changing demands of customers, so that the
products can satisfy the needs of customers. The Group will deepen
the cooperation with various distributors and sales platforms so that
its products can reach more end users through multiple channels,
enhancing the coverage and penetration rate of products. The Group
will optimise the brand marketing strategy to constantly strengthen
the users’ brand loyalty by resonating the value the brand conveyed
with the target users through various types of online and offline
theme marketing activities.
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Response to the Pandemic

Due to possible recurrence of the Pandemic, the Group has
formulated strategies from the perspectives of production and
operation as well as human resources to minimise the negative
impact of the Pandemic on business operations. All production and
operation departments are required to conduct regular inventory
checks to ensure sufficient inventory of raw materials for production
and operation. Since the Pandemic is still not under control overseas,
the Group has been purchasing raw materials that need to be
imported from overseas in appropriate quantities for emergencies.
The Group will continue to maintain close communication with
customers to ensure on-time delivery of products and satisfy
customer needs. The human resources department of the Group will
require all business departments to keep records of employees’ entries
and exits and ask unwell employees to seek medical treatment in
a timely manner, while avoiding unnecessary business trips and
gatherings to reduce personnel movement. The human resources
department will continue to monitor the situation of the Pandemic
and the epidemic prevention and control policies, establish employee
information and tracking mechanisms and perform relevant statistics
and reporting so as to ensure the safety of the Group’s employees
and the normal business operation. The internal information and
technology team of the Group has established a developed online
communication system to allow employees to communicate and
coordinate with each other smoothly, so as to ensure that all work
can be completed on time and with high quality. In addition, in view
of the gradual rollout of vaccination, the Group will actively arrange
vaccination for employees in various regions in a planned and orderly
manner to enable employees to resume normal work more quickly
and accelerate the restoration of social and economic order.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31 December
2020

Revenue

The Group's revenue amounted to RMB3,854,058,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020, of which revenue from flavours and
fragrances reached RMB2,085,025,000, contributing approximately
54.1% of total revenue; revenue from tobacco raw materials
reached RMB621,606,000, contributing approximately 16.1%
of total revenue; revenue from aroma raw materials reached
RMB638,696,000, contributing approximately 16.6% of total
revenue; revenue from condiment reached RMB502,751,000,
contributing approximately 13.0% of total revenue. For the
current year, revenue was decreased by 9.1% as compared with
RMB4,241,040,000 for the corresponding period last year. The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to the outbreak of the
Pandemic at the beginning of 2020, various contingency measures
were adopted by the PRC government such as an extension of the
Chinese new year holiday, as well as travel and work restrictions,
suspension of various daily consumption activities, etc., which posed
impacts to all segments of the Group in various degrees. The catering
industry was severely affected by the Pandemic in the first half of
2020, as a result, the revenue of the condiment segment of the
Group for the current year declined significantly by approximately
28.2% as compared with that of last year. Also, revenue of tobacco
raw materials decreased by 17.6% year-on-year, which was mainly
due to the decrease in market demand on reconstituted tobacco
leaves and the decrease in revenue of flavour capsule resulted from
intense market competition.

Cost of goods sold

The Group's cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,411,651,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a decrease of 5.6%
as compared with RMB1,495,630,000 for the corresponding period
last year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2020, gross profit of the Group
amounted to RMB2,442,407,000, representing a decrease of 11.0%
as compared with RMB2,745,410,000 for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to
the decrease in revenue of condiment, tobacco raw materials and
flavours and fragrances segments, and the decrease in gross profit
margin. Gross profit margin for the current year was approximately
63.4%), representing a decrease of 1.3 percentage points from
64.7% of the corresponding period last year. It was mainly
attributable to the changes in products’ mix of the Group and the
adjustments of selling price of products in response to the fierce
competition in the market.
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Other income and other gains - net

For the year ended 31 December 2020, other income and other
gains (net) of the Group was RMB100,497,000, representing a
decrease of RMB125,012,000 as compared with RMB225,509,000
for the corresponding period last year. The decrease in other
income and other gains was mainly due to currency exchange
loss of RMB85,028,000 was recorded in this year while currency
exchange gain of RMB36,856,000 was recorded in last year. The
currency exchange loss for the current year was mainly due to
the Group’s secured long-term loans (balance as at 31 December
2020: RMB1,692,855,000) were borrowed and settled by the
Company in RMB, whereas the functional currency of the Company
was HKD. The exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollar
rose significantly during the current year, thus currency exchange
loss was incurred. If the currency exchange loss were excluded,
other income and other gains (net) for the current year would be
RMB185,525,000, representing a decrease of RMB3,128,000 as
compared with RMB188,653,000 (after the currency exchange gain
of RMB36,856,000 were excluded) for the last year.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised
travelling expenses, transportation costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, salaries and office expenses. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the selling and marketing expenses of the Group
were RMB317,001,000, representing a decrease of 11.5% as
compared with RMB358,305,000 for the last year. It was mainly
attributable to the decrease in transportation, travelling, sales and
marketing activities during the current year. Selling and marketing
expenses of the current year accounted for approximately 8.2% of
the total revenue, which was basically the same as approximately
8.4% for the last year.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s administrative
expenses amounted to RMB820,221,000, representing a decrease
of 5.4% as compared with RMB867,398,000 for the last year. It was
mainly attributable to the decrease in travelling and professional
expenses during the current year. Administrative expenses for the
current year accounted for approximately 21.3% of total revenue,
representing an increase of approximately 0.8 percentage point
as compared with 20.5% for last year. The increase of such ratio
was mainly attributable to large portion of administrative expenses
was fixed costs, such as depreciation, amortisation and staff
remuneration, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operating profit

For the year ended 31 December 2020, operating profit of the Group
was RMB902,792,000, representing a decrease of approximately
47.8% as compared with RMB1,728,811,000 of last year. The
operating profit margin was approximately 23.4%, representing a
decrease of approximately 17.4 percentage points as compared with
approximately 40.8% for last year. It was mainly attributable to the
recognition of goodwill impairment of Jiahao of RMB495,498,000,
currency exchange loss of RMB85,028,000, and a decrease in
revenue during the current year.

If the goodwill impairment of Jiahao were excluded, the operating
profit for the current year would be RMB1,398,290,000, representing
a decrease of 19.1% as compared with RMB1,728,811,000 of last
year, and the operating profit margin would be decreased by 4.5
percentage points to approximately 36.3% for the current year. At
the same time, if currency exchange loss of RMB85,028,000 and
currency exchange gain of RMB36,856,000 were also excluded
for the current year and last year respectively, the operating profit
for the current year would be RMB1,483,318,000, representing a
decrease of 12.3% as compared with RMB1,691,955,000 (after
currency exchange gain were excluded) of last year, and the
operating profit margin for the current year would be approximately
38.5%), decreased by 1.4 percentage points as compared with
approximately 39.9% (after currency exchange gain were excluded)
of last year, mainly attributable to the decrease in gross profit margin
for the current year.

Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2020, income tax expense of the
Group was RMB280,382,000, representing a decrease of 24.6% as
compared with RMB372,076,000 of last year. Income tax rate for the
current year was approximately 29.6%. If the goodwill impairment
of Jiahao were excluded, income tax rate would be approximately
19.4% for the current year, which was decreased by approximately
1.9 percentage points as compared with 21.3% for the last year,
such decrease was mainly attributable to additional subsidiaries of
the Group were awarded high-tech enterprises which enable them
to be entitled to preferential tax rate during the current year, and
the decrease in withholding income tax on dividends distribution by
subsidiaries in mainland in the current year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2020, profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company was RMB418,399,000, representing
a decrease of RMB693,605,000 or 62.4% as compared with
RMB1,112,004,000 of last year. It was mainly due to Jiahao's
goodwill impairment of RMB495,498,000, currency exchange loss of
RMB85,028,000 and the decrease in revenue in the current year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

If the goodwill impairment of Jiahao were excluded, profit
attributable to the equity holder of the Company for the current
year would be RMB913,897,000, representing a decrease of 17.8%
as compared with that of last year. At the same time, if currency
exchange loss of RMB85,028,000 and currency exchange gain of
RMB36,856,000 were also excluded for the current year and last year
respectively, profit attributable to the equity holder of the Company
for the current year would be RMB998,925,000, representing a
decrease of 7.1% as compared with RMB1,075,148,000 (after
currency exchange gain were excluded) of last year.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2020, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB7,145,001,000 (31 December 2019: RMB6,957,179,000).
The Group generates its working capital mainly through its
operating activities to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31
December 2020, the Group's cash and bank balances amounted to
RMB6,335,596,000 (31 December 2019: RMB5,722,074,000), over
80% of which was held in RMB. In addition, the Group held wealth
management products of RMB540,492,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB726,191,000) which was classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Bank borrowings and debt ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB2,708,230,000 (31 December 2019: RMB2,998,776,000), of
which secured loan amounted to RMB1,692,855,000 (31 December
2019: RMB2,310,474,000) was due within three years, and the
unsecured loans amounted to RMB1,015,375,000 (31 December
2019: RMB688,302,000) were due within one to two years. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the average annual interest
rate of the secured loan was 5.7% (31 December 2019: 5.7%),
and the average annual interest rate of the unsecured loans was
2.6% (31 December 2019: 3.6%). As at 31 December 2020, the
Group's gearing ratio (total debts, include current and non-current
borrowings, divided by total equity (excludes non-controlling
interests) was 22.8%, which was lower than the 25.4% as of
31 December 2019. It was mainly attributable to the repayment
of approximately RMB618 million secured loan related to the
acquisition of Jiahao during the current year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investing activities

The Group's investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger &
acquisition activities related to the strategical development strategies.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the net cash generated
from investing activities amounted to RMB1,175,188,000, mainly
generated from the withdrawal of short-term time deposits. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, the net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB1,072,514,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the net cash used in
financing activities amounted to RMB1,031,641,000, mainly
comprised of cash dividends of approximately RMB450,951,000 paid
to shareholders of the Company, cash dividends of RMB247,637,000
paid to non-controlling interests, repayment of bank loans of
RMB796,368,000 and addition of bank loans of RMB556,679,000.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the net cash used in
financing activities amounted to RMB2,671,539,000.

Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and
end of a relevant financial year divided by the total revenue for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with the customers. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group’s average trade receivables turnover
period was 91 days, which basically remained the same as 88 days
for the corresponding period last year.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial year divided by the cost of goods sold for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods
granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's average trade payables
turnover period was 73 days, which basically remained stable as
compared with 77 days for the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's inventory balance amounted
to RMB854,746,000, representing a decrease of RMB76,639,000
as compared with RMB931,385,000 as at 31 December 2019.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the inventory turnover
period (calculated on the basis of the average amount of inventory
balances as at the beginning and end of a relevant financial year
divided by the total cost of goods sold for the corresponding period
and multiplied by 360 days) was 228 days, increased by 8 days as
compared with 220 days for the corresponding period last year.
The increase of such ratio was mainly resulted from the adjustment
of inventory stock up strategy to maintain safety stock level after
considering the impacts of Pandemic and US-China trade war on
supply chain.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the revenue is denominated in RMB, with the
exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials and
equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as USD
or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated in HKD,
USD and RMB. Management concurs the views of the People’s Bank
of China on the RMB exchange rate, that is, the RMB exchange rate
has the capability to continuously remain basically stable within a
reasonable range of equilibrium.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’'s equity interest in Jiahao
Foodstuff Limited and Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd, and its
land and buildings in Zhongshan China were used as collateral for a
bank loan of approximately RMB1.69 billion.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of the purchase of property, plant, equipment, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, etc.,
contracted for but not provided in the financial statements
amounting to approximately RMB177,040,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB265,106,000), which was mainly investment in domestic and
overseas funds amounted to RMB101,326,000.

Contingent liabilities

Based on the information available to the Board, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #{TE=

Ms. CHU Lam-ﬁﬁ
AMELZL

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 51, the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and
the Chairlady of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has been a
member of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu
(Executive Director of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “C1"” as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in formulating strategies
and making executive decisions on business operation, investments and market
development. She was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong Province). Ms. Chu,
through the corporations controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of shares of the
Company as set out on pages 95 to 96 of this annual report headed under Directors'
Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures.
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Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 54, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman, President and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been
a member of the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “X1” and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “X2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics and is a certified
accountant, certified tax specialist and certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over
20 years of financial and corporate management experience. He previously worked
in domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior management member of a
foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the
Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.
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Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 58, an Executive Director, Vice President and the
Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the Board
since March 2004. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the
University of London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a Bachelor’s degree in
business studies and a Master’s degree in international accounting. He is a fellow
of CPA Australia Ltd., The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators), and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and a member of its Technical Consultation Panel, China
Focus Group and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute and its associate instructor. Mr. Poon has extensive experience and
knowledge in areas of compliance, corporate finance and corporate governance of

listed companies.
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 28, an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has been
a member of the Board since November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam
Yiu (the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “L1” and the legal representative of those companies marked with “L2”
as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lam was educated
in the United Kingdom and the United States of America. For corporate management
experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and legal representative of a
private company, which is engaged in e-commerce business in China. He previously
served as a director and the general manager of a company which is engaged in
advertising media business in China and a director of a non-profit foundation in China.

MEFERE 285 ARRBITEST > B2013F1MARLETEFERE -
TERAMEZ L (ARREFEER BRITE BTEFRERRR)
5T MAELETNRERGA P B RERMEIARD BB L RTL2IFHRZA
RATEMBRRANEEREERRA - MEERRBEREBEZEZHE - 5t
CEEEERTE MELERBAR - REZETRARLEETHHBEHNAA

BEEBEERLEERERA  BER - RETHELLESEREBHORFEL,

EENHELERBTERBA—FEANESENES -

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45

Mr. LAM Ka Yu;}
MEFEE



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEEREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B EHITES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu "
TR EE

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 63, an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the Board
since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate
finance and regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was an assistant
vice president of the Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and his duties
included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in relation to
their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also
served as a senior consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.
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Ms. MA Yunyan, aged 59, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. Ma
has been a member of the Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from the
Law School of Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer in China
in 1986. She is the senior Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. She is a member of the First
ChiNext Listing Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (appointed in June 2020),
and was a member of the Fourth, Eighth and Ninth Listing Committee of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. From August 2009 to August 2011, she was a member of the Growth
Enterprises Board Public Offering Review Committee of China Securities Regulatory
Committee. She has been dedicated to teaching and doing research in the law school in
relation to international commerce and investment aspects for 10 years. She has years
of experience in the legal field in relation to the capital markets, including investment,
merger and acquisition, issuance of securities, etc., and has lead-managed the issuance
of shares and convertible bonds and major restructuring of numerous companies listed
in PRC and Hong Kong.
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Mr. WU Chi Keung, aged 64, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wu has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Mr. Wu is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom
and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu
has over 30 years of experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger
and acquisitions. He was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu until he retired in
December 2008.

HEEEE - 6457 ARARBIUIIFNTES ERZBENFHEZEEZ
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TEBA-

)

& Mr. WU Chi Keung
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Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, aged 58, an Independent Non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Yan has been a member of
the Board since May 2019. Mr. Yan graduated from University of Technology, Sydney
with a Master of Management. Mr. Yan previously served as the Director of the MBA
(Mandarin International) Education Centre of the University of Technology, Sydney
from 1998 to 2000, the General Manager of Insearch Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd. from
2001 to 2005, the General Manager of Ecole Fashion Consulting (Beijing) Ltd. from
2006 to 2013 and the Director of Global Finance Development Education Center
of PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University from 2013 to 2020. Mr. Yan is the
president of China Global Philanthropy Institute (CGPI) since September 2020.

Jonathan Jun YANS 4 » 5855 AR A BUFMITESENERLZESZE -
B2019FC A BHIEEEKE - AL EENERABEAE  EEEEL -
BR5E E TR 1998F £2000F £ B E BHE K B i BB E £ XBIBRMBAZK B # 0»
FAE : R2001F E2005F F R R (L) BRABARLIE  KR2006F 5
203 FEEEE M ERZER Ut R) AR ARMALIE  H2013F £2020F £
BEARERAEONCHEBR2REMBERLERLEELR202009A 5 &
ERINEE A FERBRE

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN
Jonathan Jun YAN :
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT SR EEE

Ms. YUAN Xiaogih
REHEBLx

Ms. YUAN Xiaoqin, aged 52, a president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group
since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “YX1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with
"YX2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds
an MBA degree and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yuan served
as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise. She has over 20 years of
experience in senior management position. Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director
of China Association of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, deputy director
of China Association of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Shanghai
Food Additive & Batching Association and consultant of the Federation of Industry
and Commerce in Chaoyang District, Shantou City. She was a representative of the
People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City.
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Mr. ZHAO Dexu, aged 44, a vice president of the Group, joined the Group since July
2020. Mr. Zhao is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with
“ZD1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with “ZD2" as set
out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Zhao graduated with a
Master's degree in Computer Science from The Brandenburg University of Technology
Cottbus—Senftenberg in Germany and had previously worked in Germany. Mr. Zhao
was selected as a member of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan” (Xinjiang Project), as
an “overseas high level talent” of Jiangsu Province and as a “high-end foreign talent”
in Shanghai. He was presented the “2012 Best Value CIO Award” in 2012 and was
named as one of China’s digital transformation leader in 2018 and 2019. Since 2019,
he also serves as the sixth batch of postgraduate advisor of Jiangsu Province and an
industry professor of Jiangsu University. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhao held
executive position in large diversified organizations. He has extensive experiences in the
fields of corporate management, strategic and information management.

BEM L 4457 0 NEBBIEE > B2020F7ARMAKRER - HEE T2
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BER  IHABINSERIAT R EEBMINESEIXRATL « HAEER20124F
BER[2012FEZKEBMECOIATN2018FE R2019FEhEH AL EHA BT
AW e 20195 #E - WA A RBHFTIHEAFE "M T A EBMEBEEEHFER
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Mr. ZHAO Dex_u.}
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Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 57, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the
Group since August 2006, responsible for marketing and sales of tobacco flavours.
Mr. Choy is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked “FC1" as
set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. He holds a diploma of
applied chemical technology of Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Choy served
as a marketing manager in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances
companies. Mr. Choy has over 20 years of experience in flavours and fragrances
marketing and management.

ML - 5755 EWRH BB 5200678 A EMAKEE - & HER
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- O A E R E R TR R E S E A -

Mr. CHOY Man Fai
BYEEE

Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 73, the chief flavourist of Huabao Flavours and general
manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany, joined the Group since
February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “AD1"” as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Davies holds a Higher National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of
creation and applications in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances
companies and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and
Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years of experience in tobacco flavours.

Alan DAVIES% % - 7355 - EE R D & /F 3835 A - 2 BlAromascapefff &
D ABAEIR - B20074F2 3 R A AN 5 B © Daviest & TR HN AR & B 15 ]k
34N B TADI IS 2 AR B EBMB AR ESE - Davies k£ H R E
Grimsby College of TechnologyW BmEI 2GS MEIRE  IMEFBZREH
BRAIZ M BB E R AR MER - 8 EBBA « Carreras Rothmans * Dragoco
Symrise fiE B E S RFAEMAEERBEMER @ Daviesst £ A BB =11
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Mr. Alan DAVIES
Alan DAVIES% 4%
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A #,

Mr. REN Miao, aged 41, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group since
September 2016. Mr. Ren is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “RM1” as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Ren graduated from Taiyuan University of Technology with a Bachelor's degree
in Machinery Design, Manufacturing and Automation. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Ren held several executive positions such as marketing director, vice president,
etc. at various companies, and has extensive practical experience in marketing strategy
management.
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Mr. REN Miao
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Mr. GAO Xu, aged 37, the president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business Division and
general manager of the Company’s subsidiaries named — Shanghai Huabao Biological
Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology Development Co., Ltd.
("Guangdong Jinye”) and Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd, joined the Group
since April 2007.Mr. Gao is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “GX1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with
"GX2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Gao
holds a Bachelor's degree in Food Science and Engineering from Nanjing University
of Finance and Economics and a Master’s degree in Food Science from Jiangnan
University. Since joining the Group in 2007, Mr. Gao has held different positions,
namely technician of tobacco flavour market service center, deputy general manager
of Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance Co., Ltd., assistant to the chairman of
Guangdong Jinye, vice president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business Division and
president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business Division. He has extensive operational
and managerial experience in tobacco raw materials.
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Ms. LI Xiaojun
FPMELL

Ms. LI Xiaojun, aged 51, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group since
June 2000. Ms. Liis also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with
“LX1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with “LX2" as set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree
and is a qualified Intermediate Accountant. After joining the Group, Ms. Li served as
a financial manager in the Group and presidents of several subsidiaries. Since August
2020, she is also the chairman of Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology Co., Ltd.
(a subsidiary of the Group listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations).
Ms. Li has about 20 years of extensive experiences in the field of corporate
management.
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize
the profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders
while taking into account the interest of other legitimate
stakeholders (UK Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognises the
importance and benefits of good corporate governance practices
and has adopted certain corporate governance and disclosure
practices aiming at a high level of transparency and accountability.
The Company is committed to continuously improving its corporate
governance practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (the
“Financial Year”), the Company had complied with the code
provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate, adopted the
recommended best practice as set out in the CG Code, except for
code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Chairlady of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company, took up the position of CEO
since 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider matters
relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of the view
that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of power
and authority of the Board and the executive management. The
effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of corporate
strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
INEDs of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as
they are subject to retirement by rotation no later than the third
annual general meeting of the Company since their last appointment
or re-election and are eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s bye-laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those set out in the
CG Code.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of
applying and complying with the CG Code but about promoting
and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The
Directors will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
the standard operations of the Company on the basis of the
experience and regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of the
Shareholders, and to safeguard Shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.
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Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
to information required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) between 21 August
2020 (being the date of approval of the Company’s 2020 interim
report) and 19 March 2021 (being the date of approval of this
annual report) are set out below:

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN was appointed as the president of
China Global Philanthropy Institute (CGPI) with effect from
2 September 2020; and he ceased to act as the Director of
Global Finance Development Education Center of PBC School
of Finance, Tsinghua University with effect from September
2020;

Ms. Ma Yunyan, ceased to be an independent director of
Shenzhen Techand Ecology & Environment Co., Ltd. on 26

1. Jonathan Jun YANZ%EAEZ(F A FYIE
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3. Mr. POON Chiu Kwok is an independent non-executive 3.
director of Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited, shares of which
were formerly listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange until 8

March 2021.
THE BOARD EEg
Board Composition EEERE

The Company has a well-balanced Board. The Board comprises four
Executive Directors and four INEDs. The members of the Board are as
follows:

ARARE—AHENEZES -EETE€HNA
WTEERNEBYIERTEEHK -EF
EHREMT :

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)

HITEE

AMERL (ZEREEHNTE)
BB E (B /ERAEE)
EIRBSEE (BTN AIE)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBTESE
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu K EAE
Ms. MA Yunyan nE R LT
Mr. WU Chi Keung AR L E

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YANZE 4
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board, except
for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (both are
Executive Directors of the Company). Biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 45 to 48 of this annual report. The present
Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects of
production and operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. Two out of four
INEDs possess recognised professional qualification in accounting.
The INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board'’s deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enable the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advice for the development of
the Group's businesses.

During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate qualification, or accounting or related financial
management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules). During the Financial Year, Ms. MA Yunyan (“Ms. Ma"), one
of the INEDs, retired by rotation and, being eligible, offered herself
for re-election at the AGM held on 18 May 2020. Ms. Ma joined the
Company since September 2004 and has been serving as an INED
for more than nine years. Ms. Ma is a professional and qualified
lawyer in the PRC and has extensive experience in the legal field
in relation to capital markets. Throughout Ms. Ma’s directorship
with the Company, Ms. Ma has participated in Board meetings to
give impartial advice and exercise independent judgement, served
on various committees of the Board, but has never engaged in any
executive management of the Company. Taking into consideration
of her independent scope of work in the past years, the Board
(including the INEDs other than Ms. Ma) considered that the long
service of Ms. Ma would not affect her exercise of independent
judgement and was satisfied that Ms. Ma has the required character,
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an INED. As
such, the Board (including the INEDs other than Ms. Ma), considered
Ms. Ma to be independent under the Listing Rules despite the
length of her service. The Board (including the INEDs other than
Ms. Ma) was of the view that Ms. Ma’s continued tenure would
bring considerable stability to the Board and that Ms. Ma’s legal and
regulatory experience in China and understanding of the Company’s
operations and business would continue to contribute an impartial
and independent view to the Board. The Company has complied
with the code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code that the election of
Ms. Ma as the INED was subject to a separate resolution.
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The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the INEDs are considered to be independent pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu") is the Chairlady of the Board
(responsible for the management of Board’s operation and
development of the Group’s strategic planning) and Executive
Director of the Company. She took up the position of CEO
(responsible for important management and business decisions
making of the Group) since 9 April 2013. Ms. Chu has extensive
experience in business operation and strategic planning. The Board
believes that Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles of the Chairlady and
CEO concurrently, is beneficial to the business development and
management of the Group.

Mr. XIA Liqun as Vice Chairman and President, is responsible for the
daily operational management of the Group and reports to the CEO
directly. With the support of Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice Chairman
and President, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the Vice President and
Company Secretary, and the Qualified Accountant, the Chairlady
shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at board meetings and receive adequate, complete, reliable and
timely information for making decisions. Apart from the above,
the Chairlady is also responsible for the duties as specified in code
provisions A.2.4 to A.2.9 of the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability
of the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of
the Company for the Shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required by directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairlady, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance
and assessing the effectiveness of management strategies. The
Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings with senior
management of the Group at which operational issues and financial
performance are evaluated.
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The Bye-laws set out the responsibilities and proceedings of the
Board. Significant operational policies have to be discussed and
approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to meet their
obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in place with
clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action that
may be brought against them in the course of execution of their
duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at
the physical meetings are set out on page 74 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and
the relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least
3 days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of such minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Legal Department and Compliance Department
of the Company with a view to ensuing that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Directors are able
to seek independent professional advice as and when required at the
Company’s expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in
board meetings and serve on the sub-board committees.

During the Financial Year, the Chairlady has held a meeting with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors.

TEERBRE

AAAAEEANEZTEEELEETRETFNH
FEX - EAEBHRRYAKEZTS T mMNE
- SREFETHE ARKRAEER
ABMRBNBH A EEMER - RAF 25
EENARAZERERE EEREEN

HITBERAIGEABEMEEFL  AESF
ZHEE RRIRE

EEgER
EXEeBFRTHETINETEEE MWK

RMEBEE BRASEMBRR-EF
HESHENLCBREANNERFETIE

ARABEERBTARP THNERSES
EXREREEFTCERBE MEFAKHE
ERBEEMASEZRE S22 ELAME
BN EEEFEERETARLZBAHE
EER UWERSES LEHAMITRE -

EXeEER B9 LBNVIRNER
Al DR eRXEEREHEZTZEENE
BEHNMREER  TRLBRERRAHAA
WERE AIHMAEEREZESZEEH -
WMENEFHEEFEERRERNFTHETR
Bz Z(F)EFTHHERR EFEH
BRECHNBYESTS2EGRWFHIRK -

EEFHEREHNETE X RERER
ARAZRHERIG R RIME, AR RER
MEARBNERNMRY  BREFSRF
LB ERRAREIEESEST EF
EEFERERBIEXESR  FHER
HARB XN - ARRISEBILIFNTES
BHE2HEESEEH UREIEFSTETR

BEg®%8-

RABREFERN TROCEBIUFUTES
BT -REBEMEFLENGH

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2k AR A7 2020 Annual Report %3k

57



58

Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third annual general
meeting of the Company since their last appointment or re-election
and are eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
Financial Year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the Shares are
set out on pages 95 to 96 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which are
the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee),
Ms. MA Yunyan, Mr. WU Chi Keung, and one Executive Director,
Mr. XIA Ligun.
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The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to matters
relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior
management. In discharging its responsibilities, the Remuneration
Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company'’s share option scheme (if
any).

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was
published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the Financial Year, the Remuneration
Committee met once to, among other things, review the emolument
packages of the Directors and senior management. The individual
attendance of Remuneration Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 74 of this annual report. Details of the emolument
of the Directors are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements while details of the Share Option Scheme to the Directors
and senior management are set out on pages 86 to 88 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
(the chairman of Audit Committee), Ms. MA Yunyan, Mr. WU Chi
Keung and Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN.
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board. In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following work:

o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the reporting
period;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems;

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the

Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s
external auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems.
During the Financial Year, the Audit Committee met three times to,
among other things, review the financial reports for 2019 audited
annual results and 2020 interim results (including the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal controls system. The individual
attendance of Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on
page 74 of this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee
were satisfied with the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
audited annual results for the Financial Year.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of Nomination Committee) and two
INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu and Mr. WU Chi Keung.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration
and implementing the Board’'s approved nomination policy,
considering the development targets and strategies of the Company
and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors. In discharging its responsibilities,
the Nomination Committee has performed the following work:
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. To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes
to the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and select or make recommendations to the board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board,
and make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was published
on the Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range and
balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the Board.
Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy, review the Policy from
time to time, and report to the Board on their decisions or propose
recommendations on any amendments for the Board's review and
approval, in order to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee met twice
for, among other things, reviewing the board structure, the diversity
of Board members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well balanced
and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational background,
professional skills and experience. It meets the needs of the business
operations and development of the Group. The Board is of the view
that every Director has dedicated sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company. Each Director had disclosed to the Company
at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships held in other
listed companies or nature of offices held in public organizations and
other significant commitments. The Company has also requested
Directors to provide in a timely manner any change in such
information. The individual attendance of Nomination Committee
members at meetings is set out on page 74 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control system (embedded in
the operations of the Company and forms part of the Company’s
culture) includes:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the Company and to the changes
in business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and

o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with scope of
works advised by the Audit Committee.

The Legal Department and Compliance Department are led
by professional legal staff and experienced company secretary
respectively. Together with other business functions (including
Internal Audit Department) of the Group, the Legal Department and
Compliance Department monitor and assess risk regularly, boost
related management standards and evaluate investment projects.
The Company has a long-term engagement with a reputable
international law firm, Herbert Smith Freehills, as its annual retainer
counsel for provision of legal advice relating to compliance of Listing
Rules and regulatory requirements.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements a comprehensive budget management and
the overall financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurring expenditures, and regular review
and make comparison between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department had carried
out an annual review on the internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and
review the effectiveness of an internal control system and includes
the following works:

(i) To follow up on individual matters concerning the
improvement of the internal control system in accordance with
the guidance and suggestions of independent directors and
the external auditor of the Company;

(i)  To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group, by integrating
the internal control framework set out by The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Committee
("COSO"), the China Internal Auditing Standards, the basic
internal control standards and complementary guidelines of
the Group, etc. as basic requirements;

(iii)  To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on
risk control priority basis pursuant to the risk control principles
mentioned above; and

(iv)  To design and review the questionnaires on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems submitted
by the head offices of the Group, subsidiaries, business sectors
of the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company received the
information about local, market and operations-related dynamic
movements regularly and their understanding of the risk assessment
is enhanced through the on-the-job training and regular senior
management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the potential
risk management.
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Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department Legal Department and
Compliance Department of the Company will inform and
report to the relevant Directors regarding the factors that have
impact on the profit and price based on the nature of business
and their own experience. During the course of execution, the
concerned project teams of the Company will handle relevant
documents and report to the relevant personnel (including the
Directors).

- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
and Compliance Department will separately inform relevant
members of the project team that dealing in the shares of the
Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the price sensitive information forms regarding the
daily operation and connected transactions of the Company
will be circulated to relevant departments at the beginning
of every month by the Finance Department, and the Finance
Department will combine and submit the forms to the
Compliance Department for overall review in the middle of
each month, ensuring that there are no material omissions.
The Legal Department will also assist to regularly confirm with
the Compliance Department for any material contracts (if any).

During the Financial Year, Internal Audit Department has presented its
review report and make recommendations to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
and reported the progress of the work plan and related findings,
particularly those related to new members of the Group to the Board
at board meeting.
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Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems and
Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control system, the
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees to raise concerns, in a confidential manner, with the
Audit Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and
system regularly. At the beginning of 2021, the Company had also
established an anti-fraud leadership team, aimed at strengthening
the guidance, organization and coordination of anti-fraud and
whistle-blowing works to reinforce standard operations and risk
management.

The Directors has further strengthened corporate governance
practices, including execution of the internal reporting policy
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an on-going basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation. The Board has further strengthened
corporate governance practices by establishing lending policy to
monitor its credit level. In addition, the annual retainer counsel of
the Company has provided the Directors (existing and new board
members) and the relevant senior executives with training on Listing
Rules, regulatory requirements and cases of enforcement at least
twice a year.

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department of the
Company has carried out internal control audits in respect of those
risk areas, such as business operation, financial system, project
investment and management, corporate governance, etc., and also
head offices, business sectors and certain subsidiaries of the Group.
The Internal Audit Department has reported to the Directors in respect
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system and significant risks. The Board reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries by considering reviews performed by
the Audit Committee with the assistance of the management team,
the Internal Audit Department and the external auditors.

As a result of the above measures and upon review, the Board
confirms, and management has also confirmed to the Board, that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate) and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records
of training they received during the Financial Year. Directors
participated in the training which included reading regulatory
updates, attending seminars or conducting training sessions and
exchanging views.

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RMEL L

Mr. XIA Liqun BRI R A

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok &R 5T A&

Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FreIkEE

Ms. MA Yunyan =R+

Mr. WU Chi Keung HA A8 5 A4

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YANYE &

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Financial Year, Mr. Poon has taken over 100 hours of
continuing professional trainings.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The Company’s external auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers. There
has been no change in the Company’s external auditors for the
preceding three years.

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 105 to 113 of this annual report.

During the Financial Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the
Group are as follows:

TEERBRE

GEEIE: 2

EERAVBHERRNEAE
EZeERBEAUERTIRMBERR - RE
MEBERE BREZRERCRET BB
BOMERE ERCERA  BENEF
BRFBEMTANRE HELEEEDER
o ARABEMEERNHBMEEDERM -

S GRS
AR ER B AR S AE S B
i < S8 = 4 PO A A ) 2 S B0 AT A 4 4
788 -

SRR BET E BB E S M I MR LB AE
HBE - BBRRZZBEAREHNANFRS
1051138 °

RABBRFERN » AR A ZEE (2EHE
RADEEMZEED) AAREREHZZEHK
FFRBRE - O BN B ZERNT

Nature of Services REMHE Amount
k]
(RMB'000)
(AR®FT)
Audit services ZE R

— for the audit of the Group — S BT 4,130

— for the statutory and other audits —FRENETE RHEAMBET
of the subsidiaries 4,647
Non-audit services FEIZBUR 75 -

Please also refer to Note 25 to consolidated financial statement set
out on pages 210 to 211 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.

ZHAMEFBBL2EHNAFERE2102
2V BHRE M HmARMFE25 -
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares. The
number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2020 was
3,107,836,876. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements on page 200 of
this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary shares of
the Company were set out below:

TEERBRE

IR R EF

MEREENBROHAEERRG ERBRMD -
2020F12A318 » BEETEBRBRMHEE
#3,107,836,876% « " A AR AF B E A A
FHRFE200BEKAMBREMFISRN-FH
AABEETEBRZBRENAT -

Full details can
be found on
the following

page of Total number Percentage

this report of issued of the issued

HAER Shares held share capital

HRAFH CESoE ] HE#T

Category/Name B|R, &8 LTEE CRITRAEEAE N g

Ms. CHU Lam Yiuy (et SRAREE 2L L) Pages 95 to 96 2,293,408,900 73.79%
£95% 968

Public DNRAL 814,427,976 26.21%

Total A&t 3,107,836,876 100.00%

Note: B AT -

As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of depositary
receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of depositary
receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 30%
(or such other amount as may from time to time be specified in the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs as being the level for triggering
a mandatory general offer) or more of the voting power at general meeting
of the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (“SGM") to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws
of Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from
the said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any
number of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to
which the requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders,
may submit to the Company a written request stating the resolution
intended to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular general
meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that
if an AGM s called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for
the purposes thereof.

ERERB|E
RABARFKIAGNRF

BARMAESSF REE2ERZBHFH
FNOREAARRBBRRAGERREZAAT
BREBEAtTDZ —2BRR REAKIKRSE
EEBAEFENARAWEELEBER
BREFEAMBRREIRE ([BREFRIA
) NEREEHERLPEPAZEMEE-

BERERABTRIARNBRRENAE £
BRHENSEEMBGFE LKE2BK
ALTBZRUEBALABHNESS  EEH
BRABRREIARGEEREL2IRAMERER
RAINBENEEZRME

BREFHARSERESZEREMMEARE
To-HEESAEREEERREREF21IRAR
BHZAE  BEEERALTAAILR1982F
BREQNFEEERD) ([RENE]) B7403) K
ZHRERAZAS  HEULBANTMAEKE
AERBRESEXRERARA=ZMEAEME
BT o

BRRARRASLREZBRNER

BRIERGEFETIRSE - (VNIEEEkHH
BETIRE2ERRAKRERE (BEREX
FIABRRERRGLEZ2RERE) —+5—6%Z
B (e A0 5 () TP R100B /R - 7]
MARRIE2EMERL Y RBENBREEF
AELEHZHRAZR AR BERRERE
REZEMARRMANEBEREENER
{EH B iB1,000F /) = m R it -

REMER /R MBEHABREZERKAL
=& (TBEZNRABULEEE-—BLE
REZ2BRALTZXHER)  XARKER
BEARSSETNEZLNEEH (NE 2R
FEBENER ABRRARGETHED —
HER(MBEMEMER) FEXEARNAF
REENIZEEZME -HERRBFASH
ZEREERBRANEE2RABEHAENEH -
AIZEREZRALFAERERHAANER B
FLEME > TABFSREMER

Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 B EA AR AR 2020 Annual Report 3

71



Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to the
detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website www.
huabao.com.hk.

Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (email: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
mentioned in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the Shareholders. The Company uses a range
of communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars, to ensure its Shareholders are
kept well informed of key business imperatives of the Company.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.hk which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its Shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required
under the Listing Rules are displayed and can be downloaded (for
documents published in the previous 7 years) from the Company’s
website and there is established procedure to ensure timely update
in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its Shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The shareholders’ communication policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk.
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Shareholders’ Meetings held during the Financial Year

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election of
individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during the
Financial Year are summarized as follows:

Meeting Date Venue

=f H & i B

AGM 18 May 2020 Regus Conference
BRERBFRE 2020%5H18H Centre,

35/F, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai,

Hong Kong

B
BT S E B 1855
IR E 15351
ERfreR=E

817

TEERBRE

REBERFERNBITHRRAE
BRAGAEFSTHBFIEH —EEAHRE -
RABBRRERRREG LITEEN BE2F
BIREBEIRZREERAG LREE 8
EEBEREEENES RAPRFEAE
TTZERRREGBRIFWOT .

Resolutions

RER

1. To receive and consider the audited
financial statements and the reports
of the directors and of the auditors
for the year ended 31 December
2019;
EEEHE2019F12A31A8 L FEL
BERVBHRE EFgMEREH
Bl 5 5

2. To declare the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019;
FIREZE2019F12A318 LFEH
HIRAE B

3. To re-elect Directors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;

EREFS UVEEESTEECRS
ZB&

4. To re-appoint the auditors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations; and
BEZHM ITREEFSETH

B

5. To grant general mandates to buy
back shares, to issue shares and to
exercise the buy-back mandate
BT —MEEAEERD  BITR
DRITHEEERE -
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MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS Wi & B

No material mergers and acquisitions of the Group were carried out R ZABIBKNEE R » KA TR B EITEMEA
during the Financial Year. WHESHtIER -

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS FEREXRS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company ZAEFEVIFEBFET HFEBEH N ARNERFS
can be found on pages 98 to 103 of this annual report. £103H °

ATTENDANCE RECORD H 7 52 82

R%% AMBEEARBLFENEBER
CRIALFEFTER EFZEQER

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through
telephone conferences) at Board meetings, meetings of Board

committees and general meetings during the Financial Year are set &Hxij(/;a’j HERFAFHYOT -
out below:
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Annual
Board Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) General
Meeting(s) BHZEE HMWZEE REZEE  Meeting(s)
Ezgei EE EE g2 RRBEEAE
No. of meeting held S 12 3 1 2 1
Executive Directors BTES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO) RNERT (ZEREEHTTE) 112 NAMER  NARER W), N
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President) B R|E %t (5l B #25) 1212 NATEE " NATER N
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and EBRBLE (FERFLTNE)

Company Secretary) 1212 NARER  NATER  NATER 11
Mr. LAM Ka Yu HEFEE 1212 NATER  NARER  NATESR N
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu ks 1212 33 1/1 W), N
Ms. MA Yunyan ERLL 1212 313 1/1 NAZ &R 11
Mr. WU Chi Keung HEREE 1212 33 1/1 22 11
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN Jonathan Jun YAN% & 1212 33 NATER NATER n
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS AEHMBAEREE
During the Financial Year, the Company did not make any RABEKEERN @ KA 5 225 408 &£
amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws. HAEEEET
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The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company’s corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils
the above-mentioned through a designated Investor Relations
Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Company proactively communicated
with investors by multiple channels to convey its latest developments,
performance, and strategic goals so that investors could have a
better understanding of the Group and sets solid foundation for the
Group’s activities in the capital market in the future. Impacted by the
Covid-19 Pandemic, the Company communicated with investors via
conference calls. Investor relations activities conducted by the Group
are as follows,

Details Frequency
Conference Call 6

o Annual general meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions
to be considered at the AGM. The Company’s Chairlady and
the Audit Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and available to answer
questions raised at the AGM.

o Analyst coverage

In order to let investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Group proactively communicated with industry
analysts with an aim to gain more attention from the capital
market.
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At present, the Group are covered by the analysts of research
institutions below,

o First Shanghai Securities Limited
o Tianfeng Securities Company Limited

Detailed financial statements

The Company attaches great importance to annual reports
and interim reports, put a lot of resources for these two
reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of the major
communication bridges between the Company and investors.

Through this approach, the latest information of the Group
can be transmitted to investors, aiming to convey the Group's
comprehensive strategy, operating principles, business and
financial performance and future prospects in a detailed and
accurate manner.

E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press
releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor
relations website (http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/sc/home.
aspx) to publish interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars that enables the Company’s shareholders and
members of the investment community to have timely access
to the most updated information about the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229

E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

Information for investors (as at 31 December 2020)

1. Huabao International Holdings Limited
Board Lot Size 1,000 shares
Number of shares issued 3,107,836,876 shares
Market capitalization Approximately HKD33.192
(based on the closing billion

price of HKD 10.68
per share on
31 December 2020)

Stock code
The Stock Exchange of 00336
Hong Kong Limited
stock code
Reuters ticker 336.HK
Bloomberg ticker 336.HK

REERFERE

REEBRB®

WMEEH  BHE:
EC

i"i,f%

78238 185R
FIRES

3008%F
EEHREREBRAA
KEEBERE

T|aE 1 (852)2877 8999
{5 : (852)2511 8229
B : ir@huabao.com.hk

REEBEB (R-Z2-2F+=-A=+—H)

E#ETROHEA
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+=-RA=+—81
W 8 = I
H10.68TTEE

f& 15 SR
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3,107,836,8760%
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336.HK
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2.

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the company listed on the ChiNext of the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
Board Lot Size

Number of shares issued

Market capitalization
(based on the closing
price of RMB54.87
per share on
31 December 2020)

Stock code
ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange stock code

Reuters ticker

Bloomberg ticker

Financial Calendar

Closing date for transfer of
shares for Annual
General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Ex-dividend date

Closing date for transfer of
shares for proposed final
dividends

Date of payment of
proposed final dividends
for the fiscal year ended
31 December 2020

Financial year-end date

100 shares
615,880,000 shares

Approximately RMB33.793
billion

300741

300741.5Z

300741: CH

From 13 May 2021
(Thursday) to
18 May 2021 (Tuesday)
(both days inclusive)

18 May 2021 (Tuesday)

21 May 2021 (Friday)

From 25 May 2021
(Tuesday) to 26 May
2021 (Wednesday)
(both day inclusive)

On or about
9 June 2021
(Wednesday)

31 December
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 (the “Financial Year").

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Company did not undertake any material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production, distribution
and sales of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials and condiment products in the PRC. The activities of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of
the operating activities of the Group during the Financial Year, and
an indication of likely future developments in the Group's business,
as required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
can be found in the sections headed “Chairlady’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages 9 to
10 and pages 11 to 44 of this annual report respectively. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following
are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the
date of this report.

The risk of downstream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the PRC
Advertising Law in 2015, the restrictions on tobacco marketing have
in turn become more rigid, and consequently the room for marketing
the tobacco market becomes narrower. On the other hand, the
tax-induced price hike policy has raised the consumption tax and
wholesale price, and subsequently escalated the consumption
cost of cigarettes, which to a certain extent has suppressed the
demand for cigarette consumption. With the tightening of tobacco
control policies by the international health organizations and local
governments, and the increased awareness of the public on health
and tobacco control, it is possible that the production and sales
volumes of cigarette will further decline in the future, which in turn
will cause the reduction of sales income and operating profit of
the tobacco-related products of the Company. In this regard, the
Company will continue to pay attention to the impacts of industry
and policy changes on the business, and will adjust our business and
development strategies in a timely manner.
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The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact on
the downstream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement of
people’s living standards, consumers have increased their awareness
of health and environment protection. On the other hand, the
age structure and level of consumers continue to evolve. New
consumption trend as well as consumption concept and consumption
behaviour keep changing. The demand for the Group’s downstream
tobacco, food, daily chemical industry continues to change, thus
affecting the Group’s flavours and fragrances and food ingredients
related products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the insight into
consumer behaviour, and further optimize the product structure to
meet the requirements of a new generation of consumers.

The impact of food safety policy

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management system
for the food industry, and the major laws, regulations and standards
involved are the Food Safety Law of the PRC and the Announcement
on the Licence for Production of Food Additives. At the same time,
international organizations such as the International Standards
Organization (ISO), the Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC),
and the International Organization of the Flavor Industry (IOFI)
have formulated and promulgated product standards and industry
norms to provide industry management systems and the basis for
formulating the relevant industry standards.

To a certain extent, the new policy will increase the operating
costs of enterprises. Should there be any further changes in the
above policies and standards, it will have a direct impact on the
Company’s future development. The Company will continue to
make corresponding adjustment, investment and improvement in
product structure, production technology and product performance
and other aspects to ensure our products and operation comply with
food safety standards.

The impact of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection
by the society, the government’s continuous improvement in
environmental protection may lead to more stringent environmental
protection standards and requirements in the future; if the Company
is unable to upgrade the production facilities in time to improve
the handling of wastage so as to comply with the more stringent
environmental standards and the requirements for environmental
protection, it will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
production and operations.
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Directors’ Report

The risk of core technology and formula leakage

The Group, having always highly valued R&D work, owns a
state-certified enterprise technology centre and an overseas R&D
centre. Through long-term development, the Group has developed
numerous core technologies and flavours and fragrances formulas
which have intellectual property rights. The Group faces the risk
of technology leakage since there are difficulties in protecting
most of the Group’s core technologies, especially flavours and
fragrances formulas, by using patents so that the Group had to rely
on its confidentiality mechanisms for protection. The Group has
adopted extremely stringent confidentiality measures to some of the
core technologies and strictly follows those measures. The Group
implements process segregation to important production aspects
which only allows the core formulas of the various flavours and
fragrances products to be known to a few core technicians (who had
been bound by Confidentiality Agreements), thereby minimizing and
controlling the risk of core technology and formula leakage.

The risk on production and operation affected by the
Pandemic

Since early 2020, the Pandemic has been spreading all over the
country and until this moment, the battle for the prevention and
control of the Pandemic is still on-going. Recently, the widespread
of the Pandemic is affecting many countries around the world.
The World Health Organization declared that the Pandemic is of
international concern. If the Pandemic continues, there exists an
uncertainty of its impacts on the production and operation of
the Company. The Company will continue to closely monitor the
situation of the Pandemic, assess its impacts on the Company in
areas such as financial position and operating results, and will
continue to enforce strictly the prevention and control measures
to protect the safety of employees in accordance with the national
epidemic prevention and control requirements. In the meantime,
we will continue our best efforts to ensure the smooth execution of
production, operation and management work for the sustainable
and stable operation of the Company, and to satisfy the needs of
our customers, in order to minimize the impacts of the Pandemic on
the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. Our plants have basically installed equipment
and procedures designed to comply with the requirements in
business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so
as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees. It implements green office practices such as
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server; minimizes documents printing and copying; and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2020 and
the requirements under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules. The ESG report of the
Company for 2020 will be published no later than 3 months after
the publication of this annual report on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and of the Company
(www.huabao.com.hk).

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made to the remuneration packages to align with
the market standards. Further details on the Group’s staff are set
out in the “Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction”
section of this report.
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Directors’ Report

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years to
maximize client value, maintains good relationship with its customers
and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with the customers
and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, emails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.
Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements to promote
probity and environmental protection with respective suppliers and
conducted an evaluation of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining
business relationships with suppliers and customers based on
principle of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time),
the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Financial Year by
business segment is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 116 of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable and
sustainable dividend policy. The Group would strive to strike a
balance between the short-term dividend returns and long-term
development of the Group prudently. When considering the dividend
policy, the Group will comprehensively observe the macro-economic
operation, the competition pattern of the industry and the Group’s
own development strategy. Under the premise of ensuring that
the Group has sufficient working capital and capital expenditure
to implement the development strategy, the Group will distribute
surplus funds to Shareholders and reward their support for the
Group.
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As mentioned in the Company’s 2020 interim report, in the first
half year of 2020, worldwide economic activities were stagnant and
showed nothing but gloomy prospects. Market demands decreased
significantly and business operating environment became unstable.
In order to maintain a stable financial condition, boost operational
efficiency, and increase working capital reserves to tackle the
economic recession as well as sustain the Group’s normal operation
and competitiveness, the Board decided to revise the Company’s
dividend policy after discreet consideration. If the Company pays
dividends, the dividend payout ratio will be adjusted from “50% or
above of the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
for the whole year” to “30% or above of the profit attributable to
the equity holders of the Company for the whole year”. The change
in dividend policy will accordingly affect the dividend (if any) to be
payable by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
onwards.

Proposed final dividend

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per
Share (2019: HK10.0 cents) in cash amounting to approximately
RMB235.4 million in aggregate (2019: approximately RMB285.9
million) for the Financial Year, which is expected to be paid on or
about 9 June 2021 to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 26 May 2021. The payment
of the final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM
which is scheduled to be held on 18 May 2021.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM which is scheduled to be held on 18 May 2021,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 13
May 2021 to 18 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 May
2021. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 18 May 2021 are entitled to attend
and vote at the 2021 AGM.
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CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT
OF FINAL DIVIDEND

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 25 May 2021 to 26 May 2021, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2021. Shareholders whose names
are recorded in the register of members of the Company on 26
May 2021 are entitled to receive the final dividend in cash for the
Financial Year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 118 to 119 and in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to RMB3,896,902,000 (2019: RMB3,683,013,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Financial Year amounted to approximately RMB9,160,000 (2019:
RMB847,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 240 to 241.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) adopted on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”), the 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date. The following is a
summary of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

(a) Purpose
The 2016 Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the
participants to make contributions to and promote benefits of
the Group, developing and maintaining business relationships
with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite
person(s) who or which is/are eligible to participate as
grantee(s) and receive options under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme, and to take up share options to subscribe for Shares.

(c) Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 9 August 2016. Upon approval
by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval by the
Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed renewal
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in manner complying with, and containing the
matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time
to time.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Any excess
over 1% shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at general meeting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting and the Company shall issue
a circular pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
30 business days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration
for accepting the offer of the share option granted. The
grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as may be
determined by the Board (the said period shall not in whatever
case be later than the last day of the 10-year period after the
day on which the offer relating to the option is duly approved
by the Board in accordance with the 2016 Share Option
Scheme (subject to early termination).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer
of the grant of option to the grantee, the 2016 Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (i) the nominal value of the Shares.

The life of the 2016 Share Option Scheme

The 2016 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten
years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be terminated before
expiration).

As at 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report,
there were no outstanding share options and all outstanding
share options granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme
lapsed during the Financial Year.
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Details of share options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed
during the Financial Year under the 2016 Share Option Scheme are
set out as follows:

RAFHREFREA - RIF2016MEE BIHER
7 MR BREFBET

Number of Share Options

BREXA
Cancelled/
Balance as at Granted Exercised lapsed during  Balance as at
Exercise Exercisable 1January  duringthe  during the the Financial 31 December
Grantee Grant Date Price Period 2020 Financial Year Financial Year Year 2020
R20205  AMBEE AMHEE AUREER #2020%
AR REAH k& ufEAs 1R1R &8 akigsd AT E#/%% 12A3NBEH
HKD
A%
Other Participants 6 May 2019 3.708  5/11/2019- 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000 -
EtoRE 2019%576H 30/6/2020
(Both days
inclusive)
(BEMHA
BEERN)
6 May 2019 3.708  5/5/2020- 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000 -
20195 6H 30/6/2020
(Both days
inclusive)
(BRMHA
BEER)
Total 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000 -
CEl

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - GUANGDONG JIAHAO
SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (Note: see Note 19(b)
Share-based payment to the consolidated financial
statements)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the directors of Guangdong
Jiahao passed on 15 October 2020, Guangdong Jiahao, an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, approved, adopted
and implemented a share incentive scheme (the “Share Incentive
Scheme”) in which Eligible Participants (as defined below) will be
entitled to participate. The Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Incentive Scheme.
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Summary of Terms
Purposes

The purposes of the formulation and the implementation of the
Share Incentive Scheme is to establish an effective incentive and
discipline mechanism for Guangdong Jiahao, attract and retain
outstanding talents, so as to fully motivate the management and
core team members of Guangdong Jiahao to effectively align the
interests of the Company, Guangdong Jiahao and its employees, and
to create the future of the Company with concerted effort.

Types of Awards and Who May Participate

Under the Share Incentive Scheme, the board of directors of
Guangdong Jiahao (the “Relevant Board”) (including any committee
or person(s) duly authorized by the Relevant Board) may, at its
discretion, invite directors, senior management, core technical
personnel or other employees of Guangdong Jiahao to participate
in the Share Incentive Scheme, whereby the relevant employees will
be awarded restricted shares (the “Restricted Shares”) and will be
required to settle the relevant subscription price (the “Employee
Subscription Price”). The Restricted Shares will be released upon
the expiry of the period of restriction on transfer of such Restricted
Shares, such as the relevant sale restriction period/lock-up period.
The relevant employees passed a resolution to establish certain
limited partnership shareholding platforms (the “Employees
Shareholding Platform(s)”) through which they will participate
in the Share Incentive Scheme by way of indirect shareholding
(the “Award(s)”) in the capacity of limited partners (the “Eligible
Participant(s)” or “Participant(s)”) and will be required to settle the
relevant Employee Subscription Price. The Group or its controlled
affiliates are the general partners of such partnership(s).

Maximum Number of Shares

According to the Share Incentive Scheme approved by the Relevant
Board, upon the implementation of the Share Incentive Scheme,
the number of underlying shares under the Share Incentive Scheme
represented approximately 1.98% of the total equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao (a limited liability company) and as at 31
December 2020, those equity interests have been fully awarded
to the Eligible Participants through the Employees Shareholding
Platforms.
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Consideration for Restricted Share Units and Restricted
Share Purchase Price

The Eligible Participants would indirectly hold equity interests in
Guangdong Jiahao through limited partnerships, and the Employees
Shareholding Platforms would purchase the Group's existing equity
interests in Guangdong Jiahao for cash at the price(s) agreed
between the Company and the Eligible Participant(s). The aggregate
Employee Subscription Price payable by the Eligible Participants
amounted to approximately RMB46.5 million.

Vesting Schedule

For the purpose of this Share Incentive Scheme, four limited
partnerships have been established, namely Yingtan Xiangshan
Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (BES L %%
HHFL(BERAE)), Yingtan Zhonghao Corporate Advisory Centre
(Limited Partnership) (B2 S REFE AT L(BRER)), Yingtan
Guanghao Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (&2 &
SHEZHRTNBRAH)) and Yingtan Huajia Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited Partnership) (BEEZEEZAT L(BEREH)),
through which the Participants indirectly hold equity interests in
Guangdong Jiahao and the relevant Awards have vested in the
Employees Shareholding Platforms.

There were in total 80 Participants under the Share Incentive
Scheme, including directors and senior management of Guangdong
Jiahao. The chairman of Guangdong Jiahao, XIA Liqun, who is also a
director of the Company and one of the Participants.
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Restrictions on share transfers:

Yingtan Xiangshan 1.

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (&2 %&
SRR R
fR& %)), Yingtan
Zhonghao Corporate
Advisory Centre

(Limited Partnership) 2.

(B S0 %
AP L(ERER)),
Yingtan Guanghao
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (J&/Z &
SEERFHATOER

=)

Sale restriction period: 36 months
from the date of Award and the
sale restriction period shall remain
effective regardless of whether
Guangdong Jiahao could be listed (i.e.
initial public offering of shares) or
not;

Lock-up period: Upon the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, the Participants
are subject to lock-up requirements
as agreed under the relevant share
incentive agreement(s) and the
relevant requirements as stipulated
under the listing rules of domestic
exchange;

During the sale restriction period
or lock-up period, the limited
partners shall not transfer their
respective shares in the assets of the
partnerships, except in the case of
withdrawal;

After the date falling on the fifth
anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part
of their respective awarded shares
in the event that Guangdong Jiahao
remains unlisted.
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Yingtan Huajia 1.

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)
(BEFESZHE
AR LERER))

Prior to the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao and within 36 months from
the date of listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, the Participants shall not
transfer all or part of their respective
awarded shares to any third party
(including other Participants on the
Employees Shareholding Platforms)
not recognised by the general
partners of the partnerships without
the prior consent of the general
partners of the partnerships;

After the date falling on the fifth
anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part
of their respective awarded shares
in the event that Guangdong Jiahao
remains unlisted;

Upon the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, if according to the
relevant laws and regulations, the
Participants is required to comply
with the obligations such as specific
lock-up period or restriction on
the percentage of sale due to
the Participants being the senior
management of the company, having
special status or the number of shares
held reaches a certain threshold, the
Participants shall comply with the
relevant regulations in addition to the
requirements under the agreement.
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Vesting of Awards, Termination and Withdrawal of
Participants

The Awards have been vested in the Employees Shareholding
Platforms and the Participant(s) shall withdraw from the Share
Incentive Scheme if any of the following occur: (1) amendment(s)
to the Share Incentive Scheme, or amendment(s) to the share
incentive agreement(s) for the compliance with the requirements
of the company’s lending banks, or amendment(s) to the share
incentive agreement(s) for the compliance of the listing rules of
the stock exchange or the requirements of the regulatory authority
regarding the listing of the company, but the Participant(s) declines
to execute the amended share incentive agreement; (2) the
company is dissolved or its business license is revoked or cancelled;
(3) the partnership is dissolved or its business license is revoked or
cancelled; (4) the Participant has reached the retirement age and has
completed the retirement formalities and does not continue to serve
after retirement; (5) the company terminates the labour contract
or employment contract with the Participants due to strategic
adjustment or redundancy; (6) the Participant resigns during the term
of the labour contract, or the company or the Participant refuses to
renew the labour contract upon its expiry; (7) death or incapacity of
the Participant; (8) the Participant is held criminally responsible for
any criminal offence; (9) the Participant commits serious misconduct,
malfeasance, fraud, bribery, bribery solicitation, misappropriation,
embezzlement, divulgence of business, customer and technical
secrets or other violations of laws or disciplines, causing significant
damage to the company; (10) the company determines that the
Participant is directly responsible for the company’s loss or decline in
operating results; (11) the Participant is considered to be detrimental
to the interests of the company when performing his duties; (12) the
Participant causes significant loss to the interests of the company
due to his negligence in performing his duties; (13) the Participant
violates the obligation of confidentiality and divulges the confidential
information of the company (including the intellectual property
rights, technical secrets, customer information, financial information
and other business secrets). For the purpose of this Share Incentive
Scheme, the aforementioned trade secrets include the fact presented
in this Share Incentive Scheme and the Share Incentive Scheme
documents and any of their contents; (14) the Participant, in other
capacities or in any way, is engaged in or for the benefits of others
engaged in any competing business with the company without the
prior written consent of the company; (15) the share of assets in
the partnerships held by the Participant is enforced by law; (16) the
Participant is dismissed by the company for violating the rules and
regulations of the company, or the Participant is removed from the
partnership(s).
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The transfer price for the Participant’s withdrawal from the Share
Incentive Scheme will be based on the reason(s) of his withdrawal.
The transfer price in the case of withdrawal is either the principal
amount of the Participant’s investment or the principal amount
of the investment plus interest calculated at a rate of 5-10% per
annum on simple interest basis (interest is calculated according to
the actual number of days).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEQ)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yunyan

Mr. WU Chi Keung
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws, Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu, Mr. LEE Luk Shiu and Mr. WU Chi Keung shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, all of them being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Financial
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 31
December 2020 are set out on pages 45 to 52 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Financial Year are set out in Note 35 and
Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Number of Percentage of

issued Shares the issued

held share capital

Name of Director(s) Capacity BFEE®IT hE®IT

Ex=ns 87 KRB A RAEB DK

CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations Mot 2,293,408,900 73.79%
RANEE FHBRZIEG A RRFEND

Note: 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held by
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited,
Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise Sino
Investments Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited, respectively.
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole beneficial owner of the aforesaid six
companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company is
not aware of any of the Directors or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated
companies as defined in the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the Financial Year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Financial Year and up to the date
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty as a director
of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and senior
management of the Company in respect of legal action against them
in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45

M : AR A 22,293,408,9000% X /@ % J5 9 B A
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful
Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited,
Raise Sino Investments LimitedflReal Elite
Investments Limited# 8 ° AMEZ T A Ll
RERABINE—EREBA -

Br £ SCRTH B & HD - FA20209F12A31H - K
NRAIT T NBEEMNEERAHRECETHE
ARAR QB SHEAMHER G SKEEEE (T
EZRBHFRBEGN) 2 ERBKG5 - BEERKD
RELFTHEATAERIAR -

EERBROIES 2EF

BRREGEETBRRMTIABEEEI AR
7] 2k H AT fa] B 8 2 ) AN B B TR AR B
MY ESEEIAZH  MEARRZESRT
FE B AR R R AR H AR B 2 ) B F
s -

EEEYN

MERANYREEEAREBATLXTAR
EMFRARRBEEHRREAEERHZ
BERITHRIEZER -

EEAHNERRSE

REBERARANIL S E P HEBIGRFTER -
REERATEER/RARRESRT 2B
ZHEBANEMEEMAREXISIOMBFR
ERH WE BX BERAXHAESAK
RAAEEEMEFIEHBERRERZE
FARFEHREENEREEE EEH
E R ITRE A e BUE AR A
REELHEERBRE -



Directors’ Report

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 19 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the Financial
Year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2020, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the Company is not aware of any other person who
held interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 17 August 2018, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a PRC bank (the “Lender”) for a loan of approximately
RMB2,888 million for a term of 5 years (“Loan Facility”).

Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, so long as the facility
agreement is still in full force, the obligation to disclose exists. As
one of the precedent conditions of the facility agreement, Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu, the ultimate beneficial controlling shareholder of the
Company, shall, directly or indirectly, maintain her controlling stake
in the Company throughout the term of the Loan Facility. Breach of
such undertaking will constitute an event of default which entitles
the Lender to, among other things, demand immediate payment
and/or repayment of all amount outstanding under the Loan Facility
from the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Financial Year, the percentage of revenue from sales of
goods or rendering services attributable to the Group'’s five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 30.42% and
the largest customer Yunnan Tobacco (Group) Company Limited
contributed approximately 11.28% to the revenue from sales of
goods or rendering services of the Group and the percentage
of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 18.16% and the largest
supplier contributed approximately 5.27% to the purchases of the
Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group'’s five largest customers and suppliers.

EFERE

JR 3R £ 84 th R
B EX BT 81 — &0 N BA IS R P EE19
PR BN RRBRAMBFE AL LR
RE R -

FTERRZER
2020128318 B RTEEZRRMD - 48
RO REHF D] — M E oS -

RRABW TMEBEERMEMALREZS R
HEKROEBBKRFEREARAED BITR
AR5% A EREZTORE o

BELHHRAUFIB21MEEHEE

5@2018&8)%175 ARA A B — R E AR
TUERADRIT-BAESFHRE H:E
%%Mw\ﬁmzzsssrﬁwg RERE ) o

BEETRANEI321E AR EEREBZ
MAEEAER EHEBREBATERE -BEW
FER-BEARENEAE  ARBHNRRER
TR R AR MIE L T BAH R E R R E B (E
HRANBEZKEZEFERARRFNZER
EeoBRIILEAFEBERENEZTE FERA
i EheiE BRAQRASNAINN RS
HEEERME T ZMBEREERSE -

FEEFRMHER

HEAPREE ASERAUSGARFAG
TG AEEEEERARERBOBAZE
DA RE3042%  MEABEFERFEME
(EE)EREAARAMELHAE11.28% A&
ERusARERAAIEASEBREE
B A18.16% M AHEEAMELN A
5.27% °

BEENHAIMNBERHEASTMARE (L2
ERTA BEAS%IA EARRRIBBEITRAE)
MEREAEBRAATE RHEER Z T[4

ﬁ:l:L°

Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 B EA AR AR 2020 Annual Report 3

97



98

Directors’ Report

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s continuing connected transactions are primarily
classified based on (I) the continuing connected transactions with
each of Hongta Tobacco Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company;
(Il) the continuing connected transactions between the Group and
Weizhijia Group; and (lll) the continuing connected transactions
between the Group and Broad Far Group.

()

Transactions with each of Hongta Tobacco Group and
Guangdong Tobacco Company

Transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group

The Company, through its subsidiaries, indirectly owns 60%
equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong. The remaining 40% equity
interest in Yunnan Tianhong is held by Yunnan Hehe. Hongta
Tobacco owns 75% equity interest in Yunnan Hehe. By virtue
of such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong, Hongta Tobacco
Group are regarded as connected persons at the subsidiary
level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions
between each of Huabao Flavours Company and Guangdong
Jinye Group with Hongta Tobacco Group constitute connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement
("Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement”) entered
into between Huabao Flavours and Yunnan Hehe on 26
May 2017 in relation to the provision of tobacco flavours
products and related services by Huabao Flavours Company to
Hongta Tobacco Group, the term of the Hongta HB Flavours
Framework Agreement shall be for a term of 3 years from 1
April 2017 to 31 March 2020 (both days inclusive).

Pursuant to the Hongta JY Framework Agreement (“Hongta
JY Framework Agreement”) entered into between Guangdong
Jinye and Yunnan Hehe on 26 May 2017 in relation to the
provision of RTL, stem powder, auxiliary materials and related
services by Guangdong Jinye Group (except for Huabao
Flavours Company) to Hongta Tobacco Group, the term of the
Hongta JY Framework Agreement shall be for a term of 3 years
from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 (both days inclusive).

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45

EFERE

FEBRERS
AEENKEHSEXZIIERBEUTOE ()

£l

Pl

IEEEEENERTEQARZBNKE

ERXD  (INAEBHEK 2 REE 2 BOF
BRER S MINAEERBEEE 2B
FERERS -

U

BAEEERERERTELFEZH
MR 5

AT R EEEFHX 5

KRB BBETFAABERAEEX
ZR60% P #E o BRI K 7R R N40% I #E A
EHAMEBAE AEEEHAEEAM
75%MREHE - IRIEEMMRA - BEE™
AEAO%IER AR EEEERA ALK
RAIMBARMEEAL - BIE LR
Bl ZERMAFEERSELEESH
HAMEEEE 7 MORZ S EBRKAA T
MEERS -

BIEESTRMN2017F5SA26H BLERE
BMAT AT EERMIER B ([405
EERMIEEBZE])  RNABBEEZTR
MRRIAAEEEEERBEERERE
m R - A BEETROIEEHZ
) HIPR H2017F4H1H #£ £20209F3 A
3B (BEEEMB) » AH=F -

BIEER S IEN2017F5H26H0 HEFE
EMET LA EEERGE (AL
BIEEBEZE]D AR EHERcESEHE
(EERMRAAIRIN MAERESEIR
HEEBER FHRHLEAHHNEEMR
AR 4B EERBENHRER
2017FAR1HEZE2020F3A31H1E (8
EEREMA)  BE=F-



Directors’ Report

On 23 December 2019, Hongta Tobacco and Yunnan
Tianhong entered into the First Hongta Agreement (the "First
Hongta Agreement”) and on 26 April 2020, Hongta Tobacco
and Guangdong Jinke entered into the Supplementary
Hongta Agreement (the “Supplementary Hongta Agreement,
together with the First Hongta Agreement, the “2020-Supply
Framework Agreements”) in relation to the provision of
tobacco flavours products, RTL products, auxiliary materials,
etc. and related services by the Group to Hongta Tobacco
Group for a term commencing on 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 (both days inclusive). The price shall be based
on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or market
prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no
less favourable than those terms offered by independent third
party customers for provision of similar products and services
in its ordinary and usual course of business.

The 2020-Supply Framework Agreements superseded the
Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement and the Hongta
JY Framework Agreement with respect to both the term and
the transaction cap for the three month period from 1 January
2020 to 31 March 2020. Please refer to the announcements
published by the Company on 26 May 2017, 15 January 2019
and 27 April 2020 for further details.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 April 2020) under the 2020-Supply
Framework Agreements was set at not exceed RMB95,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under the
2020-Supply Framework Agreements was RMB75,500,000.

Transactions with Guangdong Tobacco Company

On 27 February 2020, Owada Flavours and Guangdong
Tobacco entered into the 2020-GD Framework Agreement (the
“2020-GD Framework Agreement) to govern the sale of the
products of the Group, including flavours (tobacco flavours),
RTL products, granules, auxiliary materials and related services
by the Group to Guangdong Tobacco Company for a term of
one year commencing on 1 January 2020 and expiring on 31
December 2020 (both days inclusive). The price shall be based
on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or market
prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no
less favourable than those terms offered by independent third
party customers for provision of similar products and services
in its ordinary and usual course of business.
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Owada Flavours is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. The Company indirectly holds approximately
55.375% equity interests in Guangdong Jinke, which is
regarded as an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Guangdong Tobacco holds 17.5% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco Company are regarded
as connected persons at the subsidiary level of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Transactions between the Group
and Guangdong Tobacco Company constitute connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 February 2020) under the 2020-GD
Framework Agreement was set at not exceed RMB213,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under
the 2020- GD Framework Agreement was RMB152,435,000.

Transactions with Weizhijia Group

Entrusted Management Agreement

On 27 November 2018, Guangdong Jiahao and Weizhijia
entered into an entrusted management agreement (“Entrusted
Management Agreement”) in relation to the provision of
consultancy and management services by members of Weizhijia
to Guangdong Jiahao for a term of three years commencing
on 1 January 2019 and expiring on 31 December 2021 (both
days inclusive).

Weizhijia is ultimately controlled by Madam Chu Lam Yiu, the
Chairlady and CEO of the Company, and therefore Weizhijia
is an associate of a connected person under the Listing Rules.
Guangdong Jiahao is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Transactions between the Guangdong Jiahao
and members of Weizhijia under the Entrusted Management
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

Under the Entrusted Management Agreement, members of
Weizhijia will provide consultancy and management services
to Guangdong Jiahao to enhance its brand awareness in the
market and assist Guangdong Jiahao to expand its market
share and gradually reach sales targets. The annual caps for
the service fees (inclusive of the sales network construction
fee and the performance fee) for the year ended 31 December
2019, and the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2021 were RMB10,500,000, RMB 13,050,000 and
RMB 16,350,000, respectively.
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Due to the reasons as mentioned in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 August 2020, Guangdong Jiahao
and Weizhijia entered into an Agreement for Termination
of the Entrusted Management on Sales and Marketing (the
“Termination Agreement”) on 7 August 2020 to terminate the
Entrusted Management Agreement at nil consideration and
that neither party shall be responsible to compensate the other
on matters arising out of or as a result of the early termination
of the term of the Entrusted Management Agreement.

For the period from 1 January 2020 to the date of termination
of the Entrusted Management Agreement (i.e. 7 August 2020),
there was no transaction under the Entrusted Management
Agreement.

Sales Framework Agreement

On 14 March 2019, Guangdong Jiahao entered into a sales
framework agreement (“Sales Framework Agreement”) with
Weizhijia, pursuant to which Guangdong Jiahao shall sell and
members of Weizhijia shall purchase all products relating to
catering condiments of Jiahao (“Jiahao Products”) and related
services so as to further increase the sales of Jiahao Products
and hence bring more revenue to Guangdong Jiahao. The
prices and terms shall be no less favourable than those offered
to independent third party customers for provision of similar
products and services in its ordinary and usual course of
business.

The Sales Framework Agreement shall be for a term of 36
months from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 (both days
inclusive). Transactions between the Guangdong Jiahao and
members of Weizhijia under the Sales Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The revised annual cap (details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 September 2019) under
the Sales Framework Agreement was set at not more than
RMB80,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019,
RMB 130,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
RMB150,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2021,
respectively.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under
the Sales Framework Agreement was RMB35,186,000.
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() Transactions with Broad Far Group

On 14 February 2020, Chemactive entered into a framework
agreement with Broad Far (“Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Chemactive and its subsidiaries shall
provide tobacco related raw materials and related services to
Broad Far Group for a term of 1 year from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2020 (both days inclusive). The price shall be
based on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or
market prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to Chemactive and
its subsidiaries shall be no less favourable than those terms
offered by independent third party customers for provision of
similar products and services in its ordinary and usual course
of business and other terms that are consistent with industry
practice in general.

Chemactive is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Broad Far is ultimately controlled and beneficially owned by
Madam Chu and therefore is an associate of a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
transactions between the Group and Broad Far Group under
the Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 February 2020) under the Framework
Agreement was set at not exceed RMB20,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under
the Framework Agreement was RMB2,883,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions had been entered into:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’s abovementioned
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions for the Financial
Year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Financial Year are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitutes a disclosable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 74 of this annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.

EFERE

REZEEAMASHMNBEETREE
AI30005% (ER]) [EL P FEEHNBZIE
BILASMNNEER TR | W2 ZEBEHA7405E [ &
B LT R BIRE MR B R E X 5 e AZ BUAT 1K
] AR B Z A2 BN 2R KBk B g AT
A= AE XY AN E Eal & = AR/ B EF
BeRBEREXZFELRE  YERE LT
HRAFEI4AS6IEREH L ERE R KMt
EPEHAHBERNER - ADQA 2 BZE
BRI ARIRR T BB o

BEATRXS
AEBERAFRERILZEREB TR S
FAEERGEAMEWMRM I3 RN (A
RERXS ] —HMENXS (MtEXHC 8
S EMRAEVVAENRERTE) I - % FRH
BOXSHEBNATHRENBERS (F
EREWHA -

BE HEREBEEARFAZ LTRSS

RAMBFEAR » NQ R SEEANE R
BERE LEXBERAQREFMLTES -

TXER
AEECEERRRZFBENAFRES3
BETAR 2 BREIRWME -

EEREA
202012 A831H » REBKE Q&£
MEMEKRFARMHEEE  NEERETM
FARANERFRKRE -

Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 B EA AR AR 2020 Annual Report 3

103



104

Directors’ Report

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairlady and CEO

Hong Kong, 19 March 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 114 to 239, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Impairment of goodwill is identified as a key audit matter identified

in our audit, and is summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to Note 5 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements)
and Note 9 (Intangible assets) to
the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December
2020, the Group had net
goodwill balance amounting to
RMB5,372,011,000 arose from
acquisitions in previous years,
which was allocated to the
Group’s cash-generating units
("CGUs"). Impairment charge
amounting to RMB495,498,000
was recognised in current
year in respect of the CGUs
of Jiahao Foodstuff Limited
and its subsidiaries (“Jiahao
Foodstuff”).

Management tests at least
annually whether goodwill was
subject to any impairment,
in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in
Note 2.7 and Note 2.8. The
recoverable amount of CGUs
has been determined based on
the higher of their fair value
less costs of disposal and their
value in use amounts.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill
included:

—  We understood and tested
management’s process and
controls in respect of the
impairment of goodwill and
assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by
considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk
factors, such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

— We evaluated the historical
accuracy of the plan and
forecast by, for example,
comparing the forecast
used in the prior year model
to the actual performance
of the business in the
current year.

- We assessed whether
the identification of
CGUs and allocation of
goodwill for impairment
assessment aligned with
our understanding of the
Group's business activities.
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How our audit addressed KM EFT WA EE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BRETSE ARETSE

- We evaluated the — ENTERNFH
appropriateness of value in BT el TR
use calculation methodology BB REER
adopted by management (@85 7555 /38
with the involvement of our 2
in house experts.

- We discussed with %@@E%E&
management and evaluated ks géﬁf%%
the underlying key iR R e B
assumptions of budgeted 1Tatam » Y78 A
gross margin and forecast HRA R E K
and terminal growth rates EFEFANH
used in the cash flow BEREFUALES
forecast taking into account 7= 38 81 {57 F /9 ok
historical results and market 4 48 = SR E (T AT
developments. 1

- We evaluated the p.re—tax BB ERE e
discount rate used in the e "
calculation by evaluating EE%ME@BM&
the cost of capital of the qzi/:j/é;$ﬁ’ﬁf '
respective CGUs and HBITR RS
comparing with the industry B AHER
or market data. & £ A3 B0 56 A B

WENSEM

— We evaluated management’s
sensitivity analysis of the key TG TR B
gssumptions in the goodwill HERBS (8
Impairment assessment, ?E%ﬂ% N ST
peling buioeed o wRE KA

/ % S, 48
discount rate and forecast Ef)iﬁﬁli T;
and terminal growth e \\,’“
rates to consider whether 7 jfﬁ; EF%%EQ
the changes in these REREHNT
assumptions will result in 2 ;
different position.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matter

We focused on auditing
the impairment of goodwill
including the related disclosures
because the estimation
of recoverable amount is
subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to
the impairment of goodwill is
considered significant due to
the complexity of the methods,
subjectivity of significant
assumptions used, including
budgeted gross margin,
estimated pre-tax discount
rate, forecast and terminal
growth rates and significant
judgements involved in
selecting data.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

— We also considered whether
the judgements made in
selecting data would give
rise to indicators of possible
management bias.

—  We tested the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying
value in use calculation.

— We assessed the adequacy
of the disclosures related
to the impairment of
goodwill in the context
of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

Based on the above, we
considered that management’s
judgements and assumptions
applied in the impairment of
goodwill were supportable
by the evidence obtained and
procedures performed.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE BRI R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
As at 31 December
M128318
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - R R 7 1,388,257 1,391,118
Right-of-use assets REEE 8 240,902 260,560
Intangible assets W EE 9 6,226,362 6,807,495
Investments in associates REEERF 2" E 10 374,761 385,881
Investment in a jointly controlled entity NHEREEHTEIEE 11 7,410 3,313
Financial assets at fair value through UAanBEFZH
other comprehensive income HEFHAHMEAE
Wz emEE 12 55,072 161,905
Financial assets at fair value through URAnEEFEAEE
profit or loss SFTABE I EREE 16 112,614 58,304
Deferred income tax assets EIEFTEMEE 13 160,447 135,257
Other non-current assets HiIEmBEBEE 581 15,606
8,566,406 9,219,439
Current assets RBEE
Inventories TE 14 854,746 931,385
Trade and other receivables B 5N HE M EIRIE 15 1,351,750 1,322,626
Financial assets at fair value through URAnEEFEAEEE)
profit or loss STABRZERMEE 16 569,556 768,111
Short-term time deposits NHETHER 17 1,413,840 2,334,294
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 17 4,921,756 3,387,780
9,111,648 8,744,196
Total assets BEE 17,678,054 17,963,635
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable EARERIEEAEWL
to the Company’s equity holders AR
Share capital R& 7 18 318,636 318,636
Reserves fE 20 2,633,732 2,540,529
Retained earnings {REE B F 21 8,918,688 8,969,048
11,871,056 11,828,213
Non-controlling interests ISR 1,823,193 1,771,260
Total equity g 13,694,249 13,599,473

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e BRI R

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

M128318
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
LIABILITIES a&
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
Borrowings B 22 1,806,477 2,310,474
Lease liabilities HEAE 8 39,345 60,135
Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEMISHEE 13 170,536 205,736
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMERFIE 23 800 800
2,017,158 2,577,145
Current liabilities RBEE
Borrowings EX 22 901,753 688,302
Lease liabilities HEaE 8 24,526 22,448
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M ENRIE 23 648,744 666,864
Current income tax liabilities EHEHRAaE 208,923 236,514
Contract liabilities ASRAaE 6 182,701 172,889
1,966,647 1,787,017
Total liabilities “meE 3,983,805 4,364,162
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 17,678,054 17,963,635
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be — _EilL&R& BT F5AR 50 2% & B2 AE J& P 5 — DFBEE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 114 to 239 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 19 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
KMBEL L
Chairlady
FE

F114E2398 W B ¥ X E 1K2021F3 19
HEEER#ETET -

Mr. XIA Liqun
ERRELLE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Income Statement

mElRER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
k5 20204 2019%F
Revenue BER 6 3,854,058 4,241,040
Cost of goods sold B A 25 (1,411,651) (1,495,630)
Gross profit EX 2,442,407 2,745,410
Other income and other gains — net HAUA R H Ath Y sk — 5 5B 24 100,497 225,509
Selling and marketing expenses HENMTIGHERERX 25 (317,001) (358,305)
Administrative expenses THEA 25 (820,221) (867,398)
Impairment of goodwill BN 9 (495,498) -
Net impairment losses on financial assets TREERBERLFE 4.1(b) (7.392) (16,405)
Operating profit EERER 902,792 1,728,811
Finance income BT IA 159,915 176,956
Finance costs B KA (143,983) (188,984)
Finance income/(costs) — net B U A
(REKRA) —FE 27 15,932 (12,028)
Share of results of associates and a jointly BB N &
controlled entity HEFHIEE . E5 10,11 30,097 29,034
Profit before income tax MR BE A 2 F 948,821 1,745,817
Income tax expense FTiEH 28 (280,382) (372,076)
Profit for the year EEEEF 668,439 1,373,741
Attributable to: Ak -
Equity holders of the Company RARERFEA 418,399 1,112,004
Non-controlling interests FEFE M 250,040 261,737
668,439 1,373,741
Earnings per share for profit AEERLQFER
attributable to the Company’s BEAELEF RMB cents RMB cents
equity holders for the year HWERER AR® D AR S
Basic and diluted ERLEE 29 13.46 35.78
The above consolidated income statement should be read in  _Filt4R& RIEBEBEN T —HEE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

meEZHEBER

(Br=HBEAEIN -

B BRIGAARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194F

Profit for the year FEREF 668,439 1,373,741
Other comprehensive income: Ht2mEUE :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss — A] E¥ 748 Z 15750918 5
Fair value changes of equity investments at fair AR 7 {E@;#EHEI AEpET AE

value through other comprehensive income, ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁ Z%ﬁﬂxéz 5353

net of tax B EE (17,990) (17,531)
Currency translation differences of the Company  ANA R & HIEBIN T v § ik

and its non-foreign operations BHEE 64,370 (13,421)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AEH D EE Bz IEH
Currency translation differences of foreign BINETE 2 EEMEER

operations (2,491) (466)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the REERBAHEMEE

year, net of tax Wi (ER) 43,889 (31,418)
Total comprehensive income for the year, AEERBEZENZEE

net of tax 712,328 1,342,323
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  F&E{5 2 [ Yt 5 44 58 :

Equity holders of the Company RATREZHFEBA 461,856 1,081,266

Non-controlling interests FEIEHIME R 250,472 261,057

712,328 1,342,323

The above consolidated statement of comprehensiv

e income should  |ifisr &%

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REEBRSER

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRARREAEARE

Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
i3 ik BE  RERT B EslitER s
Balance at 1 January 2019 R20195151R 318 647 2,571,885 8,801,582 | 11,752,114 1,990,737 13,742,851
Fair value changes on financial assets UAREEBTEREZHHA

at fair value through other comprehensive ErzRkaeriEy

income, net of tax BRENAAEED 2 - (17,531) - (17,531) - (17,531)
Currency translation differences EHpEEE - (13,207) - (13,207) (680) (13,887)
Profitfor the year TEERT - - 1112004 | 1,112,004 261737 1373,741
Total comprehensive income for BEWENENALEEN

the year ended 31 December 2019 2ENEEE - (30,738) 1,112,004 | 1,081,266 261057 1342323
Transactions with owners in their BRRAEEANRS |

capacity as owners;

Appropriations from net profit B FIEA 20,21 - 700 (700) - - -
Dividends payable to non-controling interests AR R T RARS - - - - (1218) (1218)
Dividends paid to non-contralling interests RFEEE M ER T RRE - - - - (479367)  (479,367)
Cancelation of repurchased shares HHEEE KA 18,20 (11 11 - - - -
Share-based payment- value of consultancy sevice  JRf7 BEBM T H-BEREEE 20 - 907 - 907 - 907
Disposal of equity interest in Better World Naturals 1€ FZEANRHERAA

Co., Ltd (“Better World") to non-controlling (THeE%]) ZBEFIHEH

interests fEEEREA 2 - 1,748 - 1748 (1,748) -
Acquisition of additional equity interest in Jiangxi IR ERWEIRES

Xianghai Biological Technology Co., Ltd ("Jiangxi MM ERAR ([TAEESE])

Xianghai") from non-controlling interests BoEm 2 - (3.984) - (3.984) 884 (3,100
Capital injection from non-controlling interests i 4|75 & - - - - 915 915
Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends RURAERE 21 - - 28 28 - 8
Final and special dividends for the nine months ~ FIRE S FE 220185125318

ended 31 December 2018 paid to shareholders FNERZBRRENRE - - (756,818) (756,818) - (756,818)
Interim dividends for the six months ended ARES REZ201956A308

30 June 2019 paid to shareholders BBz Bk 30 - - (247.048) | (247,048 - (247,048)
Total transactions with owners HREARSEE (11 (618) (1,004,538 | (1,005167)  (480,534)  (1,485,701)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019E12A318 318636 2,540,529 8,969,048 | 11828213 1,771,260 13,599,473
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REEBREER

(Br=HBEAEIN -

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

A 2B AARETTIIR)

EARREREARL
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
H kx i REEA @i FEHMER s
Balance at 1 January 2020 R202051A18 318,636 2540529 8,969,048 | 11828213 1,771,260 13,599,473
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair UAREEBTEREZHHA
value through other comprehensive income, EprENE 2REEL
net of tax BRENLAERS 20 - (17.99) - (17.99) - (1799)
Currency translation differences BHAEEE - 61,447 - 61,447 32 61,879
Profit for the year TEERT - - 418399 418399 250,040 668,439
Total comprehensive income for the year BEWNENENALEEN
ended 31 December 2020 PEUEEE - 3457 418399 | 46185 250472 712,328
Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ EAAFEEANR S :
as owners;
Appropriations from net profit B 2021 = 17,808 (17,808) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EEHEER S ANES - - - - (46419)  (246,419)
Share-based payment B BERSZH
- Value of consultancy service -ERRBER 20 - % - % = 9%
- Vialue of employee services -EEMBER 2 - 536 - 536 - 536
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAF - - - - 809 809
Changes in ownership interests in subsiciaries YENBLA FEAER
without change of control [k 2l 20 - 31,304 - 31,304 43,986 75290
Capital injections from non-controling interests ~ JEB 4148551 & - - - - 3,085 3,085
Final dividends for the year ended 31 December B X HEE20195125317
2019 paid to shareholders FFEZBRRS 30 - - (285887) | (285,887) - (28588])
Special dividends for the six months ended ARE S 22020564308
30 June 2020 paid to shareholders LA ZBHRE 30 - - (165064) | (165,064) - (165,064)
Total transactions with owners HEAARGAE = 49,746 (468759) |  (419,013) (198539 (617,552
Balance at 31 December 2020 R202051231R 318636 2,633,732 8918688 | 11871056 19823193 13,694,249

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
k53 20204 20194
Cash flows from operating activities EETH2RERE
Cash generated from operations LEBES RS 31(a) 1,823,600 2,031,748
Income tax paid ERAEH (368,369) (472,165)
Net cash generated from operating BETBHELECRSFE
activities 1,455,231 1,559,583
Cash flows from investing activities REFBNHEERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary g1 hy=pNG| (154) -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEMB A RMER 80 -
Acquisition of an associate L i Bt 2 % R) - (2,411)
Refund of termination of the additional RRR I S B2 N 7R [0 kI8
capital injection into an associate 14,560 -
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HEBZNR TSR 11,582 18,586
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BANAREEGTEEHR
through other comprehensive income gEEr AR MmEEREZ
TREE - (20,642)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HENARBEFEAR
financial assets at fair value through gEgEr A AEmeEkae
other comprehensive income TREEMSRIA - 2,545
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BANAAEBEF=ZAHE
through profit or loss Bt ABRZemEE (1,490,500) (1,068,720)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HELA AL EEFE AEE
fair value through profit or loss Bt ABRZEREEM
(S QL 1,725,897 829,950
Purchase of right-of-use assets for land use B A + {5 F#EHERE 2 (5 B
rights HEE (6,313) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B A% « R RBER
and intangible assets WML EE (170,396) (312,097)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HeEYEE W LHERE  310b)
plant and equipment FXIE 11,159 16,655
Short-term time deposits placed GFARHERTR (1,713,840) (3,134,294)
Short-term time deposits released IREVEHEHER 2,634,294 2,406,790
Dividend received 2B 13,882 12,805
Interest received 28 144,937 178,319
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZTHEE(FTA)
investing activities 2HE&FRE 1,175,188 (1,072,514)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

mE

(Br=HHEBPESN

RERER

A B AARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE
Note 2020 2019
liks3 20204 20194

Cash flows from financing activities RMETBNRESRE
Final dividends for the year ended 31 MR S E 22019F12 A

December 2019 paid to shareholders B1THIEFEHREE (285,887) -
Special dividends for the six months ended  [AIf% 3 3 {5 & 202046 A

30 June 2020 paid to shareholders 308 L7 E A 2 Rl & (165,064) -
Interim dividends for the six months ended  [AIJ& R X & £20184F9 A

30 September 2018 paid to shareholders 308 L/ E A 2z H B S - (275,620)
Final and special dividends for the nine MR RS H Z=2018F12 A

months ended 31 December 2018 paidto ~ 31H IF L8 B 2 BAR R 45

shareholders R - (756,818)
Interim dividends for the six months ended A% R 2 M 8 £20194F6 A

30 June 2019 paid to shareholders 30 IERER 2 HIR B - (247,048)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  [A) 3F 28 I 14 4 25 S AR 2 (247,637) (479,367)
Proceeds from changes in ownership REMBELRIMAEERZM

interests in subsidiaries without change BB B 2 TS IR

of control 75,290 -
Capital injections from non-controlling T ERFEATELZ

interests Fr 55838 3,085 915
New bank borrowings raised FIBIRITER 31(0) 556,679 756,607
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER 31(0) (796,368) (1,461,703)
Principal elements of lease payments TRNHEENRZ A 31(0) (24,360) (19,599)
Interest elements of lease payments SRHEERRZFE 31(0) (3,450) (3,092)
Interest paid related to bank borrowings HIRITE R R E AR @@Z

and others B A B (143,929) (185,814)
Net cash used in financing activities RETEAZREFH (1,031,641) (2,671,539)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERBESEEY

cash equivalents ®wm CRD) F8 1,598,778 (2,184,470)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHI 2R & NBELEEY

of the year 3,387,780 5,535,601
Effects of currency translation on cash and EEHEWIRG LIRS

cash equivalents LEMNZE (64,802) 36,649
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEESRRESEEY

at the end of the year 17 4,921,756 3,387,780
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in il 4R &R & % 8 7% fE AR FEMT s — HFRIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw
materials, aroma raw materials and condiment products in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu
("Ms. Chu"), who is the Chairlady of the Board of Directors,
holds approximately 74% beneficial equity interest in the
Company as at 31 December 2020.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB’000"”) unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 March
2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHBERE
POLICIES
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies BRAKGEMBHREAMEANTES:
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial HEHEN T -BREHBEEN S
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to HEREMEHMNEEFENERIER -
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial NG EMEHmERBERRSE -

statements are for the Group.

2.1 Basis of preparation 2.1 RBIEE
(i) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO (i) BFEBHEHREERARE
B R alFEBI

(i)

The consolidated financial statements of the REEBMNGEAETBRERTIEB
Group have been prepared in accordance with BEAMAEBERNE BV KRS
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting ER([HBAFTBHEER])
Standards (“HKFRS"”) and disclosure requirements REBNBIENEGC22E B
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622 BEATCHES (BB QFE
("HKCO"). Bill) o

Historical cost convention (i) LA *E

RRARGEEMBHRERIRE
ERAERE - B EHET
EZNUAnBEFEAHRS
i AEMmEEmEREN SR
BERNARARBEFEAEHE
SBEGABEENEREEM
EHEET -

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), which are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group
The following standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2020:

Definition of Material — amendments to HKAS
1 and HKAS 8

. Definition of a Business — amendments to
HKFRS 3

. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7

° Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

The Group also elected to early adopt the
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments
to HKFRS 16 (Note 3).

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

Except for the Amendment to HKFRS 16 set out
above, certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for 31 December 2020 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.2 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

e B RRME

(RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
2. TESHHRERE(H)
2.1 B EE(HE)

2.2

(iv) 5 KR 2 Ha] ER R iz FE

BRESYBREELF165E
BRI 2 BT &8
N 72 B B 58 7 18 I & 722020
F12A318 FHEHREAH £
W BAREBINEREEM -
ZERBEFEE B ARK
REHETEeHEBE KA
BRRRRGELEBFE -

ReikRE
(a) HEBAA

fEAREASEHEEE
HENMAER (BRE&EBK
B  EAEEANSH
% B B A E A] 2 o) R A R
Bk F A Al 20 He) g
VT HEENEBEHZEEDN
BOAZENLFTERE K&
BEAESIZER - HELQT
ERFIREBEEASE A
PHEAEAR -HBRAE
EHELKLZBERIEES
N

Y BB R Y R 1 A S B W R Y
BRRMARKRTTE - W
BRARANEERER/RAEE
FEREE MELERENR
PrBETHERENAAEE-
EEREERIERESR
HFFEENEAEESRAE
R AR ME - RER S G AT
Y 8 A G 2 1O B EE DA % BT
EORERIAREGE VP
RWBARN LA EENE -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

(i) Business combinations
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying amount
of the acquirer’'s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(ir)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interests recognised and
previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequent accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It
means the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is

accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the
income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(9]

Jointly controlled entity

Investments in joint arrangements are classified
either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
each investor has. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and majority of the
subsidiaries of the Group operate in the PRC and
their functional currency are RMB. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Group's presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within other
income and other gains — net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the company

are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group'’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group's
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange

difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalised less any impairment losses.
No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 5-10 years
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Furniture, fittings and equipment and other leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their
useful life or the lease term, unless the entity expects to
use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other income and other gains —
net, in the consolidated income statement.

2.7 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the CGU or group of CGUs level.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)
(a) Goodwill (Continued)

(b)

(©

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUs to
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to
the recoverable amount of the unit, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately
as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer relationships and non-competitor
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses
are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
They have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (Continued)
(d) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3to 5
years.

(e) Patents

Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are not
subject to amortisation and are tested at least annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset'’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investments and financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the

following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those

assets changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(9]

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other income and other gains -
net together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other income and other gains - net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other income and
other gains - net and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that do
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within other income
and other gains - net in the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income and other gains - net when the Group’s

right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other income and other
gains - net in the consolidated income statement
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other

changes in fair value.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables, see Note 4.1(b) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10

2.12

2.13

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based
on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
inventories sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14

2.15

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred
on foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are
estimated based on interest rates on similar borrowings
in the entity’s functional currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred taxes recognised arising on a lease

Assets acquired under lease contracts give rise to
temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax base. Short-term leases and leases of low
value assets are recognised as a straight-line basis
as expense in profit or loss. The amount that is
charged to rentals by the lessee in its consolidated
income statement is likely to be the same as the
amount charged in arriving at the taxable profit. An
exception to this is where accrued rentals, deferred
rentals or lease incentives give rise to temporary
differences. The Group considers the lease which
is on balance sheet as a single transaction in which
the asset and liability are integrally linked, so
there is no net temporary difference at inception.
Subsequently, as differences arise on settlement
of the liability and the amortisation of the leased
asset, there will be a net temporary difference on
which deferred tax is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme ("MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover,
all the employees of the Group's entities incorporated
in Mainland China of the PRC (the “Mainland China”)
participate in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare benefits,
organised and administered by the local governments.
The Group also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules for the
employees of the subsidiary located in Germany. In the
United States of America (“USA"), the Group makes
defined contributions at certain percentage of monthly
salary to retirement and medical schemes managed by
the federal government of USA in accordance with US
rules and regulations. It is the federal government’s
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to those
staff who retire. The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments
is available. No pension obligation is required under the
Botswana laws and regulation.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Share-based payment

(a) Share option scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
payment under which the entity receives services
from a business consultant as consideration
for equity instruments (options) of the Group.
Information relating to these schemes is set out in

Note 19(a).

For equity-settled share-based payment
transactions, the Group measures the services
received at their fair value unless that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, and the corresponding
increase in equity. If the Group cannot estimate
reliably the fair value of the services received, it
shall measure the services received by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments granted at
the date the business consultant renders service.
Given the services are provided evenly over a period
of time, the expense is based on the share price

over that period.

(b) Employee share scheme

As disclosed in Note 19(b), Guangdong Jiahao
Foodstuff Co., Ltd (“Guangdong Jiahao"), a
subsidiary of the Group operates equity-settled
shared-based compensation plan, under which
Guangdong Jiahao granted its equity instruments
to its employees and employees of its subsidiary in

exchange for their service.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Share-based payment (Continued)

(b) Employee share scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the employee service received in
exchange for the grant of equity instruments is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments granted:

° Including any market performance conditions
(e.g., the entity’s share price);

o Excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° Including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g., the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
equity instruments that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.

At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Revenue recognition

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of goods and services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of
discounts and after eliminating sales with the
Group companies. The Group recognises revenue
when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforce able right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation is measured based on
the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the
contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for

each contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effect of a financing component if it is

significant.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(c¢) Dividend income

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive

payment is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) the management intends to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

(c) thereis an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45

e BHRRME

(Bx

2.

SHEEREIN  MASEHUARETITIR)

TESHEERE (F)

2.22 T B A AN

MREEARNELRER R -
ﬁ%¢ﬁﬁ(ﬁ@“?&%ﬁiﬁ
IRARER) AEEZER
BTG NERSELEE

(a) EE dn#XlT £ A 1T 3 AJ SEAK %
BVEELRHERER

by BEEBERETKZENEE
I HESHER

(0 BREINEAXHLEZETLE
=

(d) FIERZELEEWM S
REE R M ek

(e) RHAMBM  HHEREME
R AT 5 A B B e iR A Bk B
ZELEE &

) KRB BRI A B8R A
T EELE X

BREHMBEBRAANELEEY
FEEEZIFEARERRKAER
AEFERAESmARGEN FAF
PR EBIBSF -

HMMEERARELERITANE
AR SRR SER - BEWE
RIEERMZABAAEE R AR
THRBEE -

MBEESFETHERNA -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take
effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an
index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed
and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESEEIUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases (Continued) 223710 E (1)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties
and motor vehicles are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a
purchase option. The Group does not have any leases of
low-value assets.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make
any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as
lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24

2.25

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions retrospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendment provides an optional practical
expedient allowing lessees to elect not to assess whether a
rent concession related to Covid19 is a lease modification.
Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying rent
concessions in the same way as they would if they were not
lease modifications. The practical expedient only applies to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met: a.
the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;
b. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due
on or before 30 June 2021; and c. there is no substantive
change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all qualifying
Covid-19-related rent concessions. Rent concessions totalling
RMB908,000 have been accounted for as negative variable
lease payments and recognised in administrative expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2020 (Note 25), with a corresponding adjustment to
the lease liability. There is no impact on the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2020.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

e BHRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4., HHEREAKRERE (EF)

4.

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
financial instruments that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and most of their
transactions are denominated in RMB. The
Group did not have other significant exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

If HKD and United States dollars (“USD"),
being the main foreign currencies in which
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
denominated, had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB during the year ended
31 December 2020, with all other factors
remaining unchanged, the profit after income
tax for the year and equity as at year end
date would have been affected as follows:

Change of profit after income

4.1 BIEEKEE (E)
(a) TEEE
(i) SIEE
REBMETEREA RSP
B A e - £ ZINE
[E B Ty IR B &2 B U A8
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ZHBRARIMIEEE
BEARE MREBN
Bl B8 A Al 2 T aE & # A
BB AKEBETE
BB ARTREREE
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REHFE HAEEL
mEARINERR

BLEET(ER] 2
AEBERMEENAR
MEBFFEESINEE
#H £20209F12A318 1t
FERN BEBERE
THARBHE &
5% * MmATA HM A =4
BAE . BIEARFER
MeBFERFERERS
MEEMT :

Change of equity increase/

tax increase/(decrease) (decrease)
RERBARAN E#2%28
gEEn/ (B2) gm/ (84)
fortheyear ~ fortheyear  fortheyear  for the year
ended 31 ended 31 ended 31 ended 31
December December December December
2020 2019 2020 2019
BE020F  BE019F  HEWNF  BEW19F
12R318 12R318 12R318 12A318
LEE LEE LEE LEE
Group r5E
- Strengthened by 5% ~FHE% 3,200 1,014 2,754 5,641
- Weakened by 5% ~EfE5% (3,200) (1,014) (2,754) (5,641)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates
on borrowings at floating rates had been 50
basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2020
would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB3,495,000 (2019: RMB2,660,000).

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because of
listed equity investments held by the Group,
which are classified as financial assets at FVPL
(Note 16).

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the listed
equity investments classified as financial
assets at FVPL at the end of each reporting
period. If the fair values of the listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at
FVPL held by the Group had been 5% higher/
lower, profit after tax for the year would have
been approximately RMB1,535,000 higher/
lower for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB2,058,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and at FVPL, as well as credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating
o external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to
meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

o significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Trade receivables
The Group applies the simplified approach
to providing for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and
invoice dates. The historical loss rates for
each aging bucket are derived base on
the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency
to write-off. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to expected loss rates to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

The loss allowance provision as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 is determined as
follows, and the expected credit losses below
also incorporate forward looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Trade receivables (Continued)
As at 31 December 2020

e BHRRME

(B BEEBES - FASEHAARE T LIR)
4. HEBERBREE (&)
4.1 MERBEZR (H)

(b) EERE(
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(i) BZENRT(E)
R2020%12H31H

0-90 91days- 181days- Over
Trade receivables days 180days 360days 360 days Total
g5 Bl 0-90F 91-180F 181-3608 &iB360H CE
Effective expected loss rate  TEEFERBHER 0%  0.005% 501%  46.68%
Gross carrying amount REEE 883,425 93,287 22,568 21,487 1,020,767
Loss allowance provision REeE - 5 1,131 10,031 11,167
As at 31 December 2019 201912 A31H

91 days- 181days—  Over 360

Trade receivables 0-90days  180days 360 days days Total
EL TN 0-90H 91-180H 181-360H 2183608 CE
Effective expected loss rate AT ARBHER 0%  0.005% 236%  31.24%
Gross carrying amount KEEE 792,694 41,649 53,353 35,227 922,923
Loss allowance provision BESSE - 2 1,257 11,004 12,263




Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4. BHERER (&)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 MERREZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&
(i)  Trade receivables (Continued) (i) EZEKF(E)
The loss allowance provision for trade B 5 U 3k R E B
receivables reconciles to the opening loss ELHR ) B E M FRER 0T -

allowance for that provision as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
Opening loss allowance at the S E &
beginning of the year 12,263 9,334
Provision for impairment on trade 542 /& I B8R ORI E
receivables 406 6,515
Disposal of subsidiaries LEME AR (487) -
Written off as uncollectible [ 48 IR B 1T S 88 (1,015) (3,586)
Closing loss allowance at FRBEERE
the end of the year 11,167 12,263
As at 31 December 2020, the gross MN2020F128318 + &
carrying amount of trade receivables were SEKRTHNEEREBEAS
RMB1,020,767,000 (31 December 2019: ANEKE¥1,020,767,000
RMB922,923,000), and thus the maximum 7t (2019F12A31H -
exposure to loss of trade receivables were AR #®922,923,000
RMB1,009,600,000 (31 December 2019: IT) =N
RMB910,660,000). xR ABRBEAAR

#1,009,600,0007T °
(2019%12A318 : AR
#910,660,0007T) °
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Other receivables

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include other receivables. Other receivables
mainly includes notes receivable, deposits,
deductible input tax of Value-Added Tax,
advances to staff, retention money and
others.

The loss allowance provision for other
receivables reconciles to the opening loss
allowance for that provision as follows:

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

4.

A 2B AARETTIIR)

MHEEER (&)
BERREE (&)
(b) EEEEE (&

4.1

(ii)

L fib JEH 5

H it ABE SH AR AN FT B 1
TREEREEMER
RKoHBEBEREER
EEEERRE EE 18
EFAENERR B

NEIR BRERH
fib,
H & WK 0 R 1E R B

HEEPIRBRAEEGAT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Opening loss allowance at the 7R B E
beginning of the year 30,463 20,693
Provision for impairment loss on L W SROR B
other receivables 6,986 9,890
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B A A (496) -
Written off as uncollectible AU T A 8 (2,099) (120)
Closing loss allowance at FRBERE
the end of the year 34,854 30,463

As at 31 December 2020, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables was
RMB306,277,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB412,029,000), and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of other receivables was
RMB271,423,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB381,566,000).
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) ~ Financial assets at FVPL

The Group is also exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt instruments that are
measured at FVPL (Note 16), of which wealth
management products are considered to be
low credit risk, where they have a low risk of
default and banks has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term.

The maximum credit risk exposure of
unlisted equity investments at the end of
the reporting period are its carrying amount
RMB112,614,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB58,304,000).

(c) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors
rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to
meet operational needs and that the Group does
not breach borrowing covenants on its borrowing
facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration
the Group's debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal statement
of financial position ratio targets and if applicable,
external regulatory or legal requirements — for
example, currency restrictions.

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

4. BHEEAREE (H)
4.1 HBEREE (H)
(b) ERER (&)

(i) KA%EEHEERE
BAHASEGDBAE
AEEEEGRLA R
EEHEEEBHHA
U BB AT A
AR R R (5
16) Kb EERE
SERBREEHRR -
AR IE R BT
783 4 5 PR 17
SEETEET R

RMEBAR FLTR
rEENEaEERR
EEAFEEHEARE
112,614,000t (2019
F12A8318 : AR
58,304,0007T) °

(c) HEMEE
HeneaBRlEaRBHE
EXIRNT EFTEEEHE
MRENE & FRARETAA -
BREEHEZRNEZES
Z-EREEREENER
HERER - it FRBEE
TEEEBBENE &R
B A A BRI &R
ERBFE RINEEMEE K
AP TE — ) 208 B R I (40
) e
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as the
impact of discounting is not significant.

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

4. HHEREE(E)

4.1 Bti§
(c)

B kA= ()
By B ()
TERBERASENTRAE
RRABH I HAR R
HEERBRAZAREH
BRI SGBEETON - &
RABRBENERAREHR
MEaRRERE TBE—
FREHIOEENEKREE
ERANEENTELIEK -

Between Between Between Between
Less than 1and 2and 3and 4and  Over5
lyear 2years 3years 4years 5years years Total
-EZ WEE ZHEE [EE
-EHT RE =F L3 iE RENLE @it
Group £8
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12A31R
Borrowings (including interest) &3 (& 72 1,115,088 881,090 1,046,656 = = - 3,042,834
Trade and other payables B REAMEMNTE
excluding statutory liabilities (PEREEEER
BT 450,420 - - - - 800 451,220
Lease liabilities HEaE 26,132 17236 8399 6304 382 635 68278
1,591,640 898,326 1,055055 6,304 3852 7155 3,562,332
At 31 December 2019 ®2019%12531A
Borrowings (including interest) &3 (A& E:HH2) 833952 697,787 805518 1,046,496 - - 3,383,753
Trade and other payables B REMENTE
excluding statutory liabilities (TaELERER
b 452,058 2137 1750 6,631 - - 462,576
Lease liabilities HEak 25442 20310 15464 9223 7177 14770 92,386
1311452 720234 822,732 1062350 7,177 14,770 3938715

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's net current
assets is RMB7,145,001,000 (31 December 2019:

RMB6,957,179,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.2

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the
debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing
the net debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group's
net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including
current and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash
equivalents. No debt-to-equity ratio is presented as the
Group had net cash surplus as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

e B RRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

4. HHEREE(E)

4.2

4.3

EXmER
AEBNEAREREBERABNHZRE
HeeMig 28 URBRREHDR
MAHMERFAE AR F
RERRENERAGEBUREES
DN

RTHEFAABELERE  A5H
ARGHABRINTRENR S
B MRERDIRNEANRE - #ET
sk h & B EARRER o

AEBRLEHEENRSIRA R
WANKRERDBREBENEY -

AEBNEAGELREREER
BB o b Lt R Th iR BRE RS F R A
REATHE AEENERFER
REFR (BERDEIERBER)
BMERESRRESEEY - ARASE
EMNReASEBYWEEARE
R RE - ANEER20209F 2019
F12A31HB 2B MELBELL
RAAEEERSRBFE -

DNRAEEME
ATHUARBEAENSRIA
ETHE DRBEARBERER
PRABERTDHNRMNEE - TF
BRWERDT

- HAEEHRBEEEETS
HRE CREHEB) (F—F)

- BTE—EARBNREN -
2OH BB B T B
fobi A - B (B0 (B AR)
SR (BR & B45) (B =
@)

- BEMBEYIFKEANBRE
mEHENE A (TR B
BA)(BE=E) -
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TRYRANEBR2020%20194F
AMBE®EAAREFERERDN

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4.

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.3

The following tables present the Group's financial assets
measured and recognised at fair value at 31 December

170

2020 and 2019: TREE
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
By &E £—E -l - FEZE Hit
At 31 December 2020 #2020 128310
Financial assets at FVPL DWAnBESEER
BEHABERL
TREE
— Listed equity investments —LmEREE 16 29,064 - - 29,064
— Wealth management products -IEERER 16 = - 540,492 540,492
- Unlisted equity investment —FETERKE 16 - - 112,614 112,614
Financial assets at FVOCI DWRnBESEER
BEHALMEE
WamseREE
— Unlisted overseas equity BN LT
investments =iy E 12 = = 55,072 55,072
29,064 - 708,178 737,242
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B aE - - = HEt
At 31 December 2019 H2019F12H31H
Financial assets at FVPL DWRARBEFEER
BEHAEREL
TREE
— Listed equity investments —FTRERRE 16 41,920 - - 41,920
- Wealth management products -BEEEEM 16 - - 726,191 726,191
- Unlisted equity investment —JEFTRERIKRE 16 - - 58,304 58,304
Financial assets at FVOC| WRoRnEEFERE
BEARLMEE
Wz emEE
- Unlisted equity investments —RHBEMIELT
in the PRC BRKRE 12 - - 49,095 49,095
- Unlisted overseas equity —RBINIE LT
investments ERIRE 12 - - 112,810 112,810
41,920 ~ 946400 988,320
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

There were no transfers of financial assets between level
1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were the
listed equity investments included in financial assets at
FVPL. The fair value of these financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if
guoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets of level 1 held by the Group is the current bid
price.

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

MEEREE (R

4.

4.3

AREEMGE (E)
HE2020F12A31HIEFE - #
BEMEERFEE F_BNE
“EREERCEEARED -

R2020K2019F12A31H » I &
EMEeMmIANEREAREBEFE -

KR2020%2019%F12H318 A 7
BEELATNE EeREERT
ANRAAREBEFEEEEHTAE
HEsNeREERN ETES
K"E -HEERMSPRINELS
BMTEMNAABEERREHDT
BRE - -WRAURZZH X5
R ACITEAR TERE
REETWIBRERESTH®RE 8
BEUEMEHRESETRN  YAE
LERRRTBEYLSER FHER
MEABAENTISER S - AEBEF
ENE—EeMEEFSANTISHR
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 4. BHERER (&)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.3 DREEMGF (&)
The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value H E2020F M20194F12A318 -
hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were ARBEERTHNE=ZEcBEE
financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL. BUAARBEF2EHEH T AH
The following table presents the changes of the Group’s HEERENESREEMUARE
financial assets of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy BEst2 BHEHT AEHERN
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019: TREE - TRINETAEEHE

20204 N&2019F12A31B IEF &
MARBEELRTPE-EcBEE

SEAE
Unlisted Wealth
equity management
investment products Total
kL BE
RERE EREM 3t
At 1 January 2019 RH20195181H 159,197 515,177 674,374
Additions NE 69,362 1,020,000 1,089,362
Disposals & (2,545) (822,431) (824,976)
Fair value change recognised in other R E b 2 E P HERH
comprehensive income ARLEEE (17,531) - (17,531)
Fair value change recognised in other 7 E b It A 0L e it 5 —
income and other gain - net FERRALANER
e 9,001 13,445 22,446
Currency translation differences EhE =5 2,725 - 2,725
At 31 December 2019 72019128311 220,209 726,191 946,400
At 1 January 2020 R2020F1818 220,209 726,191 946,400
Additions NE 2,500 1,488,000 1,490,500
Disposals & (36,089)  (1,692,167)  (1,728,256)
Fair value change recognised in other ~ REM 2 E R PERD
comprehensive income NREEE (17,990) - (17,990)
Fair value change recognised in other 7 E b Mg A FNE b Ui 25 —
income and other gain - net FRPERLANEE
#g) 6,243 18,468 24,711
Currency translation differences BimE e (7,187) - (7,187)
At 31 December 2020 72020F12A31H 167,686 540,492 708,178
Asset-based approach, market approach and equity Fo-ELREENHERREE
allocation model are adopted in valuation the financial E I EMER D IRER o KE
assets of level 3. There were no changes in valuation EBihERE MR LS o

techniques during the year.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.4 Group’s valuation processes

4.5

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer ("CFQ"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation team
at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s
reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

5.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7 and Note
2.8. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs to sell. These calculations
require the use of estimates (Note 9). Details of
impairment charge, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed
in Note 9.

mEe

(Bx

4.

SEEBEIN

P HRIE

A 2B AARETTIIR)

B 7% L B 2R (4E)
4.4 XEENHERRE

4.5

AEBEZMBHRE—ENE &
BERMBREEERT LEFE
FHBEYIERENHY THE
REEETHE BRAEE=E
RNAMEE - It J\Zﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ'ﬁ*
(T BBEDER MBAER
1&/J\%ﬂﬁiﬁ$%l2#&%5ﬁﬂﬁﬂi
PHEFRIT R wMEERIZE
HiER -
RBFERATENESREERE
BzAREE
REHKAGTENEREENRE
MarEEDEAKREERS -

BA g2 & 5l B : M R

it B0 1 B & 3RS
Y e S

BTG WERBE
BREEEBHBRTHE

EHARREMHNEETRA -

5.1

BRE AT RER
$E.7%5EXT’Eﬁ1E 3 KRR e P

Em+1ﬁu+pu/3;;5%§ {EQ‘EE‘*E
Eam,\%,‘\n%ﬁ\ B REHEE
MEBEZREER R T —EMK
FENAELEERABRZ G IR
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AERE

B M sF2.7 %2 .8F it Y & 5t
BR AEEBZELEFSFA
H—AEHEREEALBERE-

REeELE umT%@ﬁﬁ
TIREFEREEEAAEE
BEHEKAMEPHNESE
ET WEAEHFTIAMG
B (W39 - BEERESRE -

FE B B EN
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b) PRC enterprise income tax and deferred

taxation

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it’s probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the
PRC approved by the National People’s Congress
on 16 March 2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends remitted from the PRC entities to
overseas investors with effect from 1 January 2008.
A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the
5% treaty rate is not automatically granted. The
taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors
estimated that a portion of profits generated by
the PRC subsidiaries would be distributed to their
Hong Kong immediate parent companies and
the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained.
Therefore, deferred income tax liabilities had
been provided based on 5% or 10% of the
estimated profits to be remitted to Hong Kong. The
Directors of the Company will review the funding
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend
distribution policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The Group has organised its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1) Flavours and fragrances;
(2) Tobacco raw materials;
(3) Aroma raw materials; and
(4) Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of flavours
and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and condiment segments.

(1) Flavours and fragrances segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours and
fragrances products.

(2) Tobacco raw materials segment includes research and
development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves and new materials products
that are innovative, functional and applicable to tobacco
industry.

(3) Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

(4) Condiment segment includes production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiments.

BmBEALN  AEZEIUNARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B
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DERFRIR ©
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

mE

(Bx

6.

The segment information for the year ended 31 December

2020 is presented below:

R

SEEBEIN

EXBER T BER (&)

B BRIGAARETTIIR)

HE2020F12A31BIEFE 2 nEBE R

5T

Year ended 31 December 2020

BZ2020512831ALEE
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances  materials ~ materials Condiment Others Total

Ef ERRR ERH Eal S Hitr @t
Total revenue BEXE 2,094,460 637,539 646,322 502,835 7,954 3,889,110
Inter-segment revenue AEEEE (9,435) (15,933) (7,626) (84) (1,974) (35,052)
Segment revenue - net NEEEE-FE 2,085,025 621,606 638,696 502,751 5980 3,854,058
Segment result GRES 1,258,783 249,609 47,909  (432,490)  (221,019) 902,792
Finance income HBIA 159,915
Finance costs BER A (143,983)
Finance income - net B A — 358 15,932
Share of results of associates Wﬁﬁﬁf BN R LR

andajointly controlled entity ~ B8z ¥4 30,097
Profit before income tax BRT A B A 948,821
Income tax expense FTigH (280,382)
Profit for the year KEZEF 668,439
Depreciation e 44,719 84,011 24,888 9,885 6,812 170,315
Amortisation B 1,643 9,967 18,095 73,696 232 103,633
As at 31 December 2020
R2020%12831R
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances  materials  materials Condiment Others Total

Ef ERRR R AR @ Hith @t

Segment assets NHEE 8,346,729 2,762,317 1,082,892 4,800,859 685,257 17,678,054
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(CONTINUED)

The segment information for year ended 31 December 2019 is

presented below:

EXBER T BER (&)

BZ20194 128318 EFEZH BER
AT

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZ20195 128318 L5
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
' ERRH BRH 380K Efts @it
Total revenue BEEE 2,185,339 763,962 625,880 700,469 1,894 4,277,544
Inter-segment revenue HERHE (21,412) (9,538) (5,471) (83) - (36,504)
Segment revenue - net ST 2163927 754424 620409 700,386 1,804 4,241,040
Segment result GRES 1,287,737 311,052 82,124 144,816 (96,918) 1,728,811
Finance income B R U A 176,956
Finance costs BEK A (188,984)
Finance cost - net BERAE— 38 (12,028)
Share of results of associates EEBENA LR
and a jointly controlled entity  yrujgras - w4z 29,034
Profit before income tax BEAEF 1,745,817
Income tax expense FTER (372,076)
Profit for the year REERF 1,373,741
Depreciation nE 40,976 85,029 21,462 8,003 5,042 160,512
Amortisation B 1,762 9,951 16,841 73,672 221 102,447
As at 31 December 2019
20195128318
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
R EARM BRH 380K Efty @it
Segment assets AYEE 8,420,755 3,029,563 957,280 5,277,279 278,758 17,963,635
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit before income tax earned
by each segment without inclusion of unallocated corporate
expenses, finance costs, finance income and share of results of
associates and a jointly controlled entity. This is the measure
reported to chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments
in associates, investments in a jointly controlled entity, financial
assets at FVPL and financial assets at FVOCI that are managed
by the Finance Department, deferred income tax assets, other
non-current assets, inventories, trade and other receivables,
short-term time deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
They exclude financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at
FVPL that are managed by the Investment Department and
intersegment eliminations.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and
2019 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales
of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials and aroma
raw materials and condiments to customers mainly of whom
located in the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted
to 11% (2019: 11%) of the Group’s total revenue. These
revenues are attributable to flavours and fragrances segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

e B RRME

(B =B EAEI

6.

AR EEAARETLIIR)

EXBER T BER (&)

(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers () HEEFzEREMHBEWEARE
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to rEEEBRERFENERBZE
contracts with customers: &EA:
As at 31 December
M12A31RH
2020 2019
20204 20194
Total contract liabilities BERAE 182,701 172,889
(i) Significant changes in contract liabilities () BEAEEZEXEE
The Group receives payments from customers NREBIZBEHNOENNNR
based on billing schedule as established in ZHARPRWE I FIE o« &
contracts. Payments are usually received in advance HBEEBERAENBLHEBTK
under the contracts which are mainly from sales of BIURE B AEHTERE
condiments. The increase in contract liabilities were HERFHK D SR & B
mainly attributable to an increase in the future X ERERRKFEKRZH
demand of condiments. FESkEH A o
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to (i) HEE B EHEHEBZRA

contract liabilities

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Revenue recognised that was included BB EEEVAREE
in the contract liabilities balance at BREAA 2 BRI A
the beginning of the year 152,205 187,624

All contracts are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

MEARMNBARA —FXHE
ReREBTBMBHRSER
FISHE[ELPAOBAINR
E ABRBREHARNR
SIETE
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

Yk HBERRE

Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings machinery vehicles ~ equipment improvements in progress Others Total
G %E

iR B HERRE "B L HEZE BRI At @it
At 1 January 2019 R201951518
Cost KA 861,693 911,764 58,574 205,815 78,295 215,242 2,962 2,334,345
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (321,886) (546,412) (41,738) (139,745) (39,060) - (935 (1,089,776)
Net book amount FEFE 539,807 365,352 16,836 66,070 39,235 21582 2,027 1,244,569
Yearended 31 December 2019 EZ2019512A31A L EE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIREEFE 539,807 365,352 16,836 66,070 39,235 215,242 2027 1,244,569
Additions RE 1471 21,434 1488 11,898 10,096 261,958 - 308,345
Transfers g4 45978 123,589 23 5439 11,745 (186,774) - -
Disposals e 31 (3799) (4615) 1) (1473) 10563 - - (20663)
Depreciation ik (36,137) (81,063) (3.752) (13,762) (5,741) - (296) (140,751)
Currengy translation differences ~ EHJAEEE 83 (458) 2) 4 9 - - (382)
Net book amount at 31 December ~ #M12A31BEEFE 547,403 424,239 14,380 68,176 44,763 290,426 1731 1,391,118
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318
Cost ol 903,491 1,030,050 58,148 230,935 74,906 290,426 2,962 2,590,918
Accumulated depreciation ZHME (356,088) (605,811) (43,768) (162,759) (30,143) - (1,231) (1,199,800)
Net hook amount FAFE 547,403 424,239 14,380 68,176 44,763 290,426 1731 1,391,118
Year ended 31 December 2020 E2020512831R L £
Netbook amountat 1 January ~ FMA1REEZE 547,403 424239 14,380 68,176 44,763 290,426 1731 1,391,118
Additions AE 18 9,500 4113 15,902 1,174 117,595 - 158,402
Transfers &4 8,349 81,178 Y] 5,051 9,951 (11171) - =
Disposals ek 3 (8,412 (3,104) (1,306) (3,692) (1,545) - - (18,059)
Depreciation il (36,993) (86,397) (3.502) (11,862) (3.167) - (296) (142,217)
Currency trandlation differences ~ EHAEZE (244) (516) (52) (99) (76) - - (987)
Net book amount at 31 December ¥ 12A31B EEFE 510,221 431,500 13,675 13,476 61,100 296,850 1,435 1,388,257
At 31 December 2020 2020512531
Cost B 887,708 1,109,593 57,825 242,539 71910 296,850 2,962 2,675,387
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (377,487) (678,093) (44,150) (169,063) (16,810) - (1,527) (1,287,130)
Net book amount BESE 510,221 431,500 13,675 13,476 61,100 296,850 1435 1,388,257
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

7. U= #BERZEE)

FERATHEH

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
Manufacturing overheads Eb 4= 68,988 72,681
Selling and marketing expenses HEREERS 791 1,691
Administrative expenses 1TEE A 72,438 66,379
Total depreciation TELEER 25 142,217 140,751

As at 31 December 2020, buildings with net book value of
RMB73,248,000 (31 December 2019: RMB76,010,000), were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

8. LEASE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to lease:

MR2020F12A831H EEEEARE
73,248,0007T (20194128318 : AR
#76,010,0007T) MEFEEBIEAE K

SEHE M -

8. &\
(a) RREUBMRARBEANEE
FAEMBARRBRATEEES
R E R

As at 31 December

MR12A318

Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194

Right-of-use assets: ERAEEE:
Land use rights + b {5 B ) 181,402 181,129
Properties Y 59,500 79,373
Motor vehicles b=t = 58
240,902 260,560

Lease liabilities: HEEE:

Current mE 24,526 22,448
Non-current ERF 39,345 60,135
63,871 82,583

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended
31 December 2020 were RMB36,408,000 (2019:
RMB29,871,000).

HE2020FE 12831 L FEE 2 F A
W& AL NEE A A R #536,408,000
76 (20194 : AR#29,871,0007T) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
8. LEASE (CONTINUED) 8. ME&E (&)
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHBRIREIANESEE(E)

statement of financial position (Continued)

(i)  The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets for
land use rights represent prepaid operating lease
payments and their net book amounts.

Right-of-use assets for land use rights with net book
amount of RMB15,265,000 as at 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: RMB15,846,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b)
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following
amounts relating to lease:

(i)

AEEBELMERENER
RIENKCEHERERE
EEE/?{E

M2020F12A831H @ BREH
B8 ANR#15,265,000TH) +
i AAE (20195128318 -
A R #15,846,0007T) & 1E &
AEBERMERS -

REERERBANEE
REBRRBTIATHEBAEEHN
T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
B EE 2020 2019%F
Depreciation and amortisation fFEAEEENITEMN
charge of right-of-use assets:  #HEM :
Land use rights T AR 6,004 6,193
Properties M 28,040 19,588
Motor vehicles B 58 173
25 34,102 25,954
Interest expense B E 27 3,450 3,092
Expense relating to short-term RHHEEEA
leases 25 14,530 16,249

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended
31 December 2020 was RMB40,643,000 (2019:
RMB37,235,000).
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

9. EIFEE

Trademarks Non-
and Customer  competition Computer
Goodwill licenses relationships  agreement software Patents Total
BE BERFTR EFBG FRTHE EMEH 7 @t
Note
[iE (a) (b)
At 1 January 2019 #2019%141A
Cost KA 5,903,875 544,817 787,443 3,085 9,005 46,172 7,294,397
Accumulated amortisation and ZABERAE
impairment (36,366) (79,602) (238 946) (3,013) (6,049) (30,424) (394,400)
Net book amount FRFE 5,867,509 465,215 548,497 72 2,956 15,748 6,899,997
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE019512A3ALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIBREFE 5,867,509 465,215 548,497 i 2,956 15748 6,899,997
Additions RE - - - - 403 3,349 3,752
Amortisation B - (23,269) (64,581) - (775) (7,629 (96,254)
Net book amount at 31 December M2 A31HEEZFE 5,867,509 441946 483916 i 2,584 11468 6,807,495
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318
Cost KA 5,903,875 544,817 787,444 3,085 9,407 49,521 7,298,149
Accumulated amortisation and ZHEHIAE
impairment (36,366) (102,871) (303,528) (3,013 (6,823) (38,053) (490,654)
Net book amount RERE 5,867,509 441946 483916 72 2,584 11468 6,807,495
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE00E12A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MABREFE 5,867,509 441,946 483,916 n 2,584 11468 6,807,495
Additions RE - - - - 1,331 10,663 11,994
Amortisation B - (23,269) (64,366) - (945) (9,049) (97,629)
Impairment A (a) (495,498) - = = > = (495,498)
Net book amount at 31 December R’M2A3BREFE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 n 2,970 13,082 6,226,362
At 31 December 2020 120205124318
Cost ( 5,903,875 544,817 787,443 3,085 10,738 60,180 7,310,138
Accumulated amortisation and S EERAE
impairment (531,864) (126,140) (367,893) (3.013) (7,768) (47,08)  (1,083,776)
Net book amount BEFE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 n 2,970 13,082 6,226,362
Amortisation is included in cost of goods sold and B EESAWSROEER N LT
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement. HERNA -
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

9. EWEE (&)

(@) Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated (a) BWEBEIEHKLFEHTEE BRI
profitability of operations, the anticipated future ST B ER Y oK AR 4R 4477 [ A E AN
operating synergies and enlarged market share. Goodwill KIS N ZERT o ANEE R AR
arising from prior year is allocated to the Group’s CGUs FEEA VVHETERBEEEY
identified within the operating segment. The goodwill is Mo 2% ERESELEEN  BHE
allocated in CGUs as follows: MERSELBEM2YWT

As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019
20205128318 R2019512A318
Reconstituted Reconstituted

Flavours tobacco Jiahao Flavours tobacco Jiahao
subgroup leaves  Foodstuff Others Total subgroup leaves Foodstuff Others Total
R  BEEE  ERRR it fa B EEERE  ERR4 fh @t
Goodwill ik 1,186,344 942,633 3,140,052 102,982 5,372,011 1,186,344 942,633 3,635,550 102,982 5,867,509
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based WeELBEMNNA KL £ % T RE

on the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Following the significant decrease in sales of the
Group due to the outbreak of Covid-19 Pandemic since
early 2020, management recalculated the recoverable
amounts of all CGUs as at 30 June 2020. The value in use
results of CGUs other than the CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Jiahao Foodstuff”) were
assessed to be exceed their carrying amounts as at 30
June 2020. According to the management’s estimation
of the recoverable amount of the CGUs of Jiahao
Foodstuff with the assistance of an independent valuer,
which was calculated based on its value in use that
was assessed to be higher than its fair value less costs
to sell, an impairment loss of RMB495,498,000 for this
CGU was recognised for the six months ended 30 June
2020, resulted in a reduce in the carrying amount of the
goodwill of Jiahao Foodstuff from RMB3,635,550,000 to
RMB3,140,052,000 as at 30 June 2020.
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e B RRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 9. EBEEE(HE)
(@)  (Continued) (@) (&)
As at 31 December 2020, management reassessed the R2020F12831H @ BEEEBXET
key assumptions for impairment testing of goodwill of (AR ERSELESENTEEEFENA
all CGUs and engaged an independent valuer to conduct AP HEBESR  WERB TG
impairment test on the CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff and MAESERMNBEEENRSE
CGUs of reconstituted tobacco leaves. Based on the HEEBEAETRERE - BT
assessment, the Group considered that there is no b T Bt & 22020F6 A30H 1F I~
additional impairment of goodwill for the year ended B AEAEZEMMNIREeELENIE
31 December 2020 other than the afore-mentioned R H R EE B A KR #495,498,000
impairment loss of RMB495,498,000 for the CGUs of 7T (20194 : #) 4N » REBF R E
Jiahao Foodstuff recognised for the six months ended 30 HE2020F12A31BItFEEX &
June 2020 (2019: nil). 28O B (E o
The value in use calculations use pre-tax cash flow FTREERENEEERINAST
projections based on financial budgets prepared by HBEEEmMBEsT 2R SR
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows S8 - BELFEHNBRESREE
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the Bt KEFIEEXRIEL I R
estimated terminal growth rates below. The terminal AN o sZkBERRERI&HBIAIR
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average SESENZESNRETIESHER
growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU Ko AR AR AL RIP
operates. The discount rates used are pre-tax and R ZERBEES LA ZETE
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments or BERIH RO - BIEEBIRE ST
entities as below. Management determined budgeted MEENESTREENTBINES
gross margin based on past performance and their FEEERME o
expectations for the market development.
The key assumptions used for value in use calculations HEFRABEENBERERY T :
are as follows:
As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019
R2020E128318 20198128318
Reconstituted Reconstituted
Flavours tobacco Jiahao Flavours tobacco Jiahao
subgroup |eaves Foodstuff Others subgroup leaves Foodstuff Others
B BEEE EERE i Bk BEEE ER8m i

Forecast growth rate Ep -3.0%~0.0% 3.0%-~5.8%  4.9%~75.7% -21.7%~421.1% 0.0% 04%-54%  3.0%-~293% -14.4%~690.4%
Terminal growth rate KEFERE 0.0% 3.0% 30%  0.0%-3.0% 00% 3.0% 30% 00~3.0%
Budgeted gross margin ERETIES 830%  SA5%-586%  600%-613%  238%-45.0% 830%  55.1%56.1%  S58%-627%  31.2%-44.9%
Pre-tax discount rate REMRE 15.4% 15.3% 135%  15.2%-~22.3% 155% 15.4% 135%  15.5%~22.8%
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

9. EWEE (&)

(@) (Continued) (a) (&)
The recoverable amounts and the headrooms available EREBHNESESEN BiEE
(the excess of the recoverable amounts over the carrying ENReELEUNEZEZR RHR
amounts) of the CGUs of Flavours Subgroup, CGUs SESSBEMZRESRENETEE
of Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves and CGUs of Jiahao e (AUl & 588 B AR mE 2B D)
Foodstuff are as follows: BRI
As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019
#2020F12A31A 120194124318
Flavours  Reconstituted Jiahao Flavours  Reconstituted Jiahao
subgroup tobacco leaves Foodstuff subgroup  tobacco leaves Foodstuff
X BEEE EERR i BERE EE S
Recoverable amount BlEER 11,327,604 1,640,544 4,283,693 11,774,402 1,619,309 5,465,977
Headroom THEEH 5,994,018 111,538 136,672 6,284,868 159,674 620,185
The recoverable amount of the CGUs of Flavours FRABEERETNT  BREBLY
Subgroup, CGUs of Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves and WeEESSEMMA YL $%E - BiE
CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff would equal its carrying BEENESESESEMN I IRE 458
amount if the key assumptions were to change as NEZERNReELESMHATIL
follows: EleEEERMNEREE:
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
1200128318 0195128318
Flavours Subgroup Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Jiahao Foodstuff Flavours Subgroup Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Jiahao Foodstuff
14 ARER 5RAR i BREE 5280
From To From To From To from To from To From To
# z i 3 # I3 i z H ] H S
Forecast growth rate RitR% 30%~00% TAA%~T14%  30%~58%  1.1%-4.0% 49%-~T5.7% 3.9%~74.7% 00% 588%  04%-54% -3.1%~19% 3.0%-~293% -0.5%~258%
Terminal growth rate* KEFRRE NA NA 30% 16% 30% 26% NA NA 30% 0.7% 30% 12%
Budgeted gross proft margin -~ Bzt E7/% 83.0% 353% 54.5%<586% 51.8%-55.9% 60.0%-61.3% 588%-60.1% 830% 387% 55.1%~56.1% 51.9%-529% 558%-617% 51.7%-586%
Pre-tan discount rate BiERE 15.4% B7% 153% 16.2% 135% 138% 15.5% 826% 15.4% 16.7% 13.5% 15.0%
* The management have considered and assessed * EIEEBREE LG KEFEENS
reasonably possible changes for terminal growth rate and BRI pe s - WEIIRE MBI A AL
have not identified any other instances that could cause BYEREBHRSEESNHOIRE
the carrying amount of the CGU of Flavours Subgroup to BBEE RO 4 EE -
exceed its recoverable amount.
(b) Trademarks represent Peacock, Xinghu, Samshiang, (b) BWEDNEILE -EH MELF -

Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang, Jinchan, and Sanfan
trademarks.
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10.

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 10. RBE QR ZRE
The Group has interests in five (31 December 2019: six) 2020F12A318  AEE R A [
individually immaterial associates as at 31 December 2020. (2019512 A31H : /<{A) W I EHRIE K
The following table analyses, in aggregate, the movements WS A ANFEEREZE TRAEKERRV
of the carrying amount of the Group’s investments in these ZEMENTNIKERHENZERE N
associates, and its share of results of these associates. AlELMEENATEREEZESHN DN -
An analysis of the movements of equity investments in RE S N RN ESIEEES DO
associates is as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
At the beginning of the year F ) 385,881 396,685
Share of results of associates N e 13,481 18,938
Dividends received BB (6,952) (10,485)
Acquisition of Yunnan Nongken Gaoyuan Food WIEEEELRSFEE MR
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Nongken") BRARI([EMARZE]) = 2,411
Disposal of Hunan Golden Leaf HENmeEEEdghq
Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. EREMFERF
(“Hunan Golden Leaf") (HmeE]) (14,332) -
Disposal of Delion Food Service Limited HERNTEILZR M
ERAA - (17,264)
Adjustment for transactions between FREEBEBE AT 2
the Group and associates R (3.317) (4,404)
At the end of the year FR 374,761 385,881
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(Br=HBEAEIN -

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

e BHRRME

A 2B AARETTIIR)

10. RBERRAZRE (&)

(@ Asat 31 December 2020, the Group had interests in the (@) M20209F12H31H » "EE R
following associates: THENTHAREZ -
% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
=L AMRIBH FAEEREIE TEEXB
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology PRC 40% Produce and sell reconstituted
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf") i tobacco leaves
EMERESEMRERAR ([ERESE]) HEMHEREEE
Yunnnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd PRC 25.10% Manufacture and sales of
(“Hongta Blue Eagle”) H cigarette paper and auxiliary
EMAREERERRAR ([ABERE]) products
EENMESHEERALED®
Beijing Yunji Wuyu Technology Co., LTD PRC 20%  Provide software development
I REENFRERHER DA H service and sale of self-
developed software and
electronic products
REXHHRERBLHEERT
RECBHRETFE®
Yunnan Ruisheng Tobacco Technology Group PRC 6.72% Research, develop, produce
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Ruisheng”)(i) s and sell flavours and additives
ERmAEER M (RE)BRAR(E@EHA ) HE  AENHEEREHR
A0
Yunnan Nongken PRC 30% Purchase and sale of
EMEE H agricultural products, coffee
and tea raw materials
FERHERRER  MBER
(i) The Group has significant influence over Yunnan () AREERBEEEWANE
Ruisheng by representations on its board of FEedhLZFEE HEEQ
directors. BIEEARKEES
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B
11. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 11.
ENTITY

The Group has interests in one immaterial joint venture as at
31 December 2020 and 2019. The following table analyses the
movement of the carrying amount of the Group’s investments
in this jointly controlled entity.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in jointly
controlled entity is as follows:

e B RRME

BmBEALN  AEZEIUNARETTIIR)

RAREZEFHERZRE

20205 K2019F12A31H » "REER
—EWIEENERNRRITFEEES
i TRAASENRZARIEHEE
MIRE REE LRI TEEENR
BEEFHHDH -

RHERZEHEBNERREZESHHT N
T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEFE

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

At the beginning of the year F1 3,313 7,085

Share of results of a jointly controlled entity FEfR L EEH B RE A 16,616 10,096

Dividends received EHQH (3,456) (1,786)
Adjustment for transactions between the Group % ,\,\H¥ il

and a jointly controlled entity =1 %Zx% (9,063) (12,082)

At the end of the year FR 7.410 3,313

(@) As at 31 December 2020, the Group had interests in the

(a) J‘5A2020$12H31 B AEBERKMN

following jointly controlled entity: FIfEHERE A ER
% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
£ AMRIBE  AEEREOL FERE
Dianhua Benxiang Technology Co., LTD PRC 51% Research, development,
(“Dianhua Benxiang”) manufacture and sale of
BEARNHARAR (NEELRE]) H cigarette capsules, cigarette

Dianhua Benxiang is accounted for as jointly controlled
entity of the Group, whereby the Group and the
counterparty have joint control and rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, pursuant to Article of
Association.

materials, cigarette filter stick

and packaging materials

ﬁﬂ?% B EENESER
CBEME - BRREM

ﬂ&@ SR

HEABERASENKFESNE

B REE(RRIER)  NEEH
REBFTHERRNFEEER

HR 2 )
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise equity investments
which are not held for trading, and which the Group has
irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in
this category.

Equity investments at FVOCI include the following
investments:

e BHRRME

(Bx

SHEEREIN  MASEHUARETITIR)

12. LAREBEFEEHEHFAR

th2EWEsEMEE

(a) A2REBEFEEHSBF AR
thE2EBENEREENIE
NAnBEFEEHEZEHTARLM
EERENEREERBRTIARXS
MBENRERE  MAKEEY
IRRERR IR O 1 A BUH R R S HL AR
Rz AE R o

ANAnBEFEAHEZEHTARLM
EHREERREBREATRE

As at 31 December

M128318
2020 2019
20204 20194
Non-current assets: IEREEE
Unlisted equity investments in the PRC E’\‘:F‘ BIRIE FHERRE - 49,095
Unlisted overseas equity investments PBINYIE ETRERIRE 55,072 112,810
55,072 161,905

(b)

Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other

(b) #EERHEMEZEKREPEIAN

comprehensive income k|
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
B EE 2020F 2019%F
Losses recognised in other R E A2 R
comprehensive income: W EE
— Related to equity investments — RN E RS 20 (17,990) (17,531)
Dividend from equity investments LA QAR EEFTEAR
held at FVOCI recognised in profit ~ HE& &zt AHME2mE
or loss in other income and other  Ug 5 R IRAEIR B 1Y
gains — net: BT B U A
Efth e — ) FEE P TR
— Related to investments held at the —BEIFEFRIFTAR Z
end of the reporting year % & R = 2,394
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Investments in unlisted companies represent the
investments in certain private companies. These investees
were engaged in high-tech sector and education sector.
Taking into the probability of high uncertainty on the
expected future cash flows generated from the business
of these investees, income approach and market
approach are not appropriate under the valuations of the
fair value of the investments. Thus, asset-based approach
was used to measure the fair value of these investments.
Considering the investees of light assets, the fair value of
the investments approximated to relative proportion of
the carrying amount of the net assets of the investees at
the end of each reporting period.

The fair value measurements of financial assets at FVOCI

are categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial assets at FVOCI are denominated in the
following currencies:

e B RRME

(B BEEBES - FASEHAARE T LIR)
12. UAnEEFEEHSHT AR
fizEiEzEMEE (&)

(0 DREE RERRBREAE

FLEHRARESERERRE KL
BRAIMKE BEWREIRS
SRRERMHBE R - EEEE
LEIR A B B AL Y XA P EE R AV TR
ARBEERENTETHEEL  #
AHEREN DR BER - WAEM
MHETER - At - EEERIX
WARFEELRENAAEE-
ERIFEREEMNEERER
E G ESERSHR RENAA
EBEOUNEREEMFEERMT
BEMNEHELD -

RAnBEFELEZEFHTARLM
2EBENEREENAAEER
BEWRDBRAREBEERANE=FE -

NAnBEFEAHEZEHTARLM
EEWEZEREENTIIEED

e

As at 31 December

M12831H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB AR = 49,095
usD E 55,072 112,810
55,072 161,905

Please refer to Note 4.1 for an analysis of foreign
exchange risk.

SMNER B DM FES RMTEELT -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
13. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 13. EEFBHEE AFE
The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows: EILFT SRS T ¢
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
ERfERER ELfEnas
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation  expected to
profits surplus of  be remitted
arising assetsand ~ from group
from recognition entities
intra-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
sales tax loss Others Total assets  inthe PRC Total
AR
LT
S8R DEERER
LRmEE EEM HRE
Note FEEHZE BRREY il 33
Wi RAEREN  TRRER Hf B  BENED  RRAER st
At 1 January 2019 #201951A1A 67,073 21,766 23,200 112,039 165,751 88,769 254520
Recognised in theincome ~ MBHEBR
statement 28 11,498 1329 10,391 23,18 (12,562) (36,224) (48,786)
Currency translation differences &4 E 2% - - - - 2 - i
At 31 December 2019 20198128318 78571 23,09 33,591 135,257 153,191 52,545 205,736
At 1 January 2020 #2020E181A 78571 23,095 33,591 135,257 153,191 52,545 205,736
Recognised inthe income~~~ MER KT
statement 28 1142 12,118 1,651 25,190 (13,680) (21,522) (35,202)
Currency translation differences S%AEZE - - - - 2 - 2
At 31 December 2020 12020512431H 89,992 35213 35,242 160,447 139,513 31,03 170,536
As at 31 December 2020, deferred income tax liabilities of MR2020F12A31H » KREB W Rt &
RMB171,245,000 (31 December 2019: RMB138,170,000) THREREMNB AR 2R IRENA
have not been recognised for the withholding tax that would R #3,409,599,0007T (2019412 A31
otherwise be payable on the undistributed profits amounting H : AR #2,755,453,0007T) & T X i
to approximately RMB3,409,599,000 (31 December 2019: NIEIEMEHEREEMEHEREAR
RMB2,755,453,000) retained by certain PRC subsidiaries. #171,245,0007T (201912 H318 -

138,170,0007T) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. INVENTORIES

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

MR12A831H
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
At cost; B
Raw materials R AT # 619,223 441,853
Work in progress b U 42,935 199,429
Finished goods SUEK @ 192,588 290,103
854,746 931,385

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the cost of inventories
recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold
and administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,179,401,000 (2019: RMB1,189,931,000).

The Group recognised provision for impairment of
approximately RMB4,378,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB5,009,000) in respect of the losses on obsolete inventories
as at 31 December 2020.

HE2020F12A31BIEFEZHFEEK
AERBERAYTAHEEXNARNRITRE
A& A ARE1,179,401,0007T
(20194 : AR #1,189,931,0007T) °

IR £ B PR E 7 &R E M AE R B B A
#) A A EH4,378,0007T (2019512 A31
B : AR¥5,009,0007T) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

15. ES R EMEKRFIE

As at 31 December

R12A31H

Note 2020 2019

Bt 20204 20194

Trade receivables B 5 fEW K IE @) 1,020,767 922,923
Less: provision for impairment of o BB EWEIE R E R

trade receivables 4. 1(b) (11,167) (12,263)

Trade receivables — net BRI R 1,009,600 910,660

Notes receivable L E 7 80,105 189,187

Prepayments and other receivables ¥t 218 % £ A i Uk 2 1E 244,428 212,217

Advances to staff 8T 4,409 6,489

Others HAith 48,062 34,536
Less: provision for impairment of VB A E W SR IE R B B

other receivables 4.1(b) (34,854) (30,463)

1,351,750 1,322,626

Except for prepayment of RMB70,727,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB30,400,000), trade and other receivables are financial
assets categorised as those to be measured at amortised cost.
All trade and other receivables are either recoverable within
one year or on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(@  The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (including
amounts due from related parties which are trade in
nature) based on invoice date was as follows:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

15. ES R HEMEWFIE (&)
(@) BRTEPHEEH—MKA/0E180
H e ®2020%F %2019 12 A31
H BEZREWEIE(BEBAE TSN
BB BREZREHHAR
BROTAT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2020 2019
20205 20194
0 - 90 days 0ZE90H 883,425 792,694
91 - 180 days 91Z180H 93,287 41,649
181 - 360 days 181%2360H 22,568 53,353
Over 360 days 360H M 21,487 35,227
1,020,767 922,923

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. As at 31
December 2020, a provision of RMB11,167,000 (As at
31 December 2019: RMB12,263,000) were made against
the gross amounts of trade receivables (Note 4.1(b)).

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “net impairment
losses on financial assets” in the consolidated income
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account
are generally written off when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
(including amounts due from related parties which

ANEBRBBCHELIREE S
EREERFESRATE EHIRTES
ZEE1E - 2020128318 -
EHE SRR RBARELAR
#11,167,0007C (522019412 A31
H: AR#12,263,00070) 2 B
(FtEE4.1(b))

B2 RE RSB B R RN O
ERREGARERTIeRMEE
MERKFEIN - ABRBRP
PEVBRE — R TR AR W O
1R & B SN o

AEBNESEREFNEERE (R
TREAEE T ) B 5 UK IA) AT 5

are trade in nature) are denominated in the following Sy =Y-R VA
currencies:
As at 31 December
M®128318
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB AR 985,964 890,872
usD E7T 34,770 31,872
HKD g 33 179
1,020,767 922,923
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL

The Group classifies the following financial assets at
FVPL:

o debt instruments that do not qualify for
measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI,
and

o equity instruments that are held for trading

Financial assets at FVPL include:

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

16. MAREEHBEEBB AR
BrEMBERE
(a) UAAREBESFEEHSBHFAE

HEZNEREESE

REBBUTEREESBERAR

nEBEFEEEEHTAZHER

e R EE -

e TRAENBHMAARIARR
BEFEEHZEHTAHAM
PEHRENEFTE UK

s RRIMHEANERIA

RAnEBEFELAEZEHTAER

LERMEEBRE
As at 31 December
M128318
Note 2020 2019
Bt 5 20204 20194
Non-current assets: ERBEE -
Unlisted equity investments RIEETRERKE (i) 112,614 58,304
Current assets: MENEE
Listed equity investments FHERKRE (i) 29,064 41,920
Wealth management products BEERE® (iii) 540,492 726,191
569,556 768,111
Total BEr 682,170 826,415

(i)  Investments in unlisted companies represent the
investments in certain private companies. These
investees were engaged in urban management
sector, high-tech sector and other sectors. Their
fair value measurements are categorised within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy. As at 31 December
2020, the unlisted equity investment in urban
management sector has been disposed.

The fair value of one of the unlisted equity
investments in urban management sector is based
on market approach and equity allocation model
with unobservable inputs such as price to earning
ratio, dividend yield and risk free rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

The fair value of other unlisted equity investments
is based on asset-based approach given the
probability of high uncertainty on the expected
future cash flows generated from the business
of these investees, where income approach and
market approach are not appropriate. Considering
the investees of light assets, the fair value of the
investments approximated to relative proportion
of the carrying amount of the net assets of the
investees at the end of each reporting period.

The fair value of listed equity securities is based
on their current bid prices in an active market,
and their fair value measurements are categorised
within level 1 of fair value hierarchy.

Wealth management products represent financial
products issued by commercial banks in PRC.
These products are principal protected and with
non-guaranteed return, the terms ranging from
one day to one year.

The carrying amount of wealth management
products approximated the fair value. The fair
value is based on cash flow discounted using the
excepted return based on management judgement
and their fair value measurements are of level 3
within the fair value hierarchy.

e B RRME

(B BEEBES - FASEHAARE T LIR)
16. UAnEEGTEEHZHT AR
HmZzEMEE (F)

(a) UARBEFEEHSHTAE

HESNEREESE (B

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(#8)

ERIELERRETNER
PEEANERARREERE
FHERENEEENATREN -
HE LM EREN AR
BEEREEZEL MBRAZK
Mg E#BIER - Z B3
WREEMNNEEE A&
BEHREHR KENDAE
BOUREREEMFEE
FREEEMNHESLLEA -

EHBRAE AN DS B ER
1645 L7 0E BB T8 P A0 3 A1
FAMBEEN KA ME
HEFERREARAMME
BB HE—F -

MEeEEmEmTRER
RITBTHNERER - BLE
EmRRERES RIFREW
@ AERARBA— K2 —F

T o

MEEEERNEREESR
NAEBERESE 2AEBER
R EIEEm H B AR
Bz RRAERFTE LB
RARBEEBRPZE=E -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. LA REBEEBEESET AR

PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) wmZeMEE (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b) RERHRAZEHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALFE
Note 2020 2019
ks 20204 20194
Fair value losses on equity R E A YA R E A U S
instruments recognised in other —FHEER R
income and other gains — net TENARBEEE (10,906) (18,191)
Fair value gains on debt instruments 7 E 4th Uz A Kz H b U %5
recognised in other income and —FREERZES
other gains — net TEMAREEKE 24,711 22,446
24 13,805 4,255
(c) Risk exposure (c) BEEEZ
Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk and BEEANEBATHEBERRM{E A
credit risk is disclosed in Note 4.1. BB HE BAEM FT4 1P B EE o
17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 17. BRTREFRS
As at 31 December
M12A8318
Note 2020 2019
s 20204 20194
Short-term time deposits HHEITFE ERTE K (a) 1,413,840 2,334,294
Cash and cash equivalents RENRBEEED 4,921,756 3,387,780
6,335,596 5,722,074
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(@  The original maturity of time deposits was six month or
above with average interest rate of 3.5% (31 December
2019: 3.4%). None of the deposits is either past due or
impaired.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the
following currencies:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

17. RITREFREE (&)

(a) HEHTEHFRWMEREEATI/NEA
SR EREFHFEREFEE R3S
B (20194F12A318 : 3.4E) - i
|1z s B kR A o

RITREGFREUTIER, SEES
N

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB AR & 5,601,191 5,009,476
usD ETT 197,332 143,587
HKD it 535,142 565,990
Others H A 1,931 3,021
6,335,596 5,722,074

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and
bank balances is their carrying amounts.

M2020F %2019F12H31H » &
EEEARTEEKRABFEITNE
FReMNEsEERBDEE@EE
ER
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e BHRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
18. SHARE CAPITAL 18. BRA
Share capital
Number of R <
Note shares RMB’000
B 5 RHEE ARMT T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:  EEA% - BT REC :
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1H1H 3,107,962,876 318,647
Cancellation of repurchased shares ST R (@) (126,000) (11)
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 720194128318 * 20204
and 31 December 2020 1818 &%2020F12A31H 3,107,836,876 318,636

(@ For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the
Company repurchased a total of 126,000 shares of its
own ordinary shares through the Stock Exchange at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HKD402,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB352,000, excluding
transaction costs). The 126,000 shares with total par
value of HKD12,600 (equivalent to approximately
RMB11,000) repurchased are recorded as “treasury
shares” at 31 December 2018, which were subsequently
cancelled on 14 January 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share option scheme

On 6 May 2019, the Group granted 11,000,000 share
options with an exercise price of HKD3.708 per share and
vesting periods of 0.5 to 1 year to an eligible participant,
being an independent business consultant of the Group,
to provide professional advisory services regarding the
operation and management of the Group. The share
options were valid from the respective exercisable date,
namely 5 November 2019 and 5 May 2020, to 30 June
2020.

The estimated fair value of the share options per share
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 was from HK1.2
cents to HK35.5 cents, by reference to the fair value of
the equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the business consultant renders service. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognises the
total expense of approximately HKD108,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB98,000) in relation to these share
options.

11,000,000 share options outstanding with weighted
average exercise price of HKD3.708 per share as at 30
June 2020 and 31 December 2019, lapsed on 1 July
2020. Movements in the number of shares options
outstanding during the year are set out below:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

19. ROBERNZS
(a) MBRFERTE

MR2019F5A6H » AEB R\ —H B
SRR E11,000,0000% B A%
BUAHEEEEREBIREHEEXR
Bk  1TEEASREK3T708
TRSFBHA0SFEE14 - BIE
BB EAME AT 17 B (BI20194F 11
HA5H &2020%F5HA5H) #£ £2020
F6H30H Ik °

BN E SRR BRE A
BEAFIRBE1 21 E B %3550
R EBERREREBEZERTE 2
HETAEMmME - 8 2£2020F12 A
BTALFE  ASBEERERES
Mz BRBRRELNEB108,0005T
(ZR# AR ¥98,0007T) °

7202096 A30H M 2019412 A31
HinEFTEE A TRE3.708
JCHY Z AR 4T 1F #911,000,0000% B8 A%
BB R2020F7A1B k% R4
W RITERBRESRE 2 EE7)
N UNNE

Year ended 31 December

HE12A31MBLEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Number of Number of
share options share options
BREEE B SR
("000) ("000)
(REAFE)  (RELATED
At 1 January R1A1AE 11,000 -
Granted b dun] = 11,000
Lapsed B (11,000) -
At 31 December ®12A31H = 11,000
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Employee share scheme

On 1 December 2020, shares of Guangdong Jiahao,
a subsidiary of the Group, were granted to 80 eligible
employees (the “Grantees”) of Guangdong Jiahao and
its subsidiary (the “Employee Share Plan”). Four limited
partnerships controlled by the Group were incorporated
in the PRC under the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Partnerships as a vehicle to hold the ordinary
shares for the Grantees under the Employee Share Plan.
Under this plan, approximately 1.98% equity interest in
Guangdong Jiahao was granted to the Grantees through
their interests in the four limited partnerships with
consideration of approximately RMB46,496,000 and will

be vested if certain services conditions are met.

The amounts of share-based compensation recognised as
expenses with a corresponding credit to reserves of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 was

RMB536,000.

(c) Expenses arising from share-based payment

transactions

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

19. RO AERN M (F)
(b) EERBKRESE

(c)

M2020%12818B BR =% &K
EEHBAR RFIORBER
= hENBARIMNAERESR
(HEFADEREZZHBRG ([1E
BRETE] - BEUEE RES
B)  WRBAREBEIZHHWRE
(FEAREXNEAELCE &
FEEIMAIHEREECE g
EAWE T ARE L EBRNFRF
B BEZTE HEETABBE
ENRERABLCENERERT
H1.98%NEREZ=ME  REY
B AR ¥46,496,0007T ¢ M AL AE
SWEBNRMNE R ERBGIEME -

H E2020F12A31BIEFEE - &
EBEURGD BERNMES ER A
ST WHEFAREBEZESEAA
E #536,0007T °

UROAERNINELEZER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEFE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Share option scheme B AR iEST E 98 907
Employee share scheme 1B BBt &l 536 -
634 907

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BBk AR 2 7] 2020 Annual Report 45



Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESEEIUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20. RESERVES 20. f#&
Capital Share-based  Currency
Contributed ~ Treasury Merger Share Capital redemption compensation ~translation  Statutory Other
Note surplus shares reserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Reserve  reserves Total

Wk
B BREBN KREE
Wi EMBR  EERR  AHBE  ROEE AXER  HORE  HERR BE  EERE  RHRER it

At 1 January 2019 ®2019F171A 4,760 - 27,795 1,666,250 2,571,885
Fair value changes on AR EEE AEZEH
financial assets at VOCI,  AEM2EREZERE
net of tax EJBRENLAERD - - - (7531 (17331
Appropriations fromnet & @A
profit 2 - - - - 700
Cancellation of repurchased 3£ BB 2 {7
shares 18 - - - - n
Share-based payment Ry REREZ A
- Value of consultancy -BERBEE
senvice - 907 - - 907
Disposal of equity interest & Ei85E & 2 5 T3
in Better World to non- HEEREEA
controlling interests - - - 1748 1748
Acquisition of additional ~ FEFEEHEERNETIRE
equity interest in Jiangxi BRIMRE
Xianghai from non-
controlling interests - - - (3.984) (3.984)
Currency translation EBREEE
differences - - (13,207) - (13,207)
At 31 December 2019 #2019E12831R 4,760 907 14,588 1,646,483 2,540,529
At 1 January 2020 #20205171A 4,760 907 14,588 1,646,483 2,540,529
Fair value changes on WRREEHER
financial assets at VOCl,  EZEH AEM2ME
net of tax Wi eBEEL
BRANDLERD O - - - (17.990)  (17.990)
Appropriations fromnet B @ AIEf
profit 2 - - - - 17,308
Share-based payment B BEBER L
- Value of consultancy -ERRKEE
service 19 = 98 o - 9%
- Value of employee -EERBER
sevices 19 - 536 - = 536
- Share option lapsed -BRMZBRE - (1,005) - 1,005 -
Changes in ownership BENBAR AR
interests in a subsidiary BTN R
without change of control - - - 31304 31304
Currency translation ERHEEE
differences = 61447 - 61,447
At 31 December 2020 120205128318 4,760 536 76,035 1,660,802 2,633,732

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B2k AR A7 2020 Annual Report %3k



204
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

21.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B 5% A R A F)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the amount of
decreases in fair value in financial assets at FVOCI before
tax is RMB17,990,000 (2019: decreases RMB17,531,000)
(Note 12), of which nil (2019: nil) was recognised in
other comprehensive income as deferred tax (Note 13).

Contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds
of the subsidiaries at the date on which the corporate
reorganisation became effective and the nominal amount
of the Company’s shares issued under the reorganisation;
(i) the transfer of credit balance from share premium
pursuant to the capital reorganisation in 2006 and
relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda.

Other reserves mainly arise from transactions with
non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control and fair value changes on financial assets at
FVOCI (net of tax).

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

B BRIGAARETTIIR)

20. %% (&)

(a)

(b)

(o)

H E2020F12A31B ILFE - LA
AR EBEFEEEEHTTAEELA
Wz eRMEEZARBEEHH
AR 2% A ARE17,990,0007T
(20194 : B> AR ®17,531,000
7o) (B3E12) - ARFETERHME
AW =R AEERIE (20194 -
#2) (FF5E13)

ARRZERBHBEOEAERZ
AfBRARIZEERRESHEEMR
RARNREBITROABZZE
(iNVfE2006F RIBEAREA N B R
ERBERERBARDEEEAN
EHHEE -

A 185 0 15 B 4 A 25
25 BT ST R ERE AT
MR EEHEA LS8
AEMEERREN S REEN AR
BEZD (B%) -

RETAINED EARNINGS 21. REZER
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
B EE 20204 20194

At the beginning of the year FE 1] 8,969,048 8,861,582
Profit for the year FEAN 418,399 1,112,004
Appropriations from net profit B AN B AT 20 (17,808) (700)
Final and special dividends for MRESFEE

the nine months ended 31 2018412 A31H L L@ A

December 2018 paid to ZEARRERIRE

shareholders = (756,818)
Interim dividends for the six months FBRESNEZE

ended 30 June 2019 paid to 201996 H30H /<&@ A

shareholders 2 HRR S 30 - (247,048)
Final dividends for the year ended #HZ=2019F12A31H 1k

31 December 2019 FEZHREE 30 (285,887) -
Special dividends for the six months #H 2202056 H30H 1-

ended 30 June 2020 NMER 2 FFRIRR B 30 (165,064) -
Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends SRR RERI R B = 28
At the end of the year FAR 8,918,688 8,969,048
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e B RRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
22. BORROWINGS 22. EX
As at 31 December
MM2A31H
Note 2020 2019
B =% 20205 20194
Non-current FERE
Long-term bank borrowings RERITER
— Secured bank borrowings —HEBRITER (a) 1,692,855 2,310,474
— Unsecured bank borrowings — IR ITE R (b) 227,243 -
Less: current portion W mENER (113,621) -
1,806,477 2,310,474
Current hE
Current portion of non-current liabilities  FEREEBE T 2R B EH
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EIKIRRITE X (b) 113,621 -
Short-term bank borrowings WERITER
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EEIRITER (b) 788,132 688,302
901,753 688,302
Total borrowings BEE 2,708,230 2,998,776
(@) The Group's secured bank borrowings as at 31 (@) AEBEN2020F12A31H 8 A K

December 2020 of RMB1,692,855,000 (31 December
2019: RMB2,310,474,000) are repayable within three
years and secured by certain buildings, right-of-use for
land of Guangdong Jiahao with total carrying values of
RMB88,513,000 (31 December 2019: RMB91,856,000),
and equity interest in Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and
Guangdong Jiahao. During the year, the average interest
rate of the loan was 5.7% (2019: 5.7%) per annum.

HIRTTE R A AREE1,692,855,000
7t (2019 12A831H : AR
2,310,474,00070) ' ZERR=F
WEZ VYUEREZHBAEEEAS
A R #88,513,0007T (2019412 A
318 : AR %91,856,0007T) M) 1&
FMIMEREEE  UEKEER
mBERARRERESEREESR
I - RNER - ZERZFHFE
BEFES7E (2019F : 5.7F) °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)  The unsecured bank borrowings are repayable within
one to two years. During the year, the average interest
rate was 2.6% (2019: 3.6%) per annum. Borrowings are
financial liabilities categorised under “financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost”.

Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB 140,080,000 (2019: RMB185,378,000). No interest
expense was capitalised for the year ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group's
borrowings by type is as follows:

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

22. B (&)

(b)

EIRFRITERETR —EMFERNT
HEE RER ZERFHFE
ABEE26E (2019 : 36F) - &
RNheMmBERSEAIRBERK
NtENESREE] -

H E2020F12831H EFEHW
BITERFMNERMIZIOABARE
140,080,0007T (20194 : AR
185,378,0007T) ° & £20204F
2019F12A31H I FEWEF B
BRENE -

REMNSTASEE RN RE BN
I

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
At fixed rates = 1,992,836 2,479,224
At floating rates SEER R 715,394 519,552
2,708,230 2,998,776

At 31 December 2020, the maturities of the borrowings
are as follows:

MR2020FE 128310 - EZ R H A
(L N

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Within 1 year —F AR 901,753 688,302
Between 1 and 2 years —&E 4 795,645 577,618
Between 2 and 5 years e 1,010,832 1,732,856
2,708,230 2,998,776
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b) (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in the following currencies:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

22. B (&)

(b) (#)
AEBEFNEEERATIER
REALL

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB AR 1,992,836 2,479,224
HKD Bk 715,394 519,552
2,708,230 2,998,776

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. EZREMENRE

As at 31 December

MW12A8318

Note 2020 2019

k5 20204 20194

Trade payables BB ER IR (a) 268,020 303,171
Dividends payable to non-controlling  FEftIEFE &I M MRS 2

interests %8 = 1,218

Wages payable BT & 96,145 97,668

Other taxes payable H M FE IR 102,179 107,420

Accruals for expenses fExtA Y 12,003 28,540

Other payables H fih fE A~ 318 171,197 129,647

649,544 667,664

Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 B EA AR AR 2020 Annual Report 3

207



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Except for other taxes payable of RMB102,179,000 (31
December 2019: RMB107,420,000) and wages payable of
RMB96,145,000 (31 December 2019: RMB97,668,000), trade
and other payables balances are financial liabilities categorised
under “financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”.

The non-current and current portion of trade and other

payables was as follows:

(B BAIERES -
23. E5 REMEMSKE (&)

e BHRRME

A 2B AARETTIIR)

B E fth B B A R #102,179,0007T
(20194 : AR #107,420,0007T) K &
+ T& AR #96,145,0007T (20194 :

AR #97,668,0007T) 4b -

85 kEM

ENRDERABERDER[REHEK

A EMEREE] -

B 5 MEAMEMNKNIERE MR B ER D

LI

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
Non-current JE &Y 800 800
Current mE 648,744 666,364
649,544 667,664

(@ As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables (including amounts due to related
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice dates

was as follows:

(@) M2020% KX2019F12A318 ' &
SENZE (BEEBIFNESE
T300E) IRIBZHZH BAERE DT

mF -

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2020 2019
20205 20194
0 - 90 days 0Z90H 235,750 271,546
91 - 180 days 91ZF180H 16,348 16,859
181 - 360 days 181&360H 5,421 4,248
Over 360 days 3608 A £ 10,501 10,518
268,020 303,171
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(a) (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies:

e B RRME

(B BAEEAEN  FIESBHUAREFTHIR)
23. EFRHMENRKE (E)
(@ (&)
AEBNBFEMNK (BRIE@EH T
B8 S EMNRE) WEEMEIA T
B RBAL

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB AR 258,086 285,900
usD E7T 3,127 7,233
HKD B 1,430 4,536
Others =il 5,377 5,502
268,020 303,171

24. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

HibW AR E iz — F 8

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MALEE
Note 2020 2019
liks3 20205 20194
Changes in fair value of financial INAREBEEGEBEZH:
assets at FVPL ANEENEREENAAE
=) 16 13,805 4,255
Dividend income from financial assets at LA A (EE 8 A H &
FVPL and FVOC| AEHKAAREEFEER
HEgit AHtE2EmEEN
TREEZREBA 2,021 2,652
(Losses)/gains on disposal of financial HENRAAEEFZEAHE
assets at FVPL A BENERMEEDN
(B#8) M= (2,359) 7,519
(Loss)/gain on disposal of associates HEBENTZ (B1E)
s (2,750) 1,322
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZEE (2,033) -
Losses on disposal of property, plant HEWE - MERREZEIS
and equipment (6,900) (4,008)
Government grants EgiEp=a=" 190,544 176,396
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains- net EH (F18) Wi — 548 (85,028) 36,856
Donations BE (9,160) (847)
Others Hth 2,357 1,364
100,497 225,509
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

25. EXPENSES BY NATURE 25.

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according
to their nature (with the exception of “research and
development expenses” which are shown as a single item
and analysed according to their nature in Note (a) below) as

BEESENRAX
ERBRREERE  HE LTS HEERR
XRTBER  YREBEEEE (BRHE@)
HREEMEBI RN H 7T RERRA
XI5 BERAXBETERABENE
REBEROSTE) OMAOT

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MALEE
Note 2020 2019
liks3 2020 20194
Depreciation TE 7,8 152,972 142,607
Amortisation i 8,9 99,067 98,930
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & )3 {& % &5 2,551 7,589
Changes in inventories of finished goods &A@ M ER RFE &
and work in progress 254,009 (37,535)
Raw materials and consumables used B ARV R RE @ 837,474 1,141,046
Covid-19-related rent concessions FRERESMABEZ
Heme 3 (908) -
Short-term lease rentals MHEHMAERES 14,530 16,249
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN &
— Audit services —ZEURT 8,777 9,656
— Non-audit services —IEERTE = 100
Consulting service fee BER%KE 14,260 31,162
Travelling expenses EIRAY 33,692 71,574
Employee benefit expenses EEREMNRAXZ 26 479,931 477,843
Share-based compensation arising from Bz #5181 & £ &) AR 15
share option scheme R BT 6 R 19(a) 98 907
Research and development expenses MENEERY (a) 265,041 290,674
Delivery expenses EH T 34,290 35,029
Utilities expenses DA 58,664 83,069
Motor vehicle expenses AEBRMY 8,280 10,391
Maintenance expenses HicE 17,978 19,930
Advertising and promotion expenses EEREESE 79,094 96,594
Office administrative and WARBAE
communication expenses 9,287 10,449
Other surcharges H A B pn i & 53,325 53,625
Others HAh 126,461 161,444
Total of cost of goods sold, selling BIHENA HERTISHEE
and marketing expenses and X MITHE A
administrative expenses 2,548,873 2,721,333
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

(@) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit
expenses included in research and development expenses
are set out below:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

25. BMHE S BHAX (&)

(a) MIRARBRAXTBENTE #
HREEMENRAXIIRET

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
B EE 20204 20194
Depreciation e 7.8 17,343 17,905
Amortisation Y 8,9 4,566 3,517
Employee benefit expenses B8 MERMRXZ 26 109,936 126,405

No development cost has been capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).

26. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

HEEZE2020FE 128318 IFFEE R
WEEMAERKADS E AL (2019
F o) e

26. EERBAMAX

Year ended 31 December

HE12A31MBLEE

Note 2020 2019

B 5 20204 20194

Wages, salaries and bonus T& - HEMREL 510,355 507,056
Defined contribution plans and EREHFGTEREMET

other employee insurances 1R b (a) 44,779 65,848

Share-based benefits DARE1D BERE 2 & F 19(b) 536 -

Other benefits E A ig A 34,197 31,344

589,867 604,248
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death
or total incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility
to pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.
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(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

26. EERERNBRAX (&)

(a) EEMKFEREMETRRE

HERBRERSHR BTERE
B EAME TR - RIKEEHE
LB

AEERBEMEREREERRY
BRIEERTE - REDFECEESR
AEERFHEBLOR

BiEwELTE BHEEBAR
A #5% (et 58 A8 1,500
Jo) B 3k - I AR B VR AN
AR -BENEBEEETREERS
5% (&= 38 &8 ¥1,5000T)
ER R (MeaslfiR]) - BB AR
ANTEREKR B TE2EEAT
YERE 7 B W BN £ 1 ) 2 2 2B 54

K

AEEETPEAMBRESERET
MEAFEETADLRATEL
BFERENRAREEELER
WK W BRFA B TRZFENK
BEXMEKE -

AARETREE B AERERZM
ERAAERBEIRAFNETA
DmABRR D REL KR
RARBEERZERKEESN
BT - BRELANBEERMA
RUEBEBRFRE TXMEAKREH
5



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

(CONTINUED)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include 3 (2019: 2) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 36(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining 2 (2019:
3) individuals during the year are as follows:

e B RRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

26. EERERNBRAX (&)

(b) EEBEHMAL

FR EAEB RGBS HINA
+EE =106 (20195 : WiL) A%
£ MEEZMEFBEHNH T
36(@)c AFEEINTHEHBHMAA
+(2019F : =) 2 W& T :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLLEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Basic salaries and allowances HARF & K28 15,700 17,687
Contributions to the retirement scheme E4R3E FIl 5T 2] 4L 2% 42 194
15,742 17,881

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BEZMEHEATERE :

Number of employees

Emolument bands
HKD3,500,001- HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001- HKD4,500,000
HKD12,000,001-HKD 12,500,000
HKD13,000,001-HKD 13,500,000

B ¢ &5 &

75 ™3,500,0017T — % #4,000,0007T
754,000,001 7T — % #4,500,0007T
75 112,000,00170 — 7% #12,500,0007C
5 #13,000,0017T — % %13,500,0007C

BEAH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MALEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
- 2
1 —

1
-
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
27. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 27. BB ARBEKZ
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Finance income: B
— Interest income on bank deposits —RITERZFEBHA 159,915 176,956
Finance costs: BAERKA
— Interest expense on bank —RITEFREMZ
borrowings and others R=R=¢z5! (140,533) (185,892)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities -HEABZAEER (3,450) (3,092)
Finance income/(cost) — net BEBA (BERA)—F5 15,932 (12,028)
28. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 28. FriB%
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income HAGEWFZRZHBEELSZEY| RO -

statements represents:

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12831HLEE
Note 2020 2019
i 20205 20194
Current income tax BIEARI IR
— Hong Kong profits tax —BEMEH (a) 10,757 13,657
— PRC corporate income tax —h B EMER (b) 328,976 429,987
— Germany company income tax —RmEPEMEN (@ 126 -
- Botswana company income tax —ERE R EFER (d) 915 436
Deferred income tax BEEFT1S T 13 (60,392) (72,004)
280,382 372,076
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of (a) BAEMEBHIEANESHIERTR
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit FMATRE #&16.5% (20194 : 16.5%)
for the year. B o
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(b)

PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates
applicable to respective companies of the Group.

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
stipulates the applicable income tax rate at 25%
for domestic enterprises in the PRC.

(i)  Enterprises supported by Western Development
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of 15%
until 2022. Enterprises, simultaneously enjoy
additional tax incentives from Tibet Autonomous
Region Government that the output value of
the company’s High/New Tech products can be
exempted from the local share of corporate income
tax, can accrue income tax expenses at reduced
rate of 9% for the output value of High/New Tech
products and of 15% for that of non- High/New
Tech products.

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises
that are specifically supported by the State.

Germany company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2019: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

Botswana company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2019: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in
other jurisdictions during the year.

e B RRME

(B BEEBES - FASEHAARE T LIR)
28. FriS® (&)
(b) FELEMEHEABRARELED

(0)

(d)

(e)

BARERERAFENEFIALE
RBBEME

AEEREAAESR T B0 %
B B 12 0 P B R R TR A MO B
mF :

(i) EMAEHRZEZAETEBEA
CENBRAEHEBREXR
25% -

(i) ZAIBRAZHBELEND
ENBEEZHIS%NHRERE
202F  ERBEZX AR

R & BT BB AN U B B K
KW HEsFRIWERE®E
AIRIETEFERILFS=Z
2 AT R9% T KT IR S
RNEREBHEMSHE
R R15%5T 18 3E & 1 Al
EmMEBHEMEHRER -

(i) EERMBHEARELEMNF
MEEHRXBERFO
R EEERI5%HHE -

ERCEMEREAFTEMETE
R BT AT R15% (20194 ¢
15% ) B o

BREMCEMERIEAFEHET
JER TR BT AT E15% (20194 -
15% ) B o

AEERAFREAEHMAAERIL
BERGERASHEA  HESH
il B A HE [ B0 P 1S B/ th 3848 -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(f)  The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the standard tax rates applicable to the respective
companies of the Group as follows:

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

28. FrfE#H (&)

() ANEEHKRASHARMEHIEA -
EAREBE N EE AR AEER
MM ERREREENERTES
PR - &5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831HLEE
Note 2020 2019
B = 20204 2019%
Profit before income tax B T AT & A 948,821 1,745,817
Less: Share of results of associates and & : JE(EBE & A A & L F
a jointly controlled entity EHIEE R 10,11 (30,097) (29,034)
918,724 1,716,783
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate REAREFTENRIA 412,943 485,411
Tax incentives PR bii) i) (186,971) (217,066)
Adjustments for current tax of prior FEAR R E A
period due to tax uncertainty BT R
treatment = (8,739)
Super deduction for research and EBA MR EE
development expenditure (26,455) (18,494)
Utilisation of previously B2 Al R HRE
unrecognised tax losses B EE (3,203) (5,958)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR HMBASZ 2 B2
purposes 6,531 6,622
Income not subject to tax BARTWANZE (5,757) (6,850)
Withholding tax on the earnings BB A AR A AR BT
from subsidiaries EEZERAEH 65,973 120,840
Tax losses for which no deferred W EERIE LS
income tax assets were recognised BENTGER 17,321 16,310
Income tax expense gt 280,382 372,076
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable profit
would be available in certain subsidiaries, the Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB74,742,000 (31
December 2019: RMB73,946,000) as at 31 December 2020 in
respect of tax losses of such dormant subsidiaries amounting
to RMB401,832,000 (31 December 2019: RMB379,894,000).
The tax loss will expire in the following years:

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

28.

Frig i (&)

EAEEEIBTETRARESESERH
ERBRFBMEHE  ANEBEWLEE
RETHBRARAZAEREBARK
401,832,0007T (20194128318 : A
R %379,894,0007T) MIELEFT S & &
# N R #74,742,0007T (2019512 A31
H: AR#73,946,0007T) Al E B8
BR T FEERIH :

As at 31 December

M12A8318
2020 2019
2020 20194

Year FE

2020 20204 - 53,848
2021 20214 14,389 13,954
2022 20224 59,190 60,228
2023 20234 15,555 18,464
2024 20244 40,929 46,117
2025 20254 43,412 -
No expiring date RAERHA 228,357 187,283
401,832 379,894
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year excluding treasury shares.

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

29. BREARF
(a) BREZXEA
BREXRENIREAFELRRF]
BumBBE ARGEN  BRAFAE
FITE AR GO B 7R &g
FHBBRE -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831HLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
Profit attributable to equity holders of RARIERFFE ARG RT
the Company 418,399 1,112,004
Weighted average number of ordinary BRI T w2 Nk
shares in issue ("000) FEHE (T351) 3,107,837 3,107,837
Basic earnings per share for profit attributable R A @25 H A EML
to the Company's equity holders: BHOBREREF
(RMB cents per share) (BRARED): 13.46 35.78

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 was the same as basic
earnings per share, since the Company did not have any
potential ordinary share outstanding that has dilution
effect.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e B RRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
30. DIVIDENDS 30. RKE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31MBLEE
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
Paid interim dividend of HK8.8 cents per 2HE E2019966 308 1E
share for the six months ended NEA R ER B ER
30 June 2019 718811l = 247,048
Paid special dividend of HK6.0 cents per BT EE2020F6 308 Lk
share for the six months ended 30 June 7E A BRI B R B
2020 (six months ended 30 June 2019: nil) 6.01ll (i 22019%6 A30H
IEAREAR - &) 165,064 -
165,064 247,048
Proposed/paid final dividend of HK9.0 cents ¥tk /T EIR I 2T
(2019: HK10.0 cents) per share PEH9.01L (2019 ¢
A E510.01) 235,411 285,887
400,475 532,935

On 19 March 2021, the Board proposed a final dividend
of HK9.0 cents per share, totalling approximately
RMB235,411,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
proposed dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2020 is calculated based on the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of this report. The proposed dividend is subject
to the shareholder’s approval at the Company’s forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. The financial statements do not
reflect this dividend payable.

R2021F3 8190 EEeEIZREH=
202012 A31BIEFEMBRR EGRE
¥9.0flll - £# AR¥235,411,0007T ° H =
202012 431 B L FE /BRI B TR
PARE BB BT AEFE - EZFK
BREFERARTRIMBITHREAEF
ARG R o BTSRRI B

BB e
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS HETEELENIES
(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a) RUBRANEKLEXKRMESHAS
generated from operations AR
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MALEE
Note 2020 2019
B = 20205 20194
Profit before income tax BREE AT & 948,821 1,745,817
Adjustments for: FEE
— Depreciation —E 7,8 170,315 160,512
— Amortisation — B3 8,9 103,633 102,447
— Provision for impairment of —EEREEE
goodwill 9 495,498 -
— Provision for impairment of —FERERE
inventories 2,551 7,589
— Provision for impairment of — B 5 R H A W GRIA
trade and other receivables BEEE 4.1(b) 7,392 16,405
— Share-based payment-value of ~ —[& {5 & E i &) T —
consultancy service ERRSEER 19 98 907
- Share-based payment-value of ~ —R9 BEMEH LT —
employee services EERBEE 19 536 -
— Interest expense —FEEH 27 143,983 188,984
— Interest income —F 28U A 27 (159,915) (176,956)
— Share of results of associates S YN e
and a jointly controlled BERZEE
entity 10,11 (30,097) (29,034)
— Adjustment for transactions —PHEEEAERENR RE
between the Group and REZEHEBIRS
associates/jointly controlled
entity 10,11 12,380 16,486
— Losses on disposal of property, —LEME  BERREES
plant and equipment T 6,900 4,008
— Gains on termination of leases ~ —#&X 1 FHE 7 Wz (2,519) -
— Losses/(gains) on disposal of —th’ELAA/M @éﬁriﬂﬁ
financial assets at FVPL FFAEEN S i &
Fz;éiﬁia/(uﬁz 24 2,359 (7,519)
— Losses on disposal of —ﬁ’%m%@ﬁjzgﬂé
subsidiaries 24 2,033 -
— Losses/(gains) on disposal of —HEMENRZER
associates (M%) 24 2,750 (1,322)
— Changes in fair value of AR BEFELEED
financial assets at FVPL ATABGRRNEREEY
AREZH 24 (13,805) (4,255)
- Dividend income from —L,{”thﬁ.ﬁriﬂﬁi\ AEfET
investment in financial ANBESREE R
assets at FVPL and at FVOC| A A8 B HEEE
)\Eﬁﬂi@qﬁl 5 R & B
BEZBRBEWA 24 (2,021) (2,652)
— Foreign exchange losses/ —E R, () — %%
(gains)-net 24 85,028 (36,856)
Changes in working capital: LBEESEE
— Inventories —-FE 73,975 (42,732)
— Trade and other receivables —B 5 R EH A EUGRIA (26,553) 202,277
— Trade and other payables —B 5 RHAMEN IR (9,575) (62,158)
— Contract liabilities —-&R&E 9,833 (50,200)
Cash generated from operations ~ F &£ &SRS F58 1,823,600 2,031,748
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31, KETHEENEE (B)

(CONTINUED)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds (b) MEAEBERERN LEWME
from disposal of property, plant and equipment R NEBEZFTERBE
comprise:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2020 2019
Liks3 2020F 20194
Net book amount BRERE 7 18,059 20,663
Losses on disposal of property, HEME  #eS K&
plant and equipment #HE1E 24 (6,900) (4,008)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE¥E - #2 K
plant and equipment FEBFTERK 11,159 16,655
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

This section sets out an analysis of the movements in
liabilities from financing activities:

e BHRRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

3. REEBHELENE S (H)

() MEEBUERR

AETHRMERDTHNE

T oM

BB B (T

Liabilities from financing activities

HEAE
Note Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
i3 EES HEaE @it
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 3,690,139 72,335 3,762,474
Changes from financing BERINRLRER L
cash flow:
Proceeds from borrowings BEMER 756,607 - 756,607
Repayments of borrowings BEET (1,461,703) - (1,461,703)
Principal elements of lease payments MENFZEEHH - (19,599) (19,599)
Interest elements of lease payments MENFZHEHH - (3,092) (3,092)
Total changes from financing cash flow BEETHMELRE (705,096) (22,691) (721,787)
i iast
Other changes: Eth#
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  AEER T HHE & M2 - 29,847 29,847
into new leases during the year NNHEEERE
Interest expenses Fleg 27 - 3,002 3,092
Currency translation difference ERZzZ 13,733 - 13,733
Total other changes gzt 13,733 32,939 46,672
At 1 January 2020 202051718 2,998,776 82,583 3,081,359
Changes from financing cash flow: RETBNRERES:
Proceeds from borrowings RERER 556,679 - 556,679
Repayments of borrowings EBEREF (796,368) - (796,368)
Principal elements of lease payments ~ EFFH 2 A &4 - (24,360) (24,360)
Interest elements of lease payments ~ BEAFK 2 FEH 4 = (3,450) (3.450)
Total changes from financing cash flow BEZHHEEHE (239,689) (27,810 (267,499)
Blast
Other changes: Hip2s
Increase in lease liabilities from REERTUFAEM - 12,548 12,548
entering into new leases during BMHEERE
the year
Interest expenses FEXH 27 = (3,450) (3,450)
Currency translation difference ERZEE (50,857) - (50,857)
Total other changes Hth g gt (50,857) 9,098 (41,759)
At 31 December 2020 1#2020612831R 2,708,230 63,871 2,772,101
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EXREIE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred at the RERDENBEMABENE KRR W
end of the year are as follows: T

As at 31 December

M12A8318
2020 2019
20204 20194
Property, plant and equipment Mz M MR E 73,361 110,441
Intangible assets mEAE 2,353 1,455
Investment in an associate REE QT ZIRE - 43,420
Financial assets at FVOC| AR EFE B2 FHAA
HihzHl =z SREE 86,229 92,193
Financial assets at FVPL NAREEBEZEEHTA
BaRsemEE 15,097 17,597
177,040 265,106
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BB ARS
(a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BB A BIBEERER

Name Relationship

=% &

Huangguoshu Golden Leaf An associate indirectly held by the
Company

BEREE ARRIEEFEOBE QR

Hongta Blue Eagle An associate indirectly held by the
Company

ABEE RABIEEFAENEE QT

Yunnan Ruisheng An associate indirectly held by the
Company

Eim ARRIEEFENBE QR

Dianhua Benxiang A jointly controlled entity indirectly
held by the Company

HERE ARREEFENARENER

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co. Ltd. (“Weizhijia") An entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

BERZRRBBRAFMKZEK]) RAB&EFEAZESZ A A

Broad Far (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd. ( “Broad Far”) An entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

HREBERABNMEER]) ENNIE S SRS WN 2t i A/NC]

Bojie (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. ( “Bojie™) An entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

R EeEREAGRAR(NEE]) KRR EEFFEAES 2 A F]

Joy Light (HongKong) Tabacoo Co. Ltd. (“Joy Light™) An entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

EEERBEBRAREBER]) RAB&EFEAZESZ A A
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive) and
senior management. The amounts of compensation paid
and payable to directors is disclosed in Note 36(a). The
amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior
management for employee services is shown below:

(b)

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

33. BBAXRE ()

FEEBAEME
TIZERABBRES (WTES
FRTEFEBUIFNITES)M
SREBAE -EBNEENTES
BB € B EM 5E36(a) B 5E - & &R
EEABXNIEREERBNEN
MEMBMEMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLLEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

Fees, salaries and bonus IE& - HHMIEL 23,978 21,107
Employer’s contributions to retirement B EBRIRET B3

benefit scheme 265 449

Share-based benefits LARR 10 BB 2 & F 156 -

24,399 21,556
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 33. Bt S X 5 (&)

(c) Transactions with related parties () HBEBAINXS
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318LEE

2020 2019
2020 2019%F

Sales of goods: HERMm
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - EREeE 13,804 15,432
- Hongta Blue Eagle —HIIEEE = 68
— Dianhua Benxiang —AERE 34,470 47,271
— Weizhijia —-KZR 35,186 64,288
— Broad Far — & 2,914 -
— Bojie — &8 12 -
86,386 127,059

Purchase of goods and services: BEEMmER

- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EHREEE 1,094 1,438
- Yunnan Ruisheng —EfEH 147 177
- Dianhua Benxiang —BEERE 11,850 17,508
— Weizhijia —KZ=R = 4,975
13,091 24,098

Dividend revenue: SN PN
- Hongta Blue Eagle —4TIEEE 6,952 10,485
— Dianhua Benxiang —BERE 3,456 1,786
10,408 12,271
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 33. Bt S X 5 (&)

(d) Balances with related parties (d) BB &R
As at 31 December
R12A318
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Balances due from related parties: FEUR B RG 5 4E o
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf - ERESE
— trade and other receivables —B 5 R E MWK 3,162 5,689
— Dianhua benxiang —AERRH
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 R H M EBGR 37,415 51,088
— Weizhijia —KRZK
— other receivables — H i FE UK - 5,226
— Hongta Blue Eagle —HIBEE
— trade receivables — 8B 5 EUBGR = 48
— Joy Light —BABER
— other receivables — H & R 749 -
41,326 62,051
Balance due to related parties: FEAT A B 7 45 8%
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —BERHeE
— trade payables —EBSEMNR 8 -
- Yunnan Ruisheng —Em KT
— trade payables —BS5EMNK a7 42
- Dianhua Benxiang —HELRE
— trade payables — B S EMNK 12,705 1,330
— Weizhijia -2 K
— trade and other payables —E S RHEMEMNR - 43
— contract liabilities —&RAE - 10,269
12,760 11,684
The balance with related parties was unsecured, B &t AEIRF &8
interest-free and repayable on demand. NABERBHESE o
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e BHRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. TEMBARIZHE

Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
FRRLEHR BRATBER/ rEEREN
AAEB EETHRER EMEREE ERER% TEEBREERY
Direct Indirect
B B
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH™"#"  Germany, Limited liability EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development
company B17r25,000 of flavours & fragrances in
BE - EREALT Germany
MEaE - 28
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, Limited ~ BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of natural
liability company LH1007T extracts in Botswana
ERLALNE - FENEERRERY &R
BREAAE R HAE
Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB100,000,000 - 100 Research & development,
Development Co., Ltd. HE - EREEAR AEH100,000,0007C manufacture and sale of
ERECENBREBRATN reconstituted tobacco leaves
in the PRC
& rERHEREER
G
Guangdong J iahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB119,680,000 - 99.2 Production, sales, marketing
EREFRDARAFCX hE EREERE AR 119,680,000 and distrioution of
condiment products in the
PRC
FE HE BRRAEER
m e
Guangdong Jiahao Marketing Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB5,000,000 - 99.2  Sales, marketing and
EREREHERAR E - EREAAH AR 5,000,000 distribution of condiment
products in the PRC
HE - BERABEERT
hEl
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB40,000,000 - 55.375  Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. BB ERERAAR AR 540,000,000 reconstituted tobacco leaves
ERENBEEEERAFN. in the PRC
FEREERESL &
Guangzhou Huabao Food Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
ENEZRGERAF 0.0 T ERERAT AR 510,000,007 manufacturing & sales of
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. TEMBR A 2&F1E (&)
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
ERR LB R BRATEER/ rEEREN
NAER EETHRER ZMEREE ERER% TEEBRLEHY
Direct Indirect
E# 3
GuangZhou Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales
BNERERERERATNM HE - BREFAR AR 23,380,000 of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
FERHEERER &
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK) Limited Hong Kong, Limited liability ~ HKD3,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
EERRE(BB)ARAAC company %3,000,0007C manufacturing & sales of
% BREAAR flavours & fragrances in
Hong Kong
e EEREERR BE
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB615,880,000 - 81103 Manufacturing & sales
EERRRAHBRA A2 m0.00 wE - RHERAR AR%615,880,0007 of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
TERHEERER &
Huabao Korea Company Limited Korea, Limited liability WON16,320,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of filter
EZHEKA g0 company £816,320,000,000 materials in Korea
28 ARELLT & FEREERRREE
m e #E
Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company  RMB60,000,000 - 85 Production of tobacco raw
NS ETRIEENBRA TN 0 HE - BREFAT AR 60,000,000 materials and cigarette filter
FERBEEERRE &
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co., Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB100,000,000 - 100 Produce, research and sale of
IEZBENEERAR hE - BREFLR AR E100,000,0007 synthetic perfume in the PRC
FERHEERM &
Jiangxi H&K Food Technology Development PRC, Limited liability company - RMB300,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of
Co., Ltd hE - BREFLR AE%300,000,0007 food flavours and fragrances
TEEZEHERMMBERARATN W in the PRC
FERHEERM &
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company  HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
REZER (BN ARAA hE - BREFLR 7% 860,000,0007C production and sale
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
TERBEERARER
G
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. TEMBRTZFH1E (&)
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of Ownership
incorporation and issued/registered interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group % place of operation
ERR LB R BRATEER/ AEEREN
NAER EETHRER ZMEREE ERER% TEEBRLEHY
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food
FEEEAEERER AR Y wE - BRELAA AR260,000,0007 flavours & fragrances in the
PRC

LERHEERRER 78

Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co, Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
FEEEENRBBR Rap 2200 wE - BRELAA AR10,000,0007 faw material
RERHEERRH &
Smart Sino International Investment Holdings PRC, Limited liability company ~ USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
(China) Co,, Ltd RE ARELLH 5 7155,640,000 RERK  HE
ZRERKEZR (PE) FRATC LD
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology Development PRC, Limited liability company ~ HKD10,000,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
(o, Ltd wE - BRELAR 710,000,007 RARR  hE
FEERRBERER AR
Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development,
Co, Ltd. HE ROHBRAE AE30,000,0007T distribution and retail of
EFRHE BRI R BRA A X0 fragrances in the PRC

W% & HERTERA
tIER FE

Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMBG6,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of
B TENERERAR HE - BREFAT A& 6,000,000 aromatic raw materials in
the PRC

TERAERRE THE

Yingtan Huabao Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. ~ PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
EEEERRERATM HE - BREFAR AR H96,500,0007C flavours & fragrances in the
PRC

TERHEER TH

Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB35,000,000 - 94.14  Production and sale of flavours
KMLEEHERAR wE - BRELAR AR 35,000,000 & fragrances in the PRC
RERHEETH 1E
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

Financial Statements

TENBLARAZHE (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34.
(CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered
Name kind of legal entity capital
ERR LB R BRATEER/
NAER EETHRER ZMEREE

Ownership
interest Principal activities and
held by the Group % place of operation
AEEREN
ERER% IEXBRSEHY
Direct Indirect
E# 3

Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance Co., Ltd.  PRC, Limited liability company ~ USD2,550,000
EHALERARAT PE - BREMAT F712,550,000

Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. (Guangdong) PRC, Limited liability company ~ RMB11,000,000
ERAZREHRARLA REARELLH ARE11,000,0007T

(a) Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December
2020 is RMB250,472,000 (2019: RMB261,057,000),
of which RMB245,651,000 (2019: RMB252,820,000)
is from Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd and
its subsidiaries (“Huabao Flavours Group”). The
non-controlling interests in other subsidiaries are not
material.

- 60 Production and sale of tobacco
flavours & fragrances in the
PRC
FEREEERER &

- 100 Manufacturing & sales of food
flavours & fragrances in the
PRC
RERHERRER ¢

(a) EARFEFMUEERS

#H E2020F12A31B ILFE - 3
THIEESEEEEREREA
AR #250,472,0007T (20194
AR #261,057,0007T) @ A%k H
EEERBRODERARRENB
rEl ([ZERHER]) 2 IEEH
MERELHEARZBRBAEARE
245,651,0007T (2019%F : AR
252,820,0007T) ° P EH AT B A A
RIFEIERIMERY TEKX -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

e BHRRME

(B BAIERES -
34. TEMBA R ZFE (B)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for group of subsidiaries that have non-controlling

interests that are material to the Group:

Summarised consolidated statement of financial

position of Huabao Flavours Group

(a) EARFEFMEES (F)

A 2B AARETTIIR)

AT #E I ANE BB E R IFES T
RENMBEARNYKEERRBE

EEROEEZGSUBRR R

3

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2020 2019*
2020%F 20194+

Current mE
Assets BE 6,612,514 6,660,421
Liabilities afE (476,740) (503,496)
Total current net assets REFEEHLTE 6,135,774 6,156,925
Non-current IERED
Assets BE 1,734,214 1,760,974
Liabilities =L (20,140) (39,261)
Total non-current net assets FARBFEERT 1,714,074 1,721,713
Net assets EEFH 7,849,848 7,878,638
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. TEMB AR ZFHE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) EARFEEHIMRER (E)
Summarised consolidated income statement and EEROEBAZGARBEREES
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2HEHRERBE

of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2020 2019*
20205 20194 *
Revenue EER 2,094,460 2,185,339
Profit before income tax R F Al &2 7 1,388,767 1,441,880
Income tax expense &R (188,839) (190,783)
Profit for the year pANCS gl 1,199,928 1,251,097
Other comprehensive income H 2wk (34,075) 9,852
Total comprehensive income 2 SEEE 1,165,853 1,260,949
Total comprehensive income allocated to % Bt T IE 42 41l 14 #E 25 19
non-controlling interests FHEKEREE 245,651 252,820
Dividends paid to non-controlling A) FE 128 ) M 4 2 IR AT 2 AR R
interests 14,838 14,920
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. FEMB LR 2FE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) EARFEEHIMRER (E)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows EFERONEEZSCESRERPE

of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A318LEE
2020 2019*
20205 2019%F*
Cash flows from operating activities RETHZRERE
Cash generated from operations EEELE RS 1,306,178 1,500,080
Income tax paid B P iE B (217,583) (202,538)
Net cash generated from operating CEEHELA RS FE
activities 1,088,595 1,297,542
Net cash generated from/(used in) REETHEE,/ (FTA)Z
investing activities e FHE 1,553,939 (1,342,744)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEHMB RS FE (1,217,118) (2,476,307)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBeEEYEM
cash equivalents (D) 38 1,425,416 (2,521,509)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FOzEeRREEED
beginning of the year 1,994,785 4,509,806
Effects of currency translation on cash and E¥EHEHWR G RIS S
cash equivalents BUHNTE (24,673) 6,488
Cash and cash equivalents attheend @RERZBEESRRESEEY
of the year 3,395,528 1,994,785
* The consolidated financial information of Huabao * EERMHEBREZE2019F12A31H
Flavours Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 IFFENEHEBERBEEY - R
was restated resulted from certain business combinations EETHRIZEH THEBRASHR
under common control took place in the year ended 31 202012 B31H I EE#EAE -

December 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

e B RRME

(B BAIERES -
35. ADFAMMBRRERHEHEEE

A 2B AARETTIIR)

Statement of financial position of the Company P NUNETE: O 3 O
As at 31 December
R12A318
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIEB AR ZIRE 1,047,913 1,115,322
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables ‘é’%&ﬁ@fﬂﬁlm 1,715 4,307
Amounts due from subsidiaries J7E U B B A 5,677,138 6,104,237
Cash and cash equivalents Iﬁ{ﬁ&iﬁ(ﬁ%{%% 384,434 408,182
6,063,287 6,516,726
Total assets WEE 7,111,200 7,632,048
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to  A2QA R ERFHE AEML
the Company’s equity holders R E
Share capital & s 318,636 318,636
Reserves fi 1% (a) 480,489 752,997
Retained earnings RE & 3,600,049 3,386,160
Total equity RS 4,399,174 4,457,793
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities QFﬁib =L
Borrowings B3 1,692,855 2,310,474
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings =& 488,151 519,552
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERMT B AT 526,876 337,000
Trade and other payables fﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁfﬁrﬂﬁ 4,144 7,229
1,019,171 863,781
Total liabilities e E 2,712,026 3,174,255
Total equity and liabilities REZREE 7,111,200 7,632,048

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2021 and

was signed on its behalf.

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu

KMELZ L
Chairlady

e

KRB Z AR RKE HR2021F3H19
HRHEZRILETERE

Mr. Xia Liqun
ERBEE

Director

EF

Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 B EA AR AR 2020 Annual Report 3

235



236

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

35. ARBAWMBRRRRFEEED

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Reserve movements of the Company (a) D EfHEES
Capital  Share-based Currency
Contributed ~ Treasury Share  Capital redemption compensation Other Translation
surplus  shares premium  reserve reserve reserve  reserve  reserve Total
B
EXEE RERY ERaE
B8EBR EERH ROEE HXERE ffe HeRt HtRE fife @it
At 1 January 2019 #2019181A 296,853 (11) 429,861 2,411 4,760 - 39,120 (120,500) 652,494
Cancellation of repurchased 7 85 EIEE 2 fR {7
shares - 11 - - - - - - i
Share-based payment- value 13 AEREH T4
of consultancy service -BEREER - - - - - 907 - - 907
Currency translation EHESZER
differences - - - - - - 99,585 99,585
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12831A 296,853 - 429861 2,411 4,760 907 39,120 (20,915 752,997
At 1 January 2020 202051818 296,853 - m9s61 2411 4,760 97 39120 (20915 752997
Share-based payment- value 13 AEREH {4
of consultancy service -BRREER - - - - - 98 - - 98
Share-based payment share 17 AZEHER S ff
options lapsed -BRuERE - - = = = (1,005) 1,005 = =
Currency translation ERERER
differences - - - - - - - (272,606) (272,606)
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12831R 296,853 - 429,861 2411 4,760 - 40125  (293,521) 480,489
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director and chief executive of

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

36.

EENAENER
(a) EERTHREAZME

BEERITHRAHNE E20205F

the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019128310 I EE 24
2019 are set out below: [N
Year ended 31 December 2020 Year ended 31 December 2019
2020512831 L5 E 2019128318 L EE
Employer's Employer's
contribution  Share- contribution
topension  based  Other topension  Other
Name of directors Note  Fees Salaries Bonus scheme benefits benefits Total Fees Salaries  Bonus scheme  benefits Total
MR B
EXsEk HRER EFRBHR
Espz E Be  HE R4 HEER  2BA HtEd By We  HE L HEER EnEd st
Executive directors: H7EE:
Ms. Chu Lam Yiu FERT (i) 17,786 - 17,786 = = 737 36309 17,59 - - - 1,861 19,456
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok & #E % & - 1,601 - 1,083 - - 2,684 - 2,023 264 632 - 2919
Mr. Xia Liqun BREEE - 6225 3557 16 156 - 9954 - 5278 3519 16 - 8813
Mr. Lam Ka Yu WEFEE 3,735 - - - - - 3735 3079 - - - - 3,079
Mr. Xiong Qing B (i - - - - - - - - 807 - 16 - 823
Independentnon-  BUFHTES:
executive directors:
Dr. Ding Ningning BEFET (i) = = = = = = = 51 - - - - 51
Mr. Lee Luk Shiu FHRAEE 213 - - - - - 23 20 - - - - 21
Ms. Ma Yunyan MERT L 213 - - - - = 213 21 - - - - 21
Mr. Wy Chieung  EIEE R4 213 - - - - - 13 2N - - - - 211
Mr.YAN Jonathan Jun  Jonathan Jun Yan
A (iv) 213 - - - - - M3 13 - - - - 132
22373 7826 21,343 1,099 156 737 53534 21490 8108 3,783 664 1,861 35,906

(i) Ms. Chu Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer
of the Company.

(i) Mr. Xiong Qing resigned on 25 May 2019.

(iii)  Dr. Ding Ningning resigned on 28 March 2019.

(iv)  Mr. YAN Jonathan Jun was appointed on 17 May
2019.

(i) AMBELLIHREAEENHE

FHITE °

I

(i) A

m

o

BN S A FA2019F5 A25H iR

(i) TE=FELM2019%F3A28H

RAE -

(iv) Jonathan Jun YAN%E4 72019

FSA1V7THEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

No directors waived any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
a compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the Company
by a defined benefit pension plan operated by the
Group in respect of the director’s services as a director
of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, no payments to the directors of the Company
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Company did not provide any consideration to any third
party for making available director’s services.
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e BHRRME

(Br=HBEAEIN -

A 2B AARETTIIR)

36. EEWNEMER (F)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EERTHAIME (8)

#H £20204F K20194F12 8318 1t
FE BEEWNETAEHE -

A £20204F %2019 12A318 1k
FE AEENEREEL NS
EB DA £ B /Y 528 X 1F A& BE B
HE -

EERKER

#H 220204 K2019F12A318 1t
FE - AEEVEMESIORE
ERBARR REFRARESRMEAR
T A& B S E R T e R IRET
gl mE T HRIKEF o

EERBERN

H E20204% M2019F12831H 1b
FE - AFEYERMESEIAE
AT 4R F B 2 BT (& -

RAE=ZAFXNREEZTRE 2R
e

#H £20204% K2019F12A318 1k
FE AEETERIBHEZRE
MmmE = HiRENHEE -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 33, during the year ended
31 December 2020 and 2019, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

e B RRME

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

36. EEWNEMER (F)

() AMNES BEFZR4%E

(f)

REBERAZBAZER £
EXRREMXRGZ2EHR

2 220204 K2019F12A31H 1t
FE -AEBVTERNES  XZF
BEEEHMAEAEEBRZESNG
BIREIEHERMEER -

EERRE  ZHISHZEK
R

Br T unPRE33ATIHEE SN + B =2020
FK2019F12A831BIEFE - K
ARRAWERTEM S RAER 2%
BMARRIZEEEERMEEER
FHREEARZZ2EERS T
HER -
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Five Year Financial Summary hFERKRE

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN  ME2EHUARETILIIR)
RESULTS E4
Nine Months
Year ended Year ended ended 31 Year ended  Year ended
31 March 31 March December 31 December 31 December
2017 2018 2018 2019 2020
HE2017F  #HZE2018F #HZE2018F #HZE2019F HZFE2020%F
3A31H 3A31H 12A31H 12A31H 128318
HFE HFE 1ENE A HFE IEEE
Revenue EE 3,482,894 3,628,116 3,058,707 4,241,040 3,854,058
Gross Profit E 2,270,823 2,463,927 1,949,805 2,745,410 2,442,407
Profit before income tax B B BT & 1,409,112 1,859,553 1,374,957 1,745,817 948,821
Income tax expenses FTiS %t (294,573) (349,687) (320,805) (372,076) (280,382)
Profit for the year RE[E B A 1,114,539 1,396,120 1,190,991 1,373,741 668,439
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
March March December December December
2017 2018 2018 2019 2020
20174 20184 20184 M20194F 7R2020%F
3A31H 3A31H 12A31H 12A31H 128318
Total assets 48 E 11,497,751 14,300,910 19,175,430 17,963,635 17,678,054
Total liabilities e g (890,839)  (1,182,573)  (5,430,012)  (4,364,162)  (3,983,805)
Net assets FEE 10,606,912 13,118,337 13,745,418 13,599,473 13,694,249
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Five Year Financial Summary

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EFUERE

(Br=BEAEIN  AESBHUAARETTIIR)

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION H 1 B 78 BB
As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
March March December December December
2017 2018 2018 2019 2020
20174 720184 20184 720194 20205
3A31H 3H318 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H
Earnings per share, basic BRER  EX
(RMB cents) (ARHEED) 34.29 40.66 32.75 35.78 13.46
Earnings per share, diluted SREF  #E
(RMB cents) (ANRED) 34.29 40.66 32.75 35.78 13.46
Aggregated dividend per share B2 F 25tk
(HKD cents) £ OB 220 253 18.8 18.8 9.0
Aggregated special dividend BR2ERFAE
per share (HKD cents) B B (L) - 5.7 18.9 - 6.0
Financial year-end share price MRFEELEE
(HKD) & E (B7T) 4.54 5.20 3.33 2.86 10.68
EBIT ratio EBITX 38.5% 47.7% 42.1% 40.8% 23.4%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAZR 44.7% 52.4% 46.9% 47.0% 43.4%
ROE ROE 11.6% 12.0% 8.8% 9.4% 3.5%
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Glossary

AGM

Better World
Board

Broad Far

Broad Far Group

Bye-laws
CEO
CG Code

CGU

Chemactive

China, Mainland or
PRC

Company or Huabao

Director(s)

Executive Director(s)

FCCA

FCIS
FCPA

FCPA (Aust.)
FCS

Group or Huabao
Group

Guangdong Jiahao

Guangdong Jinke

Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye
Group

Guangdong Tobacco

Guangdong Tobacco

Company
Guangdong Zhaoging

242

Annual general meeting

Better World Naturals Co., Ltd

The board of directors of the Company

Broad Far Limited

Broad Far and its subsidiaries and related
companies

Bye-laws of the Company

Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

Cash-generating unit

Chemactive Investments Limited

The People’s Republic of China

Huabao International Holdings Limited

The director(s) of the Company

Executive director(s) of the Company

Fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants

Fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute

Fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

Fellow member of CPA Australia Ltd.

Fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute

of Chartered Secretaries
the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

China Tobacco Guangdong Industrial Co.,
Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies

Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd (Guangdong)
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Glossary

HKD

HKICPA

Hong Kong or HKSAR

HNB

Hong Kong Stock

Exchange

Hongta Tobacco
Hongta Tobacco Group

Huabao Flavours

Huabao Flavours

Company

Huabao Kongque

INEDs

Interim Period
Jiahao

Jiahao Foodstuff

Jiangxi Xianghai

Listing Rules

Model Code

Owada Flavours
Pandemic

Reporting Period

R&D
RMB
RTL

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China

Heat-not-burn

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Hongta Tobacco (Group) Co., Ltd.

Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd., a
joint stock limited company established
in the PRC with limited liability and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company

Huabao Flavours and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd.

Independent Non-executive Director(s) of
the Company

For the six months ended 30 June 2020

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and its subsidiaries

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co.,
Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.

Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia pandemic

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves

AR
ot
HKICPA
Bt
BT 1
i
TiEE

A EEEE

EERMD

B IEAT
5=
A

EEEN

= = A 0O
82X R On

TEE

EmRA

BT

REFEERE

BB/ #
RENE

W&

it

AR

HEEE

B BEEEEY
BEGFMAE

hEARKXMBEFBRFRIITH
[

AN R BE

FEBMARXHAARRA

AEEE (RE)BARETAR

AUEIEE R E M8~ ) M R B
®E

EFERBRMHBR LA R
BRZHRNDABERRR @ AR
RAEEEENERENE

NG

FERMDREME QR MR
fSE 3
LBEEHERRERAT

KRB ZBUIFATES

H 220206 A30H 1E/5E A

EERMEARATLENBA
)

EXREmARAT

IATEGEMEEBRAA

Bt X T EIRFE A LR A

LR AT 8+ PRI A £ T

TTA%% {Tﬂu%%%ﬂq*T
RS HAl

REZERR (BEMN)ARAF
80 T AR B AR B

HE2020F12A31BILZ2FE
g KR

AR RBEEEEHE
BEEE
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Glossary

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or ordinary
share(s)

Shenzhen Stock
Exchange

STMA

u.s.

usbh

Weizhijia
Weizhijia Group
Xiamen Amber

Yongzhou Shanxiang
Yunnan Hehe

Yunnan Tianhong

Yunnan Xinyun

The Maximum number of Shares in respect
of which share options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKDO0.10 each in the
capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration

United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co., Ltd.

Weizhijia and its subsidiaries

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology Co.,
Ltd.

Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tianhong Flavor & Fragrance Co.,
Ltd.

Yunnan Xinyun Technology Development
Co., Ltd
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